The Development of Preservation Methods for Mercury and its Species in Water Samples

David Christopher Peter King

Animal, Rural, and Environmental Sciences School

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Nottingham Trent University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

This research project was completed in collaboration with the British Geological Survey University Funding Initiative and the British Geological Survey, Keyworth

May 2024

Copyright Statement

The copyright in this work is held by the author. You may copy up to 5% of this work for private study, or personal, non-commercial research. Any re-use of the information contained within this document should be fully referenced, quoting the author, title, university, degree level and pagination. Queries or requests for any other use, or if a more substantial copy is required, should be directed to the author.

The work presented in this thesis has not been submitted for a comparable academic award.

Abstract

Some of the most toxic compounds in the environment are mercury (Hg) and its species. Monitoring the pollution of Hg is of paramount performance in all spheres of the environment, and in particular in vulnerable areas such as artisanal and small-scale gold mines (ASGM). These areas produce the majority of anthropogenic Hg emissions, yet currently, recommended sampling and preservation methodologies in the scientific literature are not appropriate for the determination of Hg and its species from water sources in these and other such challenging environments. These waters are fully integrated into the local communities, providing drinking water, domestic, agricultural, aquacultural and industrial uses, among others.

In water samples, Hg species are known to be highly unstable, with total loss of Hg within a few days if unpreserved. Recommended procedures for preserving Hg in water samples involve the acidification of waters, which can pose significant risk to field workers in uncontrolled environments. Therefore, it is recommended to collect at least 500 mL of water in glass or PTFE containers, which are fragile and expensive, respectively, and require immediate shipment of samples to a laboratory for analysis. This is inadequate for use in challenging environments, such as remote locations or ASGM sites, due to the difficulty in sample transport, particularly when collecting multiple samples for total Hg and different Hg species, as well as the lack of accessible laboratories with appropriate facilities to preserve and analyse Hg, often found in environmental and polluted waters at $\mu g L^{-1}$ to ng L^{-1} ranges.

Therefore, the aim of this thesis was to develop a sampling method for Hg and its species in water samples, that can preserve Hg speciation for an adequate time from field-to-laboratory and is applicable to supporting the study of ASGM activities and their impact on environmental and human health.

To achieve this, a literature survey of Hg preservation methods and solid-phase extraction (SPE) methods was conducted and thus a dithizone-functionalised SPE methodology was developed as a sampling technique for the preservation of Hg for up to 4-weeks from waters associated with ASGM activities. This timescale was chosen as a practical time for transport of samples from field to laboratory, including where international transportation is required. Total Hg concentrations are used for guideline concentrations and therefore it is vital to ensure the method can reliably produce representative data from the field, and so the functionalised cartridge demonstrated $85 \pm 10\%$ recovery of total Hg from water samples after 4-weeks of storage. The method was also applied in ASGM sites to demonstrate the robustness

of the method in an appropriate environment, showing total Hg concentrations below guideline limits (6 μ g L⁻¹ in drinking water and 0.77 μ g L⁻¹ in environmental waters), between 0.01 to 0.35 μ g L⁻¹ Hg across river, mineshaft, and spring water, and ore washing ponds.

The functionalised cartridge was further assessed for Hg species sampling and preservation (inorganic mercury, Hg²⁺, and methylmercury, MeHg) from waters associated with ASGM activities. The functionalised cartridge showed recovery of 115 \pm 8% (4°C, absence of light) and 109 \pm 13% % (16°C, absence of light) MeHg and 100 \pm 14% % (4°C, absence of light) and 94 \pm 12% % (16°C, absence of light) Hg²⁺ over 4 weeks of storage.

The cartridges were then used in ASGM sites in western Kenya alongside collection of river sediment samples, to obtain Hg speciation data and assess the relationship between waters and sediments, in the context of human health exposure. All sampled water sources provided no detectable MeHg and 0.06 to 0.67 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺, below environmental guideline limits (0.77 μ g L⁻¹ Hg). Drinking water sources showed Hg²⁺ concentrations making up approximately 30% of the total weekly Hg intake. At the same drinking water sources, sediments measured up to 2 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg and 64.8 μ g kg⁻¹ MeHg, showing contamination from the mining activities and significant methylation of the Hg species. Total Hg concentrations in sediments were between 0.09 to 1.72 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg, with the most elevated concentrations from sampling points near to active alluvial work and ponds previously used for alluvial activities. The case study highlighted relationships between sediment and river water Hg²⁺ and MeHg concentrations, where areas of stagnation show greater concentrations of both Hg species.

The results of this work contribute to the knowledge of Hg sampling and preservation, demonstrating the application of SPE as an in-field sampling and preservation method for Hg and its species. The project outcome will enable the robust monitoring of Hg species and consequences of their exposure to environment and human health, enabling a more holistic approach to environmental Hg pollution studies. Thus, this can pave the way for both local communities and policymakers to be better informed of the impact from Hg pollution originating from ASGM activities, building the case to empower change to Hg-free alternatives.

List of Publications

King, D.C.P., Watts, M.J., Hamilton, E.M., Mortimer, R.J.G., Kilgour, D.P.A., Di Bonito, M., 2023, The present and potential future of aqueous mercury preservation: a review, *Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts.* https://doi.org/10.1039/D2EM00409G

King, D.C.P., Watts, M.J., Hamilton, E.M., Mortimer, R.J.G., Coffey, M., Osano, O., Ondayo, M.A., Di Bonito, M., 2024, Field method for preservation of total mercury in waters, including those associated with artisanal scale gold mining, *Anal. Methods*, https://doi.org/10.1039/D3AY02216A

King, D.C.P., Watts, M.J., Hamilton, E.M., Mortimer, R.J.G., Coffey, M., Osano, O., Di Bonito, M., (*In-Print*), Mercury speciation of environmental samples associated with artisanal small-scale gold mines using a novel solid-phase extraction approach to sample preservation, *Environ. Geochem. Health.*

Ondayo, M.A., Watts, M.J., Mitchell, C.J., King, D.C.P., 2023, Review: Artisanal Gold Mining in Africa—Environmental Pollution and Human Health Implications. *Expo Health*, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12403-023-00611-7

List of Conference Attendance

King, D.C.P., Watts, M.J., Hamilton, E.M., Mortimer, R.J.G., Kilgour, D.P.A., Di Bonito, M., (2022), 'The Preservation of Total Dissolved Mercury from Water Samples using Functionalised C18 Solid-Phase Extraction' [Poster], Biennial National Atomic Spectrommetry Symposium 2022, Manchester, UK, June 28th – June 29th.

King, D.C.P., Hamilton, E.M., Di Bonito, M., Kilgour, D.P.A., Mortimer, R.J.G., Watts, M.J., (2022), 'The Development of a Field-Based Preservation Method for Total Mercury in Water Samples using Solid-Phase Extraction' [Oral presentation], Society for Environmental Geochemistry and Health 2022, Eldoret, Kenya, October 10th – October 14th.

King, D.C.P., Watts, M.J., Hamilton, E.M., Coffey, M., Di Bonito, M., (2023), 'A novel, robust field-sampling method for preserving dissolved mercury species associated with waters related to artisanal gold mining' [Oral presentation], Society for Environmental Geochemistry and Health 2023, Athens, Greece, July 2nd – July 6th.

List of Academic Awards and Grants

Phil Riby Award for Early Career Researchers, 2022, Biennial National Atomic Spectrommetry Symposium 2022, Manchester, UK, June 28th – June 29th.

SEGH 2nd Best Oral Presentation, Society for Environmental Geochemistry and Health 2022, Eldoret, Kenya, October 10th – October 14th.

RSC Researcher Development Grant (D22-4745714188), September 2022, Royal Society of Chemistry, UK.

Acknowledgements

How do you sum up all the support for three and a half years of work, culminating in one of the biggest achievements of your life? I've thought about this long and hard, and words cannot truly express how everyone in my life has paved this path for me, but I'll try my best.

I'd like to thank my supervisory team for providing much support throughout my time. Dr Michael Watts for giving me the opportunity to do this project with BGS, as well as a lot of constructive feedback to better my writing. Dr Marcello Di Bonito for facilitating this project with NTU and endless support with the Doctoral School. Professor Rob Mortimer for providing many comments and feedback on my work, despite having such a busy schedule; many thanks to Mandy Towell for helping organise meetings with Rob. Dr Elliott Hamilton for supporting my experimental work and always willing to help when things stopped working. Dr David Kilgour for support in the first 2 years of the project and providing alternative views to many aspects of the project. Dr Mike Coffey for stepping in from the third year and giving me opportunities at SST for demonstrating and teaching labs. Your help has been invaluable to completing this work. Many thanks to Nottingham Trent University and the British Geological Survey for providing funding, facilities, and expertise, without which this project would never have come to fruition. Also, to the University of Eldoret and Professor Osano, Job and Maureene for your invaluable help in the field.

To my colleagues in the Inorganic Geochemistry team at BGS, your friendship and support has been vital for both this project and myself. To Sophia, Andrea, and Amanda, a cup of tea, a slice of cake and a quick chat made all of this possible. To Andy, the occasional walk and the constant support made all the difference. To all the BGS placement students, this scheme paved the way for my future career, and I hope it does the same for you.

To all my friends who have supported me through the years, this wouldn't have been possible without you. Megan, Sam, Ethan, Will, Tom, Georgie, and everyone else, you've kept me grounded and sane through some of the most challenging times and I am eternally grateful.

To my family, your love and support has ensured my motivation to see this through. To Ro and Nick, the occasional dinner and chat have supported my wellbeing greatly. And lastly, Mum, Dad, Jono, and Rollie, I cannot thank you enough for supporting me not just in my PhD, but for every moment of my life. I cannot thank you enough.

Table of Contents

Copyright Statement	ii
Abstract	iii
List of Publications	v
List of Conference Attendance	v
List of Academic Awards and Grants	v
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Abbreviations	x
List of Figures	xiv
List of Tables	xvii
Chapter 1 – Mercury, environmental and human exposure, and toxicity.	1
1.1. Mercury	1
 1.2. Environmental exposure and toxicity	1122235566688910
1.7 References	12
Chapter 2 – Present and Potential Future of Aqueous Mercury Preservati Review	on; A 17
2A. Abstract	
 2.1. Introduction 2.1.1. Background (Mercury in the environment) 2.1.2. Preservation and storage: importance and challenges 2.1.3. Scope of the Review and Methodology 	18 182021
2.2. Current trends for preservation and solid-phase extraction methods	
2.2.1. Acidification	
2.2.3. Solid-phase extraction	23

2.2.3.1. Thiol- functionalised resins	24
2.2.3.2. Commercially available chelating resins	25
2.2.3.3. Cationic exchange resins	26
2.2.3.4. Polyaniline	27
2.2.3.5. Magnetic SPE	27
2.2.3.6. Gold-based SPE	28
2.2.4. Critical review of sample preservation and solid-phase extraction	
2.3. Future perspectives	
2.3.1. The future of Hg field analysis	
2.3.2. Solid-phase extraction as a sampling and preservation method	
2.5. Conclusion	
2.6 References	
Chapter 3 – Field method for preservation of total mercury in water	s, including
those associated with Artisanal Scale Gold Mining	46
2A Abstract	47
SA. ADSTRACT	
3.1. Introduction	
3.1.1. Mercury (Hg) as a pollutant	47
3.1.2. Sampling methods and their challenges	49
3.1.3. Considerations for a field-method	50
3.1.4. Aim and Objectives	
3.2. Method	
3.2.1. Quality control	53
3.2.2. Quantity of dithizone immobilised onto the cartridge	53
3.2.3. Sample flow rate and sorbent stability	54
3.2.4. Recovery of immobilised Hg over time	54
3.2.5. Sampling sites	54
3.2.5.1 River Trent	
3.2.5.2 ASGM mines	55
3.3. Results and Discussion	56
3.3.1 Dithizone load quantity	57
3.3.2 Sample flow rate and sorbent stability	58
3.3.3 Four-week preservation	58
3.3.4 Natural water samples water	60
3.3.4.1 River Trent, Nottingham, UK	
3.3.4.2 ASGM sites in Kakamega and Vihiga counties, Kenya	
3.4. Conclusion	64
3.5 References	64
Chapter 4 – Mercury speciation of environmental samples associate	d with
artisanal small-scale gold mines using a novel solid-phase extraction	າ approach to
sample collection and preservation	69
4A. Abstract	71
4.1 Introduction	71
4.2 Methodology	75
A 2 1 Cartridge Eulectionalisation	
4.2.1. Calilluge Functionalisation	

4.2.2. HPLC-ICP-MS	75
4.2.3. Quality control	76
4.2.4. Matrix conditions	77
4.2.5. 4-week preservation	77
4.2.6. Case study of artisanal gold mines, Kenya	77
4.2.7. Water analysis for Hg species	79
4.2.8. Total Hg analysis in sediment samples	79
4.2.9. Isotope dilution and microwave extraction in sediment samples	79
4.2.9.1. Reverse isotope dilution	
4.2.9.2. Microwave assisted extraction and HPLC-ICP-MS analysis	
4.2.10. Characterisation of water and sediment for multi-elemental analysis	81
4.3. Results and Discussion	
4.3.1. Matrix conditions	
4.3.2. 4-week preservation	
4.3.3. Hg speciation in ASGM waters	
4.3.4. Total Hg and MeHg in ASGM Sediments	
4.4. Conclusion	07
4.4. Conclusion	
4.5. References	93
Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion	
Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion 5.1. Overview	
Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion 5.1. Overview 5.2. Review of literature on Hg preservation and SPE	96 96 97
 Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion 5.1. Overview 5.2. Review of literature on Hg preservation and SPE 5.3. Total Hg preservation 	96 96 97 98
 Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion 5.1. Overview 5.2. Review of literature on Hg preservation and SPE 5.3. Total Hg preservation 5.4. Hg species preservation 	
Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion 5.1. Overview 5.2. Review of literature on Hg preservation and SPE 5.3. Total Hg preservation 5.4. Hg species preservation 5.5. A case study of ASGM sites	
 Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion 5.1. Overview 5.2. Review of literature on Hg preservation and SPE 5.3. Total Hg preservation 5.4. Hg species preservation 5.5. A case study of ASGM sites 5.6. Summary and impact 	
 Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion 5.1. Overview 5.2. Review of literature on Hg preservation and SPE 5.3. Total Hg preservation 5.4. Hg species preservation 5.5. A case study of ASGM sites 5.6. Summary and impact 5.7. Future developments 	
 Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion 5.1. Overview 5.2. Review of literature on Hg preservation and SPE 5.3. Total Hg preservation 5.4. Hg species preservation 5.5. A case study of ASGM sites 5.6. Summary and impact 5.7. Future developments 5.8 References 	
Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion 5.1. Overview 5.2. Review of literature on Hg preservation and SPE 5.3. Total Hg preservation 5.4. Hg species preservation 5.5. A case study of ASGM sites 5.6. Summary and impact 5.7. Future developments 5.8 References Appendices	
Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion 5.1. Overview 5.2. Review of literature on Hg preservation and SPE 5.3. Total Hg preservation 5.4. Hg species preservation 5.5. A case study of ASGM sites 5.6. Summary and impact 5.7. Future developments 5.8 References Appendices Appendix 1	
Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion 5.1. Overview 5.2. Review of literature on Hg preservation and SPE 5.3. Total Hg preservation 5.4. Hg species preservation 5.5. A case study of ASGM sites 5.6. Summary and impact 5.7. Future developments 5.8 References Appendices Appendix 1 Appendix 2	
Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion 5.1. Overview 5.2. Review of literature on Hg preservation and SPE 5.3. Total Hg preservation 5.4. Hg species preservation 5.5. A case study of ASGM sites 5.6. Summary and impact 5.7. Future developments 5.8 References Appendices Appendix 1 Appendix 2 Appendix 3	

List of Abbreviations

Symbol	Meaning
AAS	Atomic absorption spectroscopy
Al ³⁺	Aluminium (II) ion
AMA	Advanced mercury analyser
As	Arsenic
As	Abundance of the reference isotope in the spike solution
As(III)	Arsenic (III) oxidation state
As(IV)	Arsenic (IV) oxidation state
ASGM	Artisanal and small-scale gold mining
Au	Gold
AuNP	Gold nanoparticles
A _x	Abundance of the reference isotope in the sample
Å	Ångstrom
BGS	British Geological Survey
Bs	Abundance of the spike isotope in the spike solution
B _x	Abundance of the spike isotope in the sample
C18	Octadecyl bonded silica gel
Ca ²⁺	Calcium ion
Cd	Cadmium
Cd ²⁺	Cadmium (II) ion
CI-	Chloride ion
cm	centimeter
Cs	Concentration of methylmercury in spike solution
Cu ²⁺	Copper (II) ion
CV	Cold vapour
Cx	Concentration of methylmercury in sample
DGT	Diffusive gradient thin-film
DI water	Deionised water
°C	Degrees Celcius
EtHg⁺	Ethylmercury ion
FAAS	Flame atomic absorption spectroscopy
Fe	Iron
Fe ²⁺	Iron (II) ion
Fe ³⁺	Iron (III) ion
GBP	Great British Pound sterling
h	hours
H⁺	Hydrogen ion or Proton
H_2SO_4	Sulphuric acid
HA	Humic acid
HCI	Hydrochloric acid
HCIO ₄	Perchloric acid
HDPE	High density polyethylene
HF	Hydrofluoric acid
Hg	Mercury

Hg(OH) ₂	Mercuric hydroxide
Hg(OH) ₂ ²⁺	Mercuric hydroxide ion
Hg _(p)	Particulate bound mercury
Hg(SH) ₂	Dithiomercury
Hg(SH)S⁻	Mercury thiol-compounds
Hg⁰	Elemental mercury
Hg ²⁺	Mercuric mercury
Hg_{2}^{2+}	mercurous mercury
$Hg_3S_2CI_2$	Corderoite
HgCl₂	Chloromercury
HgCl₃⁻	Trichloromercury
HgCl ₄ ²⁻	Tetrachloromercury
Hg-N	Mercury-nitrogen bond
HgS	Cinnabar and mercury-sulphur minerals
Hg-S	Mercury-sulphur bond
HgSb ₄ S ₈	Livingstonite
HgSH⁺	Thiomercury ion
HNO3	Nitric acid
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
HPLC-ICP-MS	High performance liquid chromatography - inductively coupled
	plasma - mass spectrommetry
i.d.	Internal diameter of column
ICP-MS	Inductively coupled plasma - mass spectrometry
ID-ME	Isotope dilution - microwave extraction
kg	kilogram
km	kilometer
L	Litre
LC	Liquid chromatography
LC-AFS	Liquid chromatorgraphy - atomic fluorescence spectroscopy
LC-ICP-MC	Liquid chromatography - inductively coupled plasma - mass
1010	spectrometry
	Lethal Dose (10)
	Dimethylmercym/
MeLL¢	Dimethylmercury Methylmercury
Mellet	Methylmercury
mg	
mg kg	Milligram per Kilogram
mg L '	Milligram per litre
Mg²⁺	
min	
mL	
	IVIIIIIIITE per minute
mM .	
mmol	Millimoles

mol	Moles
mol L ⁻¹	Moles per litre
ms	Milliseconds
Ms	Relative atomic mass of spike solution
M _x	Relative atomic mass of sample
μg	Microgram
µg kg⁻¹	Microgram per kilogram
µg L⁻¹	Microgram per litre
μL	Microlitre
μm	Micrometer
µS cm⁻¹	Microsiemens per centimeter
n	Number of replicates/samples
N.d	Not determined
Na	Sodium
Na+	Sodium ion
NaCl	Sodium chloride
ng	Nanogram
ng L ⁻¹	Nanogram per litre
Ni	Nickel
nm	Nanometer
NO ₃ ⁺	Nitrate ion
NRCC	National Radiological Centre of Canada
NTU	Nottingham Trent University
PANi	Polyaniline
Pb	Lead
PE	Polyethylene
PET	Polyethylene terephthalate
pg	Picogram
pg L ⁻¹	Picogram per litre
PhHg	Phenylmercury
PP	Polypropylene
PTFE	Polytetrafluoroethylene
PVA	Polyvinylacetate
PVC	Polyvinylchloride
R	Ratio of reference isotope to spike isotope in the spiked
_	sample
S	Sulphur
S	seconds
Sn	Tin
SO ₄ ²⁻	Sulphate ion
SPE	Solid-phase extraction
3σ	3 times the standard deviation
Total Alk	Total alkalinity
US EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
USD	United States Dollar
USGS	United States Geological Survey

V	Vanadium
V(IV)	Vanadium (IV) oxidation state
V(V)	Vanadium (V) oxidation state
v/v	Volume per volume
w/v	Weight per volume
WHO	World Health Organisation
Ws	Mass of spike solution
W _x	Mass of sample
Zn	Zinc
Zn ²⁺	Zinc (II) ion
β-activity	Beta particle activity

List of Figures

Caption	Page
Figure 1.1. Anthropogenic emission sources, as reported by the UNEP (2018)	3
Figure 2.1. Biogeochemical cycle of mercury in the environment. Species descripted: Elemental mercury, Hg ⁰ ; inorganic mercury, Hg ²⁺ ; methylmercury, MeHg; particulate bound mercury, Hg _(p) ; mercury sulfide, HgS (Adapted from Kim and Zoh (2012))	19
Figure 2.2. The sampling and preservation process, with key challenges highlighted	30
Figure 3.1. Main considerations of an SPE-based field sampling method, including quantity of functionalising agent applied, stability of the functionalised cartridge prior to use, flow rate of sample loading, and stability of Hg on the cartridge after immobilisation.	51
Figure 3.2. The functionalisation of SPE cartridges using 50 μ g dithizone, loading of water samples in the field at 10 mL min ⁻¹ to immobilise Hg, and elution of Hg using 30 mL of a 1% 2-mercaptoethanol solution	52
Figure 3.3. Map of b) Kakamega and Vihiga counties, a) Kenya, the ASGM sites sampled: c) Viyalo, d) Bushiangala, e) Malinya, f) Rosterman, and g) Lunyerere mine sites, and sampling locations	55
Figure 3.4. Recovery and standard deviation of Hg^{2+} from SPE cartridges with various quantities of immobilised dithizone (25, 50, 100 and 200 µg) (n=5), indicating a load of 25 µg dithizone or greater is suitable for immobilisation of Hg^{2+} from water samples with 5	58
Figure 3.5. Recovery (%) and standard deviation (n=5) of Hg (30 mL, 1 μ g L ⁻¹ Hg ²⁺ solution) immobilised on a functionalised cartridge over 4-weeks storage and eluted with a 2-mercaptoethanol solution (1% v/v, 30 mL).	59
Figure 4.1 An ore washing pond at Rosterman, Kenya (left) and its runoff, which enter the nearby river (right) used for domestic waters (laundry, cleaning, etc.) and crop irrigation.	72
Figure 4.2 Mercury (Hg) used for amalgamation of gold from crushed ore, usually handled with limited or no protective equipment.	73

Figure 4.3. a) An example chromatogram of MeHg (190-210 s) and Hg^{2+} (240-280 s) and (b) a magnification of the MeHg peak	76
Figure 4.4. Sampling points (26) for Hg, water and sediment samples at ASGM sites in (a) Kakamega gold belt, (b) Kenya: (c) Malinya mine and (d) Rosterman mine. The basemap was obtained from GoogleEarthTM.	78
Figure 4.5. Percentage recovery (%) of Hg ²⁺ and MeHg after 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 weeks of storage in refrigerated (4 °C, absence of light) and unrefrigerated (16 °C, absence of light) conditions, demonstrating suitable recoveries for a field sampling method (recovery 130%> x >75%) across all assessed time periods (n=5).	83
Figure A1.1 Gold mine shafts, active (left) and dis-used (right) in Rosterman, Kenya	107
Figure A1.2. Gold ore, mined at Rosterman, Kenya	107
Figure A1.3. Gold ore being sifted manually from mined rock, at Lunyerere, Kenya	107
Figure A1.4. An ore crusher in operation, typically used at ASGM sites for crushing the mined ore to a fine powder. Taken at Rosterman, Kenya	108
Figure A1.5. Sluicing of the crushed ore using cloth and water, often along riverbanks (left, at Rosterman, Kenya) or in purpose built ponds (right, at Lunyerere, Kenya)	108
Figure A1.6. ASGM workers sluicing crushed ore into concrete ore washing ponds, in Bushiangala, Kenya	109
Figure A1.7. An ore washing pond after a few weeks drying for disposal of waste tailings, at Rosterman, Kenya	109
Figure A1.8. Hg is manually mixed with the gold-containing fine particles, to form an amalgam	109
Figure A1.9. Simplistic huts are set up for both amalgam burning to obtain sponge-gold and for the sale of the produced gold	110
Figure A1.10. Amalgam burning is conducted with little-to-no safety, directly exposing workers to Hg via inhalation and releasing the vapours to the environment. This stage is often conducted by women and children	110

Figure A1.11. ARABIC 22 Sponge-gold produced by burning the Hg-Au amalgam. This is sold for further processing to purer gold products	110
Figure A1.12. An example of food crops grown nearby ASGM activities, often withing 5-10m from activities, or nearby polluted water sources	111
Figure A1.13. The author using the developed SPE method for sampling river water at Malinya mine, Kenya.	111
Figure A1.14. Hg handled by ASGM workers for alluvial mining, conducted with bare hands and in rivers relied upon by many villages and communities for domestic, industrial, agricultural and aquacultural activities	111
Figure A4.1a Flow chart of samples along river at Rosterman mine, Kenya, with arrows depicting the direction of river flow	130
Figure A4.1b. Flow chart of samples along river at Malinya mine, with arrows depicting the direction of river flow	130

List of Tables

Caption	Page
Table 1.1. Mercury species, their major exposure routes, and their	5
toxicological information	
Table 1.2. Typical losses of Hg from water samples in different container	8
materials, adapted from (Yu and Yan, 2003)	
Table 2.1. Approximate price comparison of container materials from	20
online suppliers (sourced from FischerScientific on 4 th March 2022)	
Table 2.2. Approximate cost-per-sample of some suggested Hg	35
preservation and solid-phase extraction methods	
Table 3.1. Performance, as %recovery, of functionalised cartridges loaded	60
with 50 μ g dithizone in comparison to previous literature using 12.5 μ g	
dithizone load.	
Table 3.2. Comparison of recovery (%) of Hg from river waters between	61
those reported in literature and this work.	
Table 3.3. Hg concentrations determined from water samples at ASGM	62
sites across the Kakamega gold belt, Kenya	
Table 4.1. Storage times and recovery of Hg from environmental water	74
samples from relevant literature	
Table 4.2. Percentage recovery (%) of Hg ²⁺ and MeHg from varied	82
environmental characteristics (pH, chloride concentration and humic acid	
concentration) (n=5).	
Table 4.3. Speciation of MeHg and Hg ²⁺ in river water samples at ASGM	85
sites in the Kakamega Gold Belt, western Kenya (Rosterman mine and	
Malinya mine))	
Table 4.4. Assessment of Hg consumption from drinking water sources	87
compared to the tolerable weekly intake of 0.7 μ g(Hg) kg(body weight) ⁻¹	
week ⁻¹	
Table 4.5. Total Hg and MeHg concentration river sediment samples at	89
ASGM sites in the Kakamega Gold Belt, western Kenya (Rosterman	
mine and Malinya mine)	
Supplementary Table A2.1 Reagent-based preservation methods for Hg,	112
reported storage times, analytical merit and challenges	
Supplementary Table A2.2 Solid-phase extraction sorbents for Hg,	114
reported recoveries, detection limts, analyical merits and difficulties	

Supplementary Table A3.1.: Comparison of major ion chemistry in a	125
synthetic hardwater recipe (Smith et al (2002)), and measured	
concentrations from ASGM sites in Kakamega gold belt, Kenya (Ondayo	
et al (2023))	
Supplementary Table A3.2.: ICP-MS parameters and conditions used in	125
experimental analysis	
Supplementary Table A3.3.: Measurements of a blank solution applied	126
to the developed method to calculate a method detection limit (3 σ)	
Supplementary Table A3.4.: Water geochemistry of samples from	127
ASGM sites across Kakamega gold belt (Bushiangala, Lunyerere,	
Malinya, Rosterman, and Viyalo mine sites)	
Supplementary Table A4.1.: HPLC-ICP-MS parameters and conditions	129
used in experimental analysis	
Supplementary Table A4.2.: limits of detection in HPLC-ICP-MS for	131
MeHg and Hg ²⁺ defined as three times standard deviation (3 σ) of nine	
replicate blanks	
Supplementary Table A4.3.: Comparison of major ion chemistry in a	132
synthetic hardwater recipe (Smith et al. (2002)), and measured	
concentrations from ASGM sites in Kakamega gold belt, Kenya (Ondayo	
et al. (2023) and King et al. (2024))	
Supplementary Table A4.4.: Total Hg data for certified reference	133
materials HR-1 (NRCC, Canada), TH-2 (NRCC, Canada), and PACS-2	
(NRCC, Canada), and Isotope dilution-microwave extraction (ID-ME) of	
MeHg from a certified reference material (ERM-CC58, ERM)	
Supplementary Table A4.5.: General chemistry of water samples from	134
ASGM sites (Rosterman and Malinya sites)	
Supplementary Table A4.6.: General chemistry of sediment samples	138
from ASGM sites (Rosterman and Malinya sites)	
Supplementary Table A4.7.: % difference of analytes from duplicate	141
sediment samples.	
Supplementary Table A4.8.: Recovery (%) and Standard deviation (%)	142
of analytes in certified reference materials (BCR-2 (n=3), LKSD-1 (n=1),	
LKSD-3 (n=1), and MESS-4 (n=1))	

Chapter 1 – Mercury, environmental and human exposure, and toxicity

The aim of this thesis is to develop an in-situ sampling method for mercury (Hg) in environmental waters, the overall structure is detailed in Section 1.6 Thesis Structure; briefly, the issue of Hg as an environmental pollutant is detailed and the problems surrounding preservation and sampling. This is followed by development of a sampling method for total Hg in water samples, and then further assessment for Hg species. Speciation analysis of environmental samples from vulnerable areas was then conducted. The main outcomes of the work are then summarised.

1.1. Mercury

Mercury (Hg) is a toxic, naturally occurring transition metal (WHO, 2005, Kim and Zoh, 2012) with atomic number 80 and a standard atomic mass of 200.59. As a metal, it is uniquely a liquid at standard temperature and pressure. There are three main oxidation states of Hg: Hg⁰ (elemental or metallic Hg), Hg₂²⁺ (mercurous Hg), and Hg²⁺ (mercuric Hg), of which Hg₂²⁺ is generally unstable and will disproportionate to Hg⁰ and Hg²⁺ (O'Driscoll, et al., 2005). There are seven stable isotopes of Hg in the environment: ¹⁹⁶ Hg (0.15%), ¹⁹⁸Hg (10.1%), ¹⁹⁹Hg (17.0%), ²⁰⁰Hg (23.3%), ²⁰¹Hg (13.2%), ²⁰²Hg (29.6%), and ²⁰⁴Hg (6.7%). A notable characteristic of Hg is the ability to form stable amalgams with many other metals, such as gold (Au), zinc (Zn), tin (Sn), sodium (Na), etc. There is no known health benefit to Hg and the toxicity of all Hg species is well documented, with the WHO classifying Hg and its species as one of the top ten chemicals posing a major public health concern (WHO, 2005, WHO, 2022). Despite this, Hg is present in all spheres of the environment as a result of both natural processes and anthropogenic activity (Gworek et al., 2016, Kim and Zoh, 2012, Ondayo et al., 2023b).

1.2. Environmental exposure and toxicity

1.2.1. The environmental Hg cycle

Once released to the environment, global distribution of Hg is facilitated by atmospheric species (Lyman et al., 2020). Elemental Hg vapour, Hg⁰, is the predominant species in the atmosphere at >98% of atmospheric Hg (Sommar et al., 2020, Fu et al., 2016) and has a long atmospheric lifetime of 0.8-72 years depending on atmospheric location (Saiz-Lopez et al., 2018, Slemr et al., 2018, Sommar et al., 2020), allowing for global transportation of the vapour before deposition (Driscoll et al., 2013). Atmospheric Hg⁰ is oxidised to inorganic Hg species (Hg²⁺) through various, not-well understood, pathways, which can then be deposited to the aquatic

and terrestrial environment through wet- and dry-deposition events (Sommar et al., 2020, Kim and Zoh, 2012, Beckers and Rinklebe, 2017). Thus, terrestrial and aquatic environments have a concentration of Hg of 60 μ g kg⁻¹ in soils and sediments, 0 – 5 ng L⁻¹ Hg in marine waters and 5 – 30 ng L⁻¹ Hg in river, estuarine and coastal waters, even when there is no nearby release of the metal (Lyman et al., 2020, Beckers and Rinklebe, 2017, Kim and Zoh, 2012). Once in the aquatic environment, Hg²⁺ may bind to particulate matter and sediments where further transformation to mineralogical or organomercurial species can occur. The metal can bind irreversibly to S in sediments and form stable, insoluble Hg-S minerals. Labile Hg bound to sediments can be methylated by S-reducing bacteria, resulting in synthesis of organomercurial chemicals such as methlmercury (MeHg) (Kim and Zoh, 2012, Nogara et al., 2019). These compounds can bioaccumulate in fish and seafood, increasing up trophic levels and resulting in up to 10⁶ times the concentration of Hg in predatory fish tissue when compared to the aquatic environment (Leopold et al., 2010, Leopold et al., 2009). The long-lasting nature of the element in the environment results in pollution significantly affecting nearby soils, sediments and waters (Ondayo et al., 2023a, Ondayo et al., 2023b). Thus, there is a need to monitor Hg in environmental matrices, to manage and mitigate exposure to the environment and humans.

1.2.2. Natural emissions of Hg

Hg is found in the Earth's crust at 0.05 mg kg⁻¹, typically as the mineral cinnabar (HgS minerals) (Rudnick and Gao, 2003). Mineralogically, it occurs as cinnabar (HgS), corderoite (Hg₃S₂Cl₂), and livingstonite (HgSb₄S₈), as well as others (USGS, 2024). The abundance of Hg-S minerals is due to the strong binding forces found between Hg, a soft acid, and S, a soft base, which also allow HgS to form in a range of pH conditions (Paquette and Helz, 1995). Natural Hg emissions to the environment are predominantly from volcanic activity, with degassing from Hg deposits and weathering contributing to emissions, and have been estimated to be ~1 kilotonne year⁻¹; anthropogenic emissions far outweigh this and have been estimated as large as 4.6 kilotonnes year⁻¹ (Outridge et al., 2018, UNEP, 2008).

1.2.3. Anthropogenic emissions of Hg

The anthropogenic use of Hg stretches back thousands of years, with civilisations from as 4000 BC using cinnabar as a bright red pigment (Beckers and Rinklebe, 2017, Young and Kaplan, 2023). Other historical uses of Hg include alchemically as an ingredient for synthesising gold (Au), medicinal purposes as a treatment for skin conditions, syphilis and other ailments, and felting in hat-making. More recent uses

include as thermometers, calomel probes, in batteries and electronics, as dental amalgams for fillings, as industrial catalysts for chemical synthesis, and as fungicides and pesticides. In many of these examples, Hg use has been phased out for less toxic approaches.

A major anthropogenic use of Hg is for the extraction of gold by amalgamation, a process developed hundreds of years ago and still used today in the artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM) sector. The ASGM sector is currently considered the largest pollutant of Hg to the environment, accounting for nearly 40% of total anthropogenic Hg emissions (Figure 1.1) (UNEP, 2018).



Figure 1.1 Anthropogenic emission sources, as reported by the UNEP (2018)

1.2.4. Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining (ASGM)

The ASGM sector provides income for over 45 million workers directly and supports a further >150 million people globally (IGF, 2018, Ondayo et al., 2023b). These activities are most commonly performed in lower income countries, such as in Sub-

Saharan Africa, South America, and Asia, where gold veins are present (Ondayo et al., 2023b). These gold deposits have often been previously exploited for conventionally mineable gold or are not at a level commercially viable for traditional mining, and so small-scale practices are set up by local communities.

In ASGM activities, gold ore is mined from disused commercial mines, where it is then crushed and sluiced to a fine powder (IGF, 2018, Ondayo et al., 2023b). Due to the ability of Hg to form stable amalgams with many precious metals through metal-metal bonding, the liquid metal is mixed with the crushed ore to amalgamate the gold particles from the sluiced sedimentary material. This process is often conducted in nearby rivers and waterways, thus polluting the metal directly to the aquatic environment (IGF, 2018, Ondayo et al., 2023a,b). The resulting amalgam is then burned to produce small quantities of gold by releasing the bonded Hg to the atmosphere. Photos of the ASGM process are shown in Appendix 1.

Discussion with the miners revealed safety precautions at ASGM sites are rudimentary and often neglected for both chemical and physical hazards. Helmets and gloves are often not worn when working, and lighting conditions in the mines are poor. Explosives are sometimes used to mine the ore, resulting in potential mine shaft collapse and harm to the workers. The alluvial process of amalgamation is conducted with bare hands in rivers, upstream of drinking, domestic, agricultural and aquacultural waters. The resulting amalgam is burned with poor ventilation or air filtration, resulting in Hg vapours being inhaled directly by workers or released to the nearby environment. These processes lead to significant Hg pollution and exposure to human health (Ondayo et al., 2023a, Ondayo et al., 2023b, Beckers and Rinklebe, 2017, Kim and Zoh, 2012, Kristensen et al., 2014, Ngure et al., 2017, Olgola et al., 2001).

At Kenyan ASGM sites, Ondayo et al. (2024) reported Hg urinary concentrations of up to 178 μ g L⁻¹ Hg and hair concentrations of up to 12.8 mg kg⁻¹ Hg, far exceeding those of non-ASGM residents with <0.14 μ g L⁻¹ urinary Hg and 0.14 mg kg⁻¹ Hg in hair. All eleven active ASGM workers the study investigated reported symptoms of chest pain, headaches, strokes, epilepsy and fertility problems, which are all associated with Hg-poisoning (USEPA 2024) although the authors did not define a cause for the symptoms presented due to needing further study.

Replacement of Hg in the ASGM process is difficult. While alternative extraction methods to Hg, such as cyanide leaching or borax smelting, are more efficient, they

are often more complex and the cost is impractical for installation and operation (Manzila, 2022).

1.3. Mercury poisoning and bioaccumulation

In organisms, Hg compounds have an affinity to bind with sulfhydryl group found in proteins (WHO, 2005, WHO, 2003, Kim and Zoh, 2012, Liu et al., 2011). This binding results in bioaccumulation of the toxic metal, being found to persist in biological tissues long after exposure, with a biological half-life of approximately 50 days (US, 2000). This longevity and bioaccumulation often result in high concentrations of Hg in marine and aquatic organisms, particularly those living in contaminated waters (Muñoz et al., 2005). Contaminated tissue consumed by other organisms results in biomagnification of mercury up the food chain; predatory fish can have 10⁶ times higher Hg than the surrounding waters, with 95% being MeHg (Leopold et al., 2010). This results in exposure to much higher concentrations of Hg than from ambient exposure (Liu et al., 2011, Ekino et al., 2007). Constant exposure has been modelled showing intake of Hg equalling excretion of Hg at roughly 1 year, accumulation being found to be 100 times the average daily intake (WHO, 1990).

Species	Major exposure route	Target organs	Biological reaction	Other relevant information
Hg ⁰	Inhalation, dermal adsorption (minor)	Brain, central nervous system, liver and kidneys	Oxidised to Hg ²⁺ , by hydrogen peroxide – catalase reaction	Low bioaccessibility through consumption, but much higher
Hg ²⁺	Consumption	Liver and kidneys	N/A	bioaccessibility through inhalation. Low bioaccessibility, so
MeHg	Dermal adsorption, consumption of fish and seafood	Brain and central nervous system	Demethylation to Hg ²⁺ in target organ	Highly bioaccessible, easily entering bloodstream. Easily crosses placental barrier.

Table 1.1 Mercury species, their major exposure routes, and their toxicological information

1.3.1. Elemental mercury (Hg⁰)

The metallic species of Hg is the most predominant species found in the atmosphere. The major exposure to human health is through inhalation, where approximately 80% of Hg⁰ vapours can be absorbed by the respiratory system (Langford and Ferner, 1990). Bioavailability through oral consumption or dermal contact of Hg⁰ is poor, and the oral lethal dose (LD₁₀) is 1429 mg kg⁻¹ Hg⁰ (Langford and Ferner, 1990). Metallic Hg is highly lipophilic; thus once in the bloodstream, Hg⁰ will readily cross the bloodbrain barrier and placental barrier, and result in Hg poisoning and Minamata disease (Clarkson and Magos, 2008). Therefore, exposure of open wounds should be avoided. Once in the bloodstream and target organs, Hg⁰ is oxidized to Hg²⁺, which results in severe negative health effects. The biological half-life of Hg⁰ is approximately 10 days in blood and 2 days in the respiratory system, with excretion typically occurring via the renal system (Sandborgh-Englund et al., 1998). Symptoms of exposure to Hg⁰ include: tremors, emotional changes, insomnia, muscle weakness, headaches, and decreased mental function (USEPA, 2024).

1.3.2. Inorganic mercury (Hg²⁺)

Inorganic mercury, Hg²⁺, is the most prevalent species found in aquatic media (WHO 2005; Beckers, Rinklebe 2017; Stoichev et al. 2006; Liu et al. 2012). Complexes of this species are controlled by the matrix and physiochemical conditions, with HgCl₂ and Hg(OH)₂ being the most common complexes in freshwater; HgCl₃- and HgCl₄²- are the most common species in saline waters due to the higher chloride concentrations than freshwater sources (Liu et al. 2012). The presence of sulphide will result in preferential formation of soluble bi- and polysulfide complexes, such as HgSH⁺, Hg(SH)₂, Hg(SH)S⁻. Inorganic Hg²⁺ compounds are more soluble and stable in water samples than other species, and preservation methods typically exploit this by increasing anionic concentrations and promote formation of Hg²⁺ complexes (Yu and Yan, 2003). As the most abundant species in waters, total Hg limits are often more closely related to Hg²⁺concentrations, for example the drinking water guideline for total Hg is defined as 6 μg L⁻¹ by the WHO (WHO, 2022). Therefore, guidelines and limits may not accurately reflect the hazard posed by other Hg species, namely organomercurial compounds.

In the human body, sorption of Hg²⁺ through oral consumption is inefficient, as these species are often hydrophilic and so are poorly bioavailable through the digestive system. Thus, within a few days up to 85% of ingested Hg²⁺ is excreted (Cernichiari et al., 2007). The poor lipophilicity of Hg²⁺ species also reduces the ability of the species to pass through the blood-brain barrier, thus resulting in accumulation in the liver and kidneys (WHO, 1990). Health effects of Hg²⁺exposure include: damage to the gastrointestinal tract and excretory systems, rashes, decreased mental function, and muscle weakness (USEPA, 2024).

1.3.3. Methylmercury (MeHg) and organomercurials

In anaerobic conditions, S-reducing bacteria in aquatic bodies will methylate and occasionally ethylate Hg to organomercurial compounds (WHO, 1990, Ji et al., 2023,

Sánchez Uría and Sanz-Medel, 1998). In the aquatic environment, organomercurials are synthesised by bacterial methylation of inorganic Hg during the reduction of sulphur, thus the methylmercury (MeHg) in the environment is linked to the quantity of Hg²⁺ and biotic presence. In freshwater, MeHg, is the predominant organomercurial compound and is typically found in concentrations of 0.02 - 0.1 ng L⁻¹ in surface waters and >4 ng L⁻¹ in anoxic bottom waters of freshwater lakes (Ullrich et al. 2001). In deep ocean water, dimethylmercury, (CH₃)₂Hg, is the predominant species produced from labile inorganic mercury complexes.

Organomercurial compounds, such as MeHg and ethylmercury (EtHg), are much more bioaccessible than inorganic Hg species. The likelihood bioaccessibility and long biological lifetime result in significant bioaccumulation in fish and seafood, thus creates a potential human exposure route through oral consumption. Exposure to organomercurial compounds occurs not only through concentrations found in fish and shellfish, but also through dermal contact due to the lipophilicity of organomercurial compounds (Kim and Zoh, 2012). These compounds bioaccumulate in the central nervous system and have been considered the main cause of mercury poisoning in humans (WHO, 2022, WHO, 1990). Symptoms of MeHg exposure include: visual impairment, impairment of speech, hearing and walking, muscle weakness, poor coordination, and parasthesia (USEPA, 2024).

The biological half-life of MeHg is approximately 57 days in blood and 64 days in hair samples (Yaginuma-Sakurai et al., 2012). Methylmercury has been observed to pass through the placental barrier and cause birth defects and delays in developmental milestones, such as memory, cognitive thinking, fine motor skill, and others, when pregnant women are exposed to Hg (Clarkson and Magos, 2008, Ekino et al., 2007).

Major incidents of Hg poisoning in the past 70 years have been as a result of organomercurial compounds, spurring investigation into the hazards posed by MeHg in particular. In the 1960's in Minamata, Japan, release of industrial waste from acetone and polyvinyl chloride production introduced Hg and MeHg into local river systems. This pollution affected food and water sources, including crops and fish, especially through bioaccumulation, and caused exposure of hazardous quantities of Hg to nearby villages and towns (Ekino et al., 2007, Eto et al., 2010, Gonzalez-Raymat et al., 2017). No exact number of deaths was given as a result of the poisoning event, but over 2000 people were confirmed to have Minamata disease and over 10,000 people were estimated to be affected by the pollution event. Another major Hg poisoning event occurred in Iraq in 1972, where Hg-containing fungicides

were applied to wheat crops, resulting in the hospitalization of over 6000 people (Bakir et al., 1973).

1.3.4. Minamata convention

The Minamata convention (2013), outlining policies and regulations for reduction of Hg use, is signed by 148 countries, with the ultimate goal of ending anthropogenic Hg emissions (UN, 2013). It highlights the immediate need to cease Hg pollution to protect environmental and human health, by replacing Hg use in industrial processes, monitoring Hg concentrations in the environment and potential human exposure routes, and regulating the ASGM sector to ensure sustainable income to workers without release of the harmful metal.

1.4. Instability of Hg species in water

It is important to accurately measure Hg concentrations that are representative of the sampled water bodies, especially in vulnerable areas such as ASGM sites where Hg pollution directly affects local communities (Ondayo et al., 2023a,b). Current literature relating to Hg concentrations in waters at ASGM sites is often unsuitable, due to Hg instability and poor preservation methods (King, et al, 2024). Many studies fail to adequately state preservation methods used, casting doubt on the reported concentrations. In water samples, concentrations of Hg and its species are prone to volatilisation, sorption to container walls, and interspecies conversion to less stable species such as Hg⁰ (Yu and Yan, 2003, Parker and Bloom, 2005, King et al., 2023). This results in a significant decrease in concentration over just a few days and often prevents research from assessing and monitoring Hg in water sources (Table 1.2.).

Sample	Hg	Container	Hg loss over time	Reference
	species		0	
Distilled water	Hg ²⁺	PE	75% over 150h	(Rosain and Wai, 1973)
		PVC	90% over 150h	
		Soft glass	85% over 350h	
Distilled water	Hg ²⁺	Linear PE III	97% over 8 days	(Heidan, 1983)
		Linear PE IV	26% over 8 days	
		Conventional PE	52% over 8 days	
		PP	81% over 8 days	
Deionized water	Hg ²⁺	PE	87% over 12 days	(Leermakers et al., 1994)
		Pyrex	86% over 20 days	200 .,
		1 910/	00/00000 20 dayo	

Table 1.2 Typical losses of Hg from water samples in different container materials, adapted from (Yu and Yan,2003)

Deionized	MeHg	PE	80% loss over 12	(Leermakers et al.,
water			days, 94% loss	1994)
			over 30 days	
		Teflon	Stability retained	
			over months	
		Glass	40% over 12 days,	
			80% over 30 days	
Potable water	Hg ²⁺	PET and glass	40% over 10 days	(Copeland et al., 1996)
Distilled and	MeHg	PTFE	Stability retained	(Lansens et al.,
deionized			up to 6 months	1990)
water				
		Glass	50% over 14 days	
Distilled water	Hg²⁺	Glass	Stability retained	(Feldman, 1974)
			up to 5 months	
		PE	Stable for 10 days	

The recommended procedure for Hg sampling is to ship samples to a laboratory overnight, for preservation by acidification in appropriate facilities (USEPA, 2002, USEPA, 1996). This methodology has been successfully used (Guedron et al. 2014, Cobbina et al. 2015) but this is not always possible, particularly in challenging environments and so sampling and in-field preservation of Hg has long been considered difficult for widespread monitoring and toxicology studies, despite the potential to be a major exposure route for environmental and human health (Ondayo et al., 2023a,b, King et al., 2024). Regulatory authorities do not have adequate information to make relevant and appropriate policies to mitigate Hg pollution, and local communities lack the information on the impact of Hg pollution to the environment on a local and global scale. Thus, there is a need to develop a sampling method for Hg and its species, to adequately assess Hg concentrations in the aquatic environment, to better understand and protect human and environmental health.

1.5. Aim and Objectives

The aim of this research project is to develop a method for sampling Hg and its species from water samples, including those found in challenging environments such as ASGM sites where previous literature has been unable to effectively monitor the pollutant. To achieve this, the following objectives were met:

1a) Assess current literature for recommended sampling and preservation methods for Hg and its species in water samples, including in challenging environments where Hg monitoring is most needed;

1b) Assess current literature of SPE methods for Hg analysis, including preconcentration, as a sample introduction system, analyte separation, etc. Then, identify a suitable method for optimisation as a sampling method that can be applied in-field for Hg preservation;

2) Optimise the identified method for preservation of total Hg from water samples associated with challenging environments. This is then validated by deployment in ASGM sites in western Kenya, for assessing waters affected by the mining activities;

3a) Further optimise the SPE method for sampling and preservation of Hg species from waters associated with challenging environments.

3b) Collect environmental samples (waters and sediments) from rivers around ASGM sites in western Kenya, to assess Hg pollution and speciation from mining activities including at sections of the rivers used for domestic and drinking water collection.

1.6. Thesis structure

During this project, portions of the work were submitted for publication and peerreview. Chapters 2 and 3 are published, and chapter 4 is undergoing peer-review. All chapters are provided as published, with addenda where necessary. Author contributions are stated at the beginning of each chapter.

Chapter 1 – General Introduction

The first chapter is a general introduction into Hg as an environmental pollutant. It discusses the toxicity of Hg and its species, anthropogenic and natural emissions, and the instability of Hg species. The aim and objectives of the research are specified.

Chapter 2 – Present and Potential Future of Aqueous Mercury Preservation; A Review"

The second Chapter assessed current literature on Hg preservation and sampling techniques, including methods recommended by governing bodies. The use for solid-phase extraction (SPE) for Hg sampling is examined, and some potentially suitable SPE methods are identified.

Chapter 3 – Field method for preservation of total mercury in waters, including those associated with Artisanal Scale Gold Mining

The third chapter is an investigation into the use of an SPE method, as identified in Chapter 2, for sampling and preservation of total Hg in water samples. The method is optimised for waters from challenging environments such as ASGM sites, and is validated at ASGM sites in western Kenya.

Chapter 4 – Mercury species preservation and sediment concentrations

The fourth chapter further develops the SPE method, used in Chapter 3, for Hg species sampling and preservation. The method was applied in a case study of ASGM sites in western Kenya, alongside analysis of river sediments for Hg species analysis.

Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion

The fifth chapter concludes the work, demonstrating the benefit of the sampling method for total Hg and speciation. In addition, it highlights potential future work and developments that may improve the performance and useability of the method.

1.7 References

- BAKIR, F., DAMLUJI, S. F., AMIN-ZAKI, L., MURTADHA, M., KHALIDI, A., AL-RAWI,
 N. Y., TIKRITI, S. & DHAHIR, H. I. 1973. Methylmercury Poisoning in Iraq. Science, 181, 230-241.
- BECKERS, F. & RINKLEBE, J. 2017. Cycling of mercury in the environment: Sources, fate, and human health implications: A review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 47, 693-794.
- CERNICHIARI, E., MYERS, G. J., BALLATORI, N., ZAREBA, N., VYAS, G. & CLARKSON, T. W. 2007. The biological monitoring of prenatal exposure to methylmercury. *Neorotoxicol.*, 28, 1015-1022.
- CLARKSON, T. W. & MAGOS, L. 2008. The Toxicology of Mercury and Its Chemical Compounds. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, 36, 609-662.
- COBBINA S. J., DUWIEJUA, A. B., QUANSAH, R., OBIRI, S. & BAKOBIE, N., 2015.
 Comparative Assessment of Heavy Metals in Drinking Water Sources in Two Small-Scale Mining Communities in Northern Ghana. *Int. J. Environ. Re. Public Health*, 12(9), 10620-10634.
- COPELAND, D. D., FACER, M., NEWTON, R. & WALKER, P. J. 1996. Use of poly(ethylene terephthalate) plastic bottles for the sampling, transportation and storage of potable water prior to mercury determination. *Analyst,* 2.
- DRISCOLL, C. T., MASON, P. R., CHAN, H. M., JACOB, D. J. & PIRRONE, N. 2013. Mercury as a Global Pollutant: Sources, Pathways, and Effects. *Environ Sci Technol*, 47, 4967-4983.
- EKINO, S., SUSA, M., NINOMIYA, T., IMAMURA, K. & KITAMURA, T. 2007. Minamata disease revisited: An update on the acute and chronic manifestations of methyl mercury poisoning. *J. Neurological Sci.*, 262, 131-144.
- ETO, K., MARUMOTO, M. & TAKEYA, M. 2010. The pathology of methylmercury poisoning (Minamata disease). *Neuropathology*, 30, 471-479.
- FELDMAN, C. 1974. Preservation of Dilute Mercury Solutions. *Analytical Chemistry*, 46, 99-102.
- FU, X., YANG, X., LANG, X., ZHOU, J., ZHANG, H., YU, B., YAN, H., LIN, C.-J. & FENG, X. 2016. Atmospheric wet and litterfall mercury deposition at urban andrural sites in China. *Atmospheric Che. Phys.*, 16, 11547-11562.
- GONZALEZ-RAYMAT, H., LIU, G., LIRIANO, C., LI, Y., YIN, Y., SHI, J., JIANG, G. & CAI, Y. 2017. Elemental mercury: Its unique properties affect its behavior and fate in the environment. *Environmental Pollution*, 229, 69-86.

- GUEDRON S, TISSERAND D, GARAMBOIS S, SPADINI L, MOLTON F, BOUNVILAY B, CHARLET L, POLYA D. (2014) Baseline investigation of (methyl)mercury in waters, soils, sediments and key foodstuffs in the Lower Mekong Basin: The rapidly developing city of Vientiane (Lao PDR). Journal of Geochemical Exploration. 143: 96-102. DOI:10.1016/j.gexplo.2014.03.020
- GWOREK, B., BEMOWSKA-KALABUN, O., KIJENSKA, M. & WRZOSEK-JAKUBOWSKA, J. 2016. Mercury in Marine and Oceanic Waters-a Review. *Water Air Soil Pollut*, 227, 371.
- HEIDAN, R. W. 1983. Humic Acid as a Preservative for Trace Mercury(II) Solutions Stored in Polyolefin Containers. *Analytical Chemistry*, 55, 5-18.
- IGF 2018. Global Trends In Artisanal and Small-Scale Mining (ASM): A review or key numbers and issues. *In:* IGF (ed.). Manitoba, Canada: IGF.
- JI, Y., GAO, S., SI, R., ZHANG, Z., TIAN, L., GUAN, W., WANG, W., CHEN, J., CHEN, W., ALVAREZ, P. J. J. & ZHANG, T. 2023. Structural incorporation of iron influences biomethylation potential of mercury sulfide. *Geochimica et Chosmochimica Acta*, 349, 115-125.
- KIM, M. K. & ZOH, K. D. 2012. Fate and transport of mercury in environmental media and human exposure. *J Prev Med Public Health*, 45, 335-43.
- KING, D. C. P., WATTS, M. J., HAMILTON, E. M., MORTIMER, R., KILGOUR, D. P.
 A. & DI BONITO, M. 2023. The present and potential future of aqueous mercury preservation: a review. *Environ Sci: Processes Impacts.*, 25, 351-363
- KING, D. C. P., WATTS, M. J., HAMILTON, E. M., MORTIMER, R. J. G., COFFEY, M., OSANO, O., ONDAYO, M. A. & DI BONITO, M. 2024. Field method for total mercury in waters, including those associated with artisanal scale gold mining. *Anal. Methods*.
- KRISTENSEN, A. K., THOMSEN, J. F. & MIKKELSEN, S. 2014. A review of mercury exposure among artisanal small-scale gold miners in developing countries. Int Arch Occup Environ Health, 87, 579-590.
- LANGFORD, N. J. & FERNER, R. E. 1990. Toxicity of mercury. *J. Human Hypertension*, 13, 651-656.
- LANSENS, P., MEULEMAN, C. & BAEYENS, W. 1990. Long-term stability of methylmercury standard solutions in distilled, deionized water. *Anal. Chim. Acta*, 229, 281-285.
- LEERMAKERS, M., LANSENS, P. & BAEYENS, W. 1994. Storage and stability of inorganic and methylmercury solutions. *Fresnius Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, 336, 655-662.

- LEOPOLD, K., FOULKES, M. & WORSFOLD, P. 2010. Methods for the determination and speciation of mercury in natural waters--a review. *Anal Chim Acta*, 663, 127-38.
- LEOPOLD, K., FOULKES, M. & WORSFOLD, P. J. 2009. Preconcentration techniques for the determination of mercury species in natural waters. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 28, 426-435.
- LIU, G., CAI, Y. & O'DRISCOLL, N. 2011. Overview of Mercury in the Environment. Environmental Chemistry and Toxicology of Mercury. Ukraine.
- LYMAN, S. E., CHENG, I., GRATZ, L. E., WEISS-PENZIAS, P. & ZHANG, L. 2020. An updated review of atmospheric mercury. *Sci Total Environ*, 135575.
- MANZILLA, A. N., A study of alternative techniques to mercury amalgamation for gold extraction in artisanal and small-scale gold mining, 2022, Thesis (Masters), University of Cape Town, South Africa.
- MUÑOZ, O., BASTIAS, J. M., ARAYA, M., MORALES, A., ORELLANA, C., REBOLLEDO, R. & VELEZ, D. 2005. Estimation of the dietary intake of cadmium, lead, mercury, and arsenic by the population of Santiago (Chile) using a Total Diet Study. *Food. Chem. Toxicol.*, 43, 1647-1655.
- NGURE, V., LELO, F. & OBWANGA, B. 2017. Heavy Metal Pollution from Migori Gold Mining Area, Kenya: Health Implications for Consumers of Fish and Water. *Journal of Natural Sciences Research*, 7, 46-53.
- NOGARA, P. A., OLIVEIRA, C. S., SCHMITZ, G. L., PIQUINI, P. C., FARINA, M., ASCHNER, M. & ROCHA, J. B. T. 2019. Methylmercury's chemistry: From the environment to the mammalian brain. *BBA General Subjects*, 1863.
- O'DRISCOLL, N. J., RENCZ, A., LEAN, D. R. S., 2005. The Biogeochemistry and Fate of Mercury in the Environment, Florida, USA.
- OLGOLA, J. S., MITULLAH, W. V. & OMULO, M. A. 2001. Impact of Gold Mining on the Environment and Human Health: A Case Study in the Migori Gold Belt, Kenya. *Environ Geochem Health*, 24, 141-158.
- ONDAYO, M. A., WATTS, M. J., HAMILTON, E. M., MITCHELL, C., MANKELOW, J.
 & OSANO, O. 2023a. Artisanal gold mining in Kakamega and Vihiga counties, Kenya: potential human exposure and health risk. *Environ Geochem Health*, 45, 6543-6565.
- ONDAYO, M. A., WATTS, M. J., MITCHELL, C., KING, D. C. P. & OSANO, O. 2023b. Review: Artisanal Gold Mining in Africa—Environmental Pollution and Human Health Implications. *Expo Health*.
- ONDAYO, M.A., WATTS, M. J., HUMPHREY, O. S., OSANO, O., 2024. Public health assessment of Kenyan ASGM communities using multi-element

biomonitoring, dietary and environmental evaluation, *Ecotoxicol Environ. Safety*, 277., 116323.

- OUTRIDGE, P., MASON, R., WANG, F., GUERRERO, S. & HEIMBÜRGER-BOAVIDA, L. E. 2018. Updated Global and Oceanic Mercury Budgets for the United Nations Global Mercury Assessment 2018. *Environ Sci Technol*, 52, 11466-11477.
- PAQUETTE, K. & HELZ, G. 1995. Solubility of cinnabar (red HgS) and implications for mercury speciation in sulfidic waters. *Water Air Soil Pollut,* 80, 1053-1056.
- PARKER, J. L. & BLOOM, N. S. 2005. Preservation and storage techniques for lowlevel aqueous mercury speciation. *Sci Total Environ*, 337, 253-63.
- ROSAIN, R. M. & WAI, C. M. 1973. The rate of loss of mercury from aqueous solution when stored in various containers. *Anal. Chim. Acta*, 65, 279-284.
- RUDNICK, R. L. & GAO, S. 2003. 3.01 Composition of the Continental Crust. In:
 HOLLAND, H. D. & TUREKIAN, K. K. (eds.) Treatise on Geochemistry.
 Amsterdam, Netherlands: Pergamon.
- SAIZ-LOPEZ, A., SITKIEWICZ, S. P., ROCA-SANJUÁN, D., OLIVA-ENRICH, J. M., DÁVALOS, J. Z., NOTARIO, R., JISKRA, M., XU, Y., WANG, F., THACKRAY, C. P., SUNDERLAND, E. M., JACOB, D. J., TRAVNIKOV, O., CUEVAS, C. A., ACUÑA, A. U., RIVERO, D., PLANE, J. M. C., KINNISON, D. E. & SONKE, J. E. 2018. Photoreduction of gaseous oxidized mercury changes global atmospheric mercury speciation, transport and deposition. *Nature Communications*, 9.
- SÁNCHEZ URÍA, J. E. & SANZ-MEDEL, A. 1998. Inorganic and methylmercury speciation in environmental samples. *Talanta*, 47, 509-524.
- SANDBORGH-ENGLUND, G., ELINDER, C.-G. & EKSTRAND, J. 1998. Mercury in Biological Fluids after Amalgam Removal. *J. Dental Research*, 77.
- SELIN, N., 2009,. Global Biogeochemical Cycling of Mercury; A Review, *An. Rev. Environ. Resour.*, 34, 43-64.
- SLEMR, F., WEIGELT, A., EBINGHAUS, R., BIESER, J., BRENNINKMEIJER, C. A.
 M., RAUTHE-SCHÖCH, A., HERMANN, M., MARTINSSON, B. G., VAN VELTHOVEN, P., BÖNISCH, H., NEUMAIER, M., ZAHN, A. & ZIEREIS, H.
 2018. Mercury distribution in the upper troposphere and lowermost stratosphere according to measurements by the IAGOS-CARIBIC observatory: 2014–2016. *Atmospheric Che. Phys.*, 18, 12329-12343.
- SOMMAR, J., OSTERWALDER, S. & ZHU, W. 2020. Recent advances in understanding and measurement of Hg in the environment: Surface-

atmosphere exchange of gaseous elemental mercury (Hg0). *Sci Total Environ*, 721.

- UN 2013. Minamata convention on Mercury. Kumamoto, Japan: United Nations.
- UNEP 2008. The Global Atmospheric Mercury Assessment: Sources, Emissions nad Transport. Geneva, Switzerland: Uninited Nations Environment Programme.
- UNEP 2018. Technical Background Report to the Global Mercury Assessment 2018. Geneva, Switzerland: United Nations Environment Programme.
- US, N. 2000. 2, CHEMISTRY, EXPOSURE, TOXICOKINETICS, AND TOXICODYNAMICS. *Toxicological Effects of Methylmercury.*. Washington (DC), US: National Academies Press (US).
- USEPA 1996. Method 1669 Sampling ambient water for trace metals at EPA water quality criteria levels. USEPA.
- USEPA 2002. Method 1631, Revision E: Mercury in water by oxidation, purge and trap, and cold vapour atomc fluorescence spectrometry. USEPA.
- USEPA. 2024. *Health Effects of Exposures to Mercury* [Online]. Washington D.C., United States: United States Environmental Protection Agency. Available: <u>https://www.epa.gov/mercury/health-effects-exposures-mercury</u> [Accessed 10/05/2024 2024].
- USGS 2024. Mineral Commodity Summaries 2024. Virginia, US: US Geological Survey.
- WHO 1990. Environmental Health Criteria. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organisation.
- WHO 2003. Guidelines for safe recreational water environments: coastal and fresh waters (Vol. 1). WHO.
- WHO 2005. Mercury in Drinking-water. WHO.
- WHO 2022. Guidelines for Drinking Water Quality. 4 ed.: WHO.
- YAGINUMA-SAKURAI, K., MURATA, K., IWAI-SHIMADA, M., NAKAI, K., KUROKAWA, N., TATSUTA, N. & SATOH, H. 2012. Hair-to-blood ratio and biological half-life of mercury: experimental study of methylmercury exposure through fish consumption in humans. *J. Toxicol. Sci.*, 37, 123-130.
- YOUNG, M. E. & KAPLAN, E. 2023. Cinnabar traditions across the ancient Central Andes: insights from the National Museum of the American Indian collections. *Archeol. Anthropol. Sci.*, 15.
- YU, L.-P. & YAN, X.-P. 2003. Factors affecting the stability of inorganic and methylmercury during sample storage. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 22, 245-253.

Chapter 2 – Present and Potential Future of Aqueous Mercury Preservation; A Review

This chapter was submitted to the journal *Environmental Sciences: Processes and Impacts*, and was published in February 2023. The formatting has been changed for uniformity with the rest of the thesis, and clarifying text has been added to section 2.1.

This chapter explored current literature surrounding sampling and preservation methods for Hg and its species in water samples, the difficulties faced when collecting Hg samples from environmental water sources, and recommended procedures that are the current standard. Solid-phase extraction methods, routinely used for preconcentration, separation and laboratory-based speciation in Hg analysis, were considered as potential sampling methodologies and suitable sorbents were highlighted for further optimisation as field-based sampling methods.

<u>David CP King</u>^{1,2}, Michael J Watts², Elliott Hamilton² (corresponding author), Robert JG Mortimer³, David PA Kilgour¹, Marcello Di Bonito^{1,4}

1 Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham, UK

2 Inorganic Geochemistry Facility, Centre for Environmental Geochemistry, British Geological Survey, Nottingham, UK

3 York St John University, York, UK

4 Unversità di Bologna, Bologna, Italy

CRediT Statement

David C.P. King: Conceptualisation, Writing – Original Draft, Methodology Michael
J. Watts: Conceptualisation, Funding acquisition, Review & Editing Elliott M.
Hamilton: Review & Editing Robert Mortimer: Review & Editing David P.A. Kilgour:
Review & Editing Marcello Di Bonito: Conceptualisation, Funding acquisition,
Review & Editing

Acknowledgements

Funding for D.C.P.K was provided by Nottingham Trent University and The British Geological Survey University Funding Initiative (contract number: GA/21S/002). This work is published with the permission of the Executive Director, British Geological Survey.

2A. Abstract

Mercury is considered to be one of the most toxic elements to human health. Due to pollution from industry and artisanal gold mining, mercury species are present globally in waters used for agriculture, aquaculture, and as drinking water. This review summarises methods reported for preserving mercury species in water samples and highlights the associated hazards and issues with each. This includes the handling of acids in an uncontrolled environment, breakage of sample containers, and the collection and transport of sample volumes in excess of 1 L, all of which pose difficulties to both *in-situ* collection and transportation. Literature related to aqueous mercury preservation from 2000 – 2021 was reviewed, as well as any commonly cited and relevant references. Amongst others, solid-phase extraction techniques were explored for preservation and preconcentration of total and speciated mercury in water samples. Additionally, the potential as a safe, *in-situ* preservation and storage method for mercury species was summarised.

The review highlighted that the stability of mercury is increased when adsorbed on a solid-phase and therefore the metal and its species can be preserved without the need for hazardous reagents or materials in the field. The mercury species can then be eluted upon return to a laboratory, where sensitive analytical detection and speciation methods can be better applied. Developments in solid phase extraction as a preservation method for unstable metals such as mercury will improve the quality of representative environmental data, and further improve toxicology and environmental monitoring studies.

2.1. Introduction

2.1.1. Background (Mercury in the environment)

Mercury (Hg) is ubiquitous in the environment and is one of the most toxic elements to human health, being described as one of the 13 priority hazardous substances under the Water Framework Directive. Concentrations in drinking water are restricted to just 6 μ g L⁻¹ total Hg for acute poisoning (WHO, 2005, WHO, 2022) and a tolerable intake set at 2 μ g total Hg kg⁻¹ body weight per day (Risher, 2003). Both acute and long-term exposure to the metal can result in severe, irreversible neurological and developmental complications, commonly referred to as Minamata disease. It is therefore one of the most widely studied and monitored environmental pollutants. There are three main species of Hg found in natural waters: inorganic mercury (Hg²⁺), elemental mercury (Hg⁰), and organic species such as methylmercury (MeHg⁺) and dimethylmercury (Me₂Hg). These species are often highly mobile (Kim and Zoh,
2012) and their most significant environmental interactions are shown in Figure 2.1. Making up 1-40 % of the total Hg fraction, MeHg⁺ is considered the most toxic Hg species. Organic Hg species are highly bioaccessible and prone to bioaccumulation. For example, predatory fish can have up to 10⁶ times higher concentrations of total Hg than the surrounding waters, with 95 % of this being methylmercury (USEPA, 1999). Total aqueous Hg concentrations are usually less than 10 ng L¹ Hg in uncontaminated natural freshwaters, with polluted waters generally being defined as higher than 100 ng L⁻¹ and even being reported at over 50 μ g L⁻¹ Hg (WHO, 2005, Bloom, 1994, Driscoll et al., 2007, Ngure et al., 2014). Monitoring total Hg and speciation data is vital to prevent human and environmental exposure to harmful concentrations of the metal. Due to the naturally low concentrations of total and speciated Hg, sample pre-treatment and preparation are vital to ensure accurate and precise measurement with appropriate detection limits. Many preservation and preparation techniques for Hg recommend filtration of the water sample. Dissolved Hg concentrations may adsorb to particulate matter over time, altering the measurable dissolved concentration and posing different analytical challenges (USEPA, 1996, USEPA, 2002, Parker and Bloom, 2005). The potential for toxicity of particulate-bound Hg is not well researched (Bosch et al., 2009, Gworek et al., 2016), with toxicity studies focusing on dissolved species concentrations. For speciation analysis, sample pre-treatment methods should generally avoid inter-species conversion, to provide representative species data of the sample.



Figure 2.1. Biogeochemical cycle of mercury in the environment. Species descripted: Elemental mercury, Hg^{0} ; inorganic mercury, Hg^{2+} ; methylmercury, MeHg; particulate bound mercury, $Hg_{(p)}$; mercury sulfide, HgS (Adapted from Kim and Zoh (2012))

2.1.2. Preservation and storage: importance and challenges

Preventing losses of Hg from water samples has been an ongoing problem for many years (Yu and Yan, 2003, Leopold et al., 2010, Zhang et al., 2020). Safely preserving and storing Hg concentrations in water samples is particularly difficult. Many species are unstable in water, with total Hg concentrations can show losses of >70 % within 1 week (Yu and Yan, 2003, Zhang et al., 2020). Elemental Hg⁰ is volatile in solution and so readily escapes from uncapped samples or into any container headspace (Yu and Yan, 2003, Beckers and Rinklebe, 2017). Inorganic Hg²⁺ is the most stable species in solution but is still prone to losses through sorption to the container walls or reduction to less stable species (Yu and Yan, 2003, Lo and Wai, 1975, Leermakers et al., 1994). Methylmercury and other organomercurials can undergo photolytic reduction to Hg⁰ and can adsorb to container walls, as well as minor losses occurring from coagulation with humic acids (Yu and Yan, 2003, Leermakers et al., 1994). Any loss of Hg from the sample or contamination of the sample will produce erroneous results and limit the usefulness of the data, especially for samples used in environmental monitoring and human health studies.

Wall-sorption of Hg has been extensively studied in the past (Parker and Bloom, 2005, Yu and Yan, 2003, Zhang et al., 2020, Lo and Wai, 1975, Carr and Wilkniss, 1973, Bothner and Robertson, 1975, Hammerschmidt et al., 2011) and the choice of sample container material has been noted as a major factor in mitigating this. Glass and PTFE containers are preferred for sampling Hg in waters, as wall sorption is greatly reduced in these materials (USEPA, 2002). However, PTFE is relatively expensive when compared to other materials such as polyethylene, as demonstrated in Table 2.1.

Container material	Approximate price per 100 mL sample				
	bottle*				
High density polyethylene (HDPE)	\$1.50				
Polypropylene (PP)	\$2				
Borosilicate glass	\$1				
Polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE)	\$40				
* Prices are obtained from online yonders (SigmaAldrich, EischerScientific) and converted from GPD					

Table 2.1. Approximate price comparison of container materials from online suppliers (sourced fromFischerScientific on 4th March 2022)

* Prices are obtained from online vendors (SigmaAldrich, FischerScientific) and converted from GBP (£) to USD (\$) (4th March 2022)

Glass containers are heavier and will become hazardous should breakage occur. Polyethylene (PE) and polypropylene (PP) are relatively more affordable alternatives than PTFE or glass, are often used in water sampling (USEPA, 1996) and are more robust than glass containers, but can pose a significant risk of Hg loss if the sample is untreated (Zhang et al., 2020, Hammerschmidt et al., 2011).

2.1.3. Scope of the Review and Methodology

The aim of this review was to critically assess the current literature related to the sampling, preservation and storage of Hg samples during transport from field to laboratory, to improve the likelihood of obtaining representative concentration and speciation data.

For the current preservation and pre-treatment methods, key benefits were highlighted and limitations associated with the different methods were considered. Using the WorldCat Library database, NERC library services and ScienceDirect literature database, peer-reviewed, published literature from 2000 to 2021 was reviewed using the search terms "mercury", "water" or "aquatic", and "preservation", "storage" or "speciation", for example "mercury aquatic preservation", "mercury water speciation", etc. Literature that involved the preservation and storage of aqueous Hg was reviewed. Any papers that were frequently cited throughout the reviewed literature were also assessed and included if relevant. The benefits of the preservation methods were explored, and any hazards associated with in-situ use and transportation were highlighted. The current applications of solid-phase extraction (SPE) in Hg analysis were examined and the potential benefits of the sorbents for sampling and preservation were explored. For solid-phase methods, the search terms "mercury", "preconcentration" or "speciation" or "removal" or "recovery", "water" or "aquatic" were used, for example "mercury preconcentration in water", and similarly any common and relevant references were assessed and included. Some key considerations of the reviewed SPE methods were: the retention of the target analyte, the recovery of the analyte upon desorption, and the compatibility of the desorption method with analysis techniques.

A summary of literature on the preservation of Hg and its species by addition of a reagent is given in Appendix 2 Supplementary table A2.1. and a summary of literature on the solid-phase extraction of Hg and its species is given in Appendix 2 Supplementary table A2.2. The extent of the literature found in this review should be considered. The search terms used provided a comprehensive list of literature related to the development and use of preservation methods for Hg in water samples, but

may not have included all relevant articles demonstrating successful use of current in-field sampling methods.

2.2. Current trends for preservation and solid-phase extraction methods

2.2.1. Field measurements

Analysis of analytes and their species *in-situ* eliminates the need for preservation and reduces the risk of inter-species conversion and loss of analyte over time, providing a more accurate representation of real-world chemistry. However, there is a greater risk of sample contamination and a greater difficulty maintaining appropriate analytical conditions, due to a lower control over the environment when compared to a laboratory.

Commercially available field probes have been developed for *in-situ* Hg²⁺ stripping voltammetry analysis. These are reported to measure Hg²⁺ in the field with detection limits of 5 μ g L⁻¹, as well as other trace and transition metals. For pristine waters, these probes will likely struggle to produce an accurate quantitative result as mercury concentrations can be as low as 1 ng L⁻¹ Hg²⁺. Rocha et al. (2019) reported detection limits of 5 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ in river water using a portable analyser, unsuitable for the WHO guideline value of 6 μ g L⁻¹ Hg (WHO, 2022) but may be useful for indicating severe Hg pollution. A similar detection limit was reported by Bhardwaj et al. (2020) in pond and drain water. Gold nanoparticle electrodes have been developed by Hwang et al. (2021) for Hg²⁺ determination, achieving detection limits of 1.7 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ with a linear response between 10-100 μ g L⁻¹ in landfill leachates. This highlights the ability for these technologies to be used in difficult matrices, however detection limits are currently unsuitable for speciation analysis or for Hg concentrations found in most natural waters.

Other methods of Hg field analysis use headspace Hg vapor analysers, relying on the evolution of elemental Hg vapour from water samples (Kriger and Turner, 1995). These probes have been reported to achieve detection limits of approximately 0.09 μ g L⁻¹ Hg⁰, but are designed specifically for Hg concentration in air; preparative chemicals are required for other matrices to evolve Hg vapour and the data must be converted to other units for comparison to other analysis methods and water studies (WHO, 2005, WHO, 2022, Bloom, 1994, Driscoll et al., 2007, Ngure et al., 2014).

2.2.2. Acidification

As field measurement of Hg in natural waters in not currently possible, preservation of the dissolved metal is vital for Hg analysis. Recommended methods for

preservation of Hg in natural water samples generally follow the guidance of other trace metals, namely acidifying water samples with nitric (HNO₃), hydrochloric (HCl), or sulphuric acid (H₂SO₄) (USEPA, 2002, USEPA, 1996, Parker and Bloom, 2005). The choice of acid is important for Hg stability; the use of HNO₃ has been found to still be susceptible to large losses of Hg from water samples through both volatilisation and sorption to container walls (Yu and Yan, 2003, Zhang et al., 2020, Lo and Wai, 1975, Krivan and Haas, 1988).

Hydrochloric acid is recommended as a suitable preservation method for dissolved Hg species in freshwater samples (Carr and Wilkniss, 1973). Inorganic Hg²⁺ can complex with chloride ions to form the stable HgCl₂ complex, and tri- or tetra-chloromercury complexes if the chloride concentration is further increased (Bothner and Robertson, 1975, Louie et al., 2012). These are more stable in solution than other species and are not co-precipitated by metal oxides and hydroxides (Addis Lockwood and Chen, 1973, Inoue and Munemori, 1979, Hylander et al., 2000). A 1 % (v/v) HCl solution was reported to prevent loss of Hg²⁺ over 55 days in 500 mL HDPE containers (Louie et al., 2012). The lower pH and the presence of chloride ions increases the stability of Hg²⁺, as demonstrated by the preservative abilities of HNO₃ (6% v/v HNO₃) for Hg in seawater reported by Gardner and Gunn (1997) and 20 mg L⁻¹ NaCl + 0.15% (v/v) HNO₃ for Hg in deionised water reported by Louie et al. (2012).

These conditions also increase the stability of MeHg in water samples. In a 0.5% (v/v) HCI solution stored in Teflon containers at 1-4 °C in the dark, MeHg is reported to be stable for up to 250 days in both freshwater and seawater (Parker and Bloom, 2005). Sulphuric acid has also been recommended for the preservation of aqueous MeHg in saline media, as hydrochloric acid (>0.4% v/v) may result in the artificial formation of monomethyl mercury during the distillation and ethylation process typically used for MeHg speciation (Parker and Bloom, 2005).

When considering speciation, Bloom (1994) reported that acidification may alter labile Hg²⁺ resulting in desorption from particulates in unfiltered samples, oxidation of Hg⁰ or coagulation of dissolved organic carbon and humic acids which can precipitate Hg from solution.

2.2.3. Solid-phase extraction

Solid-phase extraction offers the potential for reagent-free field sampling of Hg from water samples. Sorbents and solid-phase methods are frequently used in the analysis of dissolved Hg for sample preparation and pre-treatment, such as preconcentration (Blanco et al., 2000, Sánchez et al., 2000, Pohl and Pruisisz, 2004, Balarama Krishna

et al., 2005, Vermillion and Hudson, 2007, Leopold et al., 2009a, Basadi et al., 2020), speciation (Sánchez et al., 2000, Balarama Krishna et al., 2005, Vermillion and Hudson, 2007, Cairns et al., 2008, Balarama Krishna et al., 2010, Yin et al., 2010, Zhang et al., 2016) and removal of Hg (Vermillion and Hudson, 2007, Ritter and Bibler, 1992, Chiarle et al., 2000, Monteagudo and Ortiz, 2000, Wang et al., 2009, Zhang et al., 2010, Rajasimman and Rajamohan, 2017). Solid-phase extraction was previously studied for retention and stabilisation of heavy metals for analysis at a later date (Blanco et al., 2000, Hanhauser et al., 2020). Adsorption of Hg to a solid-phase mitigates the risk of loss from wall sorption; there is less chance of contact between an analyte bound to a solid-phase and the container walls when compared to an analyte in an aqueous-phase. This approach has been investigated in the past (Leopold et al., 2010, Blanco et al., 2000, Schlathauer et al., 2019), but is not in widespread use.

2.2.3.1. Thiol- functionalised resins

A common approach to Hg-selectivity in sorbents is to exploit the affinity for Hg of thiol-containing compounds; diphenylthiocarbazone (dithizone) (Yin et al., 2010, Mahmoud et al., 2000, Wang et al., 2022), 2-mercaptoethanol (Margetínová et al., 2008), diethyldithiocarbamate (Blanco et al., 2000), and other compounds have been used to either functionalise resins or for complexation with aqueous Hg. These reagents provided recoveries of inorganic, methyl-, ethyl- and phenyl- species of Hg of over 70 %, with preconcentration factors suitable for aqueous Hg concentrations of between 0.1 – 50 µg L⁻¹ (Blanco et al., 2000, Yin et al., 2010, Margetínová et al., 2008, Mahmoud, 1999). While most work focuses on a deionised water matrix, Margetínová et al. (2008) successfully extracted Hg from natural freshwaters, by complexing Hg with 2-mercaptoethanol before passing samples through C18 columns. The use of 2-mercaptoethanol as a complexing agent comes with separate risks as the reagent is volatile, has a strong odour, and the concentrated solution is highly toxic, so was reportedly diluted to a 5 mM 2-mercaptoethanol solution before use. The high organic concentration of the methanol eluent solution limits the analytical techniques available to this method, relying on HPLC/CV-AAS for speciation analysis.

Blanco et al. (2000) achieved a similar extraction by immobilising diethyldithiocarbamate onto homemade C18 microcolumns. The C18 immobilised diethyldithiocarbamate column used a 50 mL sample volume to achieve recoveries of >70 % for Hg²⁺ and >65 % for MeHg⁺ from freshwater river samples, with detection

limits of 0.2 μ g L⁻¹. The diethyldithiocarbamate modified C18 columns showed potential as an in-field preservation method, as samples could be readily passed through the microcolumns in the field and inorganic Hg²⁺ is stablised for approximately 2 weeks. The detection limits are unsuitable for typical concentrations in many unpolluted natural water samples, primarily being suitable for areas of moderate to high Hg pollution. There was a substantial decline in recovery of MeHg after 2 weeks of storage, even when held at 4°C in the dark. Over 85 % of the spiked MeHg could be recovered within 7 days of extraction to the cartridge, declining to <50 % by 14 days. This trend was also seen with Hg²⁺, albeit much less significant with a recovery of 80 % Hg²⁺ after 30 days storage. This method was applied to LC-ICP-MS, allowing for a fraction of the sample volume required from the technique reported by Margetínová et al. (2008). In addition, the eluent composition (0.5% v/v HCl + 5% w/v sodium thiosulphate) is compatible with a wide variety of analytical techniques, so is suitable for a broader scope of laboratories.

Dithizone functionalised C18 columns were developed by Yin et al. (2010) to effectively recovery Hg species from tap water samples (Hg²⁺, MeHg⁺, EtHg⁺). The method used just 3 mL 100 mmol L⁻¹ sodium thiosulphate solution to elute the retained species, from sample volumes of 100 mL. This eluent choice allows a wide variety of analytical techniques to be applied but may show limitations where acidification or oxidation of the sample is required, due to the formation of solid sulphur which may decrease Hg concentrations by formation of solid Hg₂S. Using HPLC-ICP-MS analysis, detection limits of 3 ng L⁻¹ Hg were reported from sample injection volumes of just 20 μ L. This work supported by Wang et al. (2022), using a 1% (v/v) 2-mercaptoethanol eluent for elution of Hg species. This eluent is still compatible with a wide range of analytical techniques with some careful adjustments, such as use of organic introduction systems for ICP-MS analysis for routine use.

2.2.3.2. Commercially available chelating resins

Commercially available ion exchange resins have been developed for the removal of Hg from industrial wastewaters; Duolite $GT-73^{TM}$ and AmberSep $GT-74^{TM}$ are examples of these. The recovery and preconcentration of Hg in solution using these resins has been explored as diffusive gradient thin-film cartridges (Pohl and Pruisisz, 2004, Chiarle et al., 2000, Pelcova et al., 2014). Pelcova et al. (2014) reported that both Duolite $GT-73^{TM}$ and AmberSep $GT-74^{TM}$ can remove inorganic, methyl-, ethyl-, and phenylmercury from both tap and river waters with limits of detection between 30 - 50 ng L⁻¹ Hg concentrations. The loading capacities for Hg are often high, >70

mg Hg g⁻¹ resin (Fondeur et al., 2002), as these resins were designed for the treatment of wastewaters with high Hg concentrations, often greater than 500 µg L⁻¹. These efficiently and selectively extract Hg²⁺ from a variety of water matrices but some studies reported difficulty in recovery from the resins by elution (Pohl and Pruisisz, 2004, Pelcova et al., 2014), instead resorting to either digestion of the resin prior to analysis or direct absorption spectrometry measurement of the resin. From solutions containing up to 100 µg L⁻¹ Hg²⁺, over 92 % of the total Hg concentration could be readily recovered by digestion of the Duolite GT-73 resin[™], with negligible losses in the digestion step (Pohl and Pruisisz, 2004). Duolite GT-73[™] is now out of production, but AmberSep GT-74[™] and other variations of this resin are still available (Pelcova et al., 2014, Pelcova et al., 2015).

2.2.3.3. Cationic exchange resins

As Hg species are predominantly cationic in the aquatic environment, cation exchange resins offer a method to remove these from solution. These resins are effective at removing cationic Hg species such as Hg(OH)₂²⁺ complexes, but there may be issue with the sorption of uncharged complexes and species, such as HgCl₂ or MeHgCl. The conditioned resins are often washed with deionised water prior to extraction, as this decreases the likelihood of forming uncharged or negatively charged Hg complexes in the resin which impede sorption (Bothner and Robertson, 1975, Addis Lockwood and Chen, 1973).

A commercially available resin, Dowex 50W X4TM, was found to remove inorganic Hg and some organic Hg species from a variety of natural water matrices whilst allowing for elution using 0.1 % thiourea and 8 % hydrochloric acid (Krata et al., 2003). Gomez et al. (2014) used the commercially available Dowex MarathonTM cation exchange resin as comparison to activated carbon and treated and non-treated coals. They reported the cationic exchange resin had the best sorption capacity, 98 μ g Hg g⁻¹ resin, and recoveries, >95 % Hg²⁺, of the studied sorbents. These experiments used 50 mL sample volume but used a high Hg concentration, between 0.1 – 998.4 mg L⁻¹.

Cationic exchange columns have been used for online preconcentration of Hg species in sea waters, achieving detection limits of 42 pg L⁻¹ when using HPLC-ICP-MS analysis (Jia et al., 2012). This indicates suitability for the analysis of low Hg concentrations in waters. Ion exchange sorbents, columns and cartridges are commercially available and often relatively inexpensive. Some technical knowledge and training are required for field use, but use of hazardous materials is limited in field

applications. Other cations present may compete for the active sites of the resin, but high loading capacities would overcome this. Issues may also arise in samples with high chloride concentrations due to the formation of uncharged complexes that would not be retained by the sorbent and pass through to the effluent (Bothner and Robertson, 1975). Metals are eluted from these columns using strong acids, such as hydrochloric acid. While this is compatible with many analysis techniques, the concentrations of acid may require a dilution and thus reduce the overall sensitivity of the method.

2.2.3.4. Polyaniline

Polyaniline is a readily available polymeric sorbent that can be used for removal of metals from aqueous solutions and preconcentration of trace metals. Studies have primarily examined inorganic Hg species by addition of a bulk resin to a water sample, but separation of methylmercury is also possible (Balarama Krishna et al., 2005, Balarama Krishna et al., 2010). Mercury analyses using polyaniline for preconcentration have achieved 2-3 ng L⁻¹ Hg limits of detection using CV-AAS and FAAS, suitable for uncontaminated natural water and drinking water; these matrices usually show Hg concentrations below 10 ng L⁻¹ (Leopold et al., 2009b). Mercury has been successfully preconcentrated with polyaniline from a variety of matrices including bottled water, lake and groundwaters, seawater, and even fish tissue using 100 mL sample and 10 mL 0.3 % HCl + 0.5 % thiourea eluent (Balarama Krishna et al., 2005, Balarama Krishna et al., 2010). The eluent is suitable for a wide range of analytical detection methods, due to the relatively low organic compound concentration and acid concentration.

Some polyaniline composites have also been examined for Hg removal, to improve resin stability, Hg selectivity and efficiency of sorption. Polyvinyl alcohol (Vafaei Molamahmood et al., 2018), humic acid (Zhang et al., 2020), polystyrene (Gupta et al., 2004), and other reagents have been used to create polyaniline composites, usually with an optimal pH range of 4-7. The predominant Hg species at this pH range is $Hg(OH)_2$ species, which will form Hg-N bonds with the polyaniline units and other bonds such as Hg-S with the composite molecules. At pH <4 the polyaniline nitrogen may be protonated, reducing the number of possible Hg-N bonds that can be formed.

2.2.3.5. Magnetic SPE

In the past decade, developments for solid-phase extraction technologies have incorporated the use of magnetic particles. By functionalising magnetic particles, the sorbent can be added to a sample to sorb Hg and then be readily removed by applying a magnetic field. The selectivity and efficiency of the sorbent is dictated by the functionalisation; some previously used compounds include 1,2-ethanedithiol (Chen et al., 2021), 3-mercaptopropyltrimethoxysilane (Zhang et al., 2016), 1,5-diphenylcarbazide (Zhai et al., 2010), and other task-specific monoliths (Song et al., 2021a). These have achieved 0.1-100 ng L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ detection limits of inorganic Hg in real-world aquatic matrices such as lake, river water and for spiked tap water. The 1,2-ethanedithiol functionalised particle also adsorbed cadmium (Cd) and lead (Pb) ions from solution with 0.82 ng L⁻¹ Cd and Pb limits of detection (Chen et al., 2021), making the method more desirable commercially and for heavy metal pollution studies. Song et al. (2021b) synthesised a task specific monolith with vinylboronic anhydride pyridine complex for functionalising the magnetic particles. This was synthesised for magnetic solid-phase extraction microextraction of inorganic Hg²⁺, methyl-, ethyl- and phenyl- Hg. Using the chelating sorbent, recoveries of up to 94 % and detection limits of 20-160 ng L⁻¹ could be achieved.

Magnetic solid-phase particles can be readily removed from solution with a magnetic field and can be used to achieve detection limits of <100 ng L⁻¹ Hg. Speciation of Hg²⁺ and MeHg can be achieved and changing functional groups on the sorbent can allow for multi-elemental extraction. The sorbent can be applied to a water sample collected in a container, allowed to sit in the sample for an appropriate length of time, and then the enriched sorbent can be removed using a magnet. Elution from magnetic sorbents is generally achieved using HCl or HNO₃ and thiourea in relatively low concentrations. Analysis is typically conducted using ICP-MS techniques, however the composition of eluent and the preconcentration of the metal make the methods compatible with less sophisticated techniques such as AAS. The main limitation for magnetic SPE is the multi-step synthesis required to produce the sorbent, as the methods used often produce approximately 1 g of sorbent and scaling-up the synthesis has not yet been explored (Chen et al., 2021). The product must also be characterised before use to ensure a homogenous and effective sorbent.

2.2.3.6. Gold-based SPE

Many metals form amalgams with Hg and this property is frequently exploited for solid-phase extraction of Hg vapour. Cold vapour (CV) methods use gold to amalgamate reduced Hg vapour, trapping the analyte in place and allowing release of the preconcentrated Hg by thermal desorption. As the amalgam is formed on the solid particles, problems arising from interferents are often negligible and so can be readily applied to environmental matrices. This has been examined and exploited in

the form of gold nanoparticle columns (Leopold et al., 2009a, Panichev et al., 2014, Stock et al., 2021), greatly increasing the surface area when compared to a bulk solid. Similarly, columns made using gold nanosheets offer a relatively simple method of extracting and preconcentrating aqueous Hg with very good sensitivity, as low as 80 pg L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ (Zierhut et al., 2010). Schlathauer et al. (2019) developed a dipstick of immobilised gold nanoparticles, allowing for a simple field-sampling method that can achieve levels of sensitivity suitable for pristine waters and sea waters. As a simple dipstick, this method is easily conducted in the field without the need for extensive training or technical competency, as well as posing little hazard to the operator or during transport. While technically capable, the cost and complexity of manufacturing the dipstick alongside the need for annealing at 600 °C before each measurement currently prevents this from being easily reproduced. Additionally, gold-based SPE typically uses thermal desorption to liberate Hg from the solid-phase. While this effectively eliminates potential interferences, the detection method becomes limited to those suited for gases and vapors, such as CV-AAS.

2.2.4. Critical review of sample preservation and solid-phase extraction

While acidification of water samples for Hg analysis is commonly recommended, the handling and transportation of acids is becoming increasingly more regulated, particularly where controls over health and safety are more difficult, i.e. handling concentrated acids outside of a laboratory setting, and where limitations are imposed for international transportation of acids (Figure 2.2). Any handling of acids comes with inherent hazards and risks due to their corrosive nature. This makes preservation methods that require concentrated acids particularly difficult to conduct in the field, as well as for transportation of acids and acidified samples particularly transport by air where regulations are becoming stricter (IATA, 2022). Historically, oxidising agents were also recommended for Hg preservation (Feldman, 1974) by oxidising the Hg species to the stable Hg²⁺, however this destroys speciation data and so has fallen out of favour. Other reagent-based methods for preservation show potential, but have not been fully explored (Yu and Yan, 2003). For example, increasing the ionic strength of solution by addition of ionic salts, i.e. NaCI, allows for a less hazardous method to preserve Hg (Zhang et al., 2020), but literature primarily focuses on Hg²⁺ in spiked and synthetic matrices with little assessment of un-spiked water environmental samples. In addition, elevated chloride concentrations can co-precipitate in MeHg distillation and ethylation procedures (Parker and Bloom, 2005), making the procedure unsuitable for traditional speciation analysis.

Due to the importance of Hg speciation analysis for toxicity studies, there is a concern for interspecies conversion and loss of sample integrity during preparation and storage of water samples (Colman et al., 1997, Hintelmann, 1999, Snell et al., 1999, Hammerschmidt and Fitzgerald, 2001). Individual samples are often taken for each desired species and preserved using different methods (Mladenova et al., 2012). This approach allows the operator to collect speciation data for Hg, but vastly increases same volumes required and limits the environments in which Hg studies can be conducted. For example, studies in developing countries and remote area must ship samples internationally for analysis (Bonzongo et al., 1996, Kotnik et al., 2007). If samples are shipped unpreserved, then speciation data may not be considered as representative of the sampled environment.



Figure 2.2. The sampling and preservation process, with key challenges highlighted

Recent developments in SPE for Hg analysis have focused on preparative methods such as online-speciation and -preconcentration; hyphenating a chromatographic separation to the detection method to enrich the analyte, improving detection limits and analytical sensitivity. The SPE preparation methods often operate in a broad pH range, usually optimal at pH 4-7 so suitable for many natural waters. These methods are often developed for mass spectrometry techniques (Blanco et al., 2000, Chen et al., 2021, Song et al., 2021b) and atomic absorption and fluorescence techniques (Blanco et al., 2000, Basadi et al., 2020, Mahmoud et al., 2000, Margetínová et al., 2008, Black et al., 2007, Duval et al., 2020), due to their comparatively high sensitivity for environmental metal analysis.

Ion exchange resins sorbents and columns are commercially available and have been shown to sorb both inorganic and organic Hg species from aquatic media. Chelating resins are the more prominent choice for Hg sorption in the literature, as the affinity for sulphur allows for selective extraction of Hg. Some chelating resins, however, require synthesis or processing to create columns and cartridges for field use. Commercially available resins are available but have shown difficulty in eluting retained Hg species, requiring digestion processes to liberate the adsorbed Hg which may affect speciation data through oxidation of the retained species. Cation exchange resins only require an acid, HCI in this case, and thiourea to efficiently elute Hg, but these may be more susceptible to competition with other cations in the sample. Typically, ion exchange resins use dilute acids and weak organic concentrations to elute immobilised Hg species. The eluent composition allows for analysis using a wide range of instruments and can therefore be applied in most laboratories.

Functionalised magnetic sorbents can be added to a collected water sample and then readily removed by application of a magnetic field, either an electro-magnet or a strong, permanent magnet. These sorbents are relatively simple to use in the field, with minimal training requirements and a high Hg extraction efficiency. The eluent can typically be used with a wide variety of analysis techniques, although some developed sorbents require methanol (Song et al., 2021a) which will limit the compatibility of the methods. The synthesis of these sorbents is often more complicated than other sorbent materials, and may require work to scale-up synthesis to be viable as a widespread sampling procedure.

Gold-based sorbents are some of the most selective and efficient sorbents available for Hg extraction and preservation, but come with a considerable cost, due to the raw materials price. Therefore, a high reusability is necessary to offset the cost. Desorption of the retained Hg is conducted via thermal desorption, which limits the compatible analysis techniques to those which can measure Hg vapour, such as AAS.

Another technology, diffusive gradient thin-film (DGT), was investigated for the sorption and storage of Hg in the field (Pelcova et al., 2014, Gao et al., 2011), with analysis after transport to the laboratory. These are usually deployed into a water source, for example a river or waste treatment water tank, for 4 – 24 hours, where the Hg species become bound to the resin (Gao et al., 2014, Pelcova et al., 2015). For some DGT resins, Hg is irreversibly bound and so must be digested before analysis or alternative analysis methods must be used (Pelcova et al., 2014, Pelcova et al., 2015). For other resins, Hg species are elutable with either thiourea or HCI the latter being preferable for many analysis techniques and when ethylation of the Hg species is required for MeHg quantification (Gao et al., 2014).

2.3. Future perspectives

2.3.1. The future of Hg field analysis

Emerging technologies use nanoparticles and colorimetric methods to determine Hg²⁺ in natural waters. Fluorescence probes have been developed for Hg²⁺ determination, for example Kaewnok et al. (2021) developed a [5]helicene-based probe highly selective for Hg^{2+} which can be used as a test-strip with a detection limit of 6.5 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺. This work requires development for the in-field screening of Hg²⁺ in environmental samples. Rhodamine nanoparticles have been developed for smartphone-based colorimetric analysis, as a method to detect Hg²⁺ in pristine water matrices (Zhao et al., 2020, Aydin and Yilmaz, 2021). These nanoparticles are highly selective for Hg²⁺, showing little interference with other metals. Recoveries of over 95 % were reported for both drinking water and dam water with a limit of detection of 1.3 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ (Aydin and Yilmaz, 2021), and 0.1 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ in spiked deionised water with recoveries >80 % Hg²⁺ in river and lake water (Zhao et al., 2020). Lopreside et al. (2021) reported colorimetric smartphone detection of Hg²⁺ using an orthogonal paper biosensor. Using three different biotic "reagents", Hg²⁺ concentrations and toxicity can be evaluated simultaneously. The sensors each determine Hg over different periods of time, between 17 - 60 minutes, and with varying limits of detection, $0.58 - 17 \mu g L^{-1} H g^{2+}$. This allows for either quantitative or semi-quantitative analysis, if required. The use of multiple sensors reduces the chance of interference by other compounds and elements in the matrix, however silver and cadmium reportedly inhibit the activity of the sensors.

With the prevalence of smartphones and simplicity of use, colorimetric methods are likely to become a mainstay in field analysis methods for trace metals in the future. The biggest challenges to analysis in the field are the limit of detection in relevant matrices, determination of different Hg species and contamination of the sample. While good practice can overcome sample contamination issues, the sensitivity of portable instruments is currently not suitable for mercury concentrations less than the WHO guideline limit of 6 μ g L⁻¹ total Hg, or for speciation analysis. Current field analyses of Hg species are unable to achieve appropriate sensitivity, as Hg species are often found in concentrations <10 ng L⁻¹ particularly in unpolluted sites. The portable instruments tend to favour analysis of Hg²⁺, neglecting the determination of MeHg and other relevant species. This limits their usefulness for toxicological and monitoring studies, as organic Hg species data is vital for assessing the health impact of Hg concentrations in waters. With these current restraints, analysts must weigh up improved analysis and sensitivity in laboratory measurements versus representative but less accurate data measured in the field.

2.3.2. Solid-phase extraction as a sampling and preservation method

Solid-phase extraction shows potential as future reagent-free sampling methods for Hg in natural water samples, as columns and microcolumns (Blanco et al., 2000, Leopold et al., 2009a, Yin et al., 2010, Margetínová et al., 2008, Krata et al., 2003, Zierhut et al., 2010), as DGT cartridges (Pelcova et al., 2014, Pelcova et al., 2015), particles added directly to samples (Zhang et al., 2016), or as a dipstick (Schlathauer et al., 2019). The ability to extract Hg from solution and retain the metal on a solid bed reduces the likelihood of Hg loss over time; volatilisation is reduced due to strong interactions with the stationary phase and wall sorption is reduced as the analyte is immobilised on a solid phase with little interaction with the container walls. By immobilising the analyte to a solid phase, the likelihood of chemical changes is reduced, and speciation data can be preserved (Blanco et al., 2000, Zhang et al., 2016, Wang et al., 2022). Most column-based SPE methods are relatively simple to conduct and, once prepared, can be used in the field to extract dissolved Hg without the need for additional reagents. The use of columns and cartridges also eliminate the need for glass containers, reducing hazards from breakages.

One promising SPE methods for Hg preservation, gold-nanoparticle dipsticks, are effective at removing Hg from natural water samples (Schlathauer et al., 2019). The dipsticks can be simply dipped into a water sample, with little knowledge required for field-use, few possible interferents and is a relatively quick method at only 10 - 20 minutes per sample. The dipstick must be annealed at 600 °C to ensure gold nanoparticle formation and the synthesis was reported to require a system for depositing a gold vapour to a defined area on the stick. This limits the ability to scale-up production of the dipstick for routine use, however the article reported excellent reusability at 145 cycles of sampling and annealing without performance loss. While offering superb extraction and recovery, the gold-based sorbents are limited to techniques for analysing Hg vapours, such as AAS, due to the requirement for thermal desorption. This may limit the overall usefulness of the technique, as other analysis methods cannot be used as readily.

Other sorbents, such as thiol-functionalised sorbents or functionalised magnetic solidphases, are typically compatible with a wider variety of analytical techniques due to eluent composition. Often, the eluents used are a dilute acid (Blanco et al., 2000, Balarama Krishna et al., 2005, Yin et al., 2010, Krata et al., 2003, Vafaei Molamahmood et al., 2018, Chen et al., 2021) or a low organic compound concentration (Blanco et al., 2000, Balarama Krishna et al., 2005, Yin et al., 2010, Zhang et al., 2016, Krata et al., 2003, Chen et al., 2021), so are not as restricted as thermal desorption. In addition, inorganic and methyl- Hg species were retained and stored on diethyldithiocarbamate immobilized C18 microcolumns for up to 2-weeks and 1 week respectively before elution (Blanco et al., 2000), highlighting the potential for reagent-free field sampling while preserving speciation. These columns, microcolumns, and cartridges are simple to use in the field, with minimal training requirements and little-to-no risk to the operator. With high recoveries and readily incorporating preconcentration of Hg species, SPE methods offer the ability to collect and preserve representative Hg concentration and speciation data, while being suitable to many analysis techniques and laboratory settings.

The cost of the SPE methods is often higher than that of sample acidification but the reduction in storage space and sample volume, as well as reduced risk to the operator and simpler field-application, offset the cost (Table 2.2). Preconcentration, usually via SPE, may be required for samples only treated by acidification, so sorbents may already be required. A currently unexplored risk of columns and cartridges is the accumulation of Hg from ambient storage conditions; this is likely mitigated by choice of casing material and appropriate storage, but further work on this is needed. However, avoiding storage in areas of with Hg vapour contamination may make this concern negligible.

Another important, yet unresolved issue is the lack of validated *in-situ* analytical techniques that can accurately measure Hg species concentrations. Without the determination of species concentration at the point of collection, interspecies conversion during storage and transportation cannot be fully validated for environmental samples and so speciation data determined in the laboratory may not be representative of the real-world concentrations.

Preservation/	Relevant	Main costs	Approximate	Sample holding	Application in the	Cost-benefit	
preparation method	species		reagent cost per	time	field		
			sample*				
Acidification (HCl and	Total Hg,	HCl and HNO_3 divided by	\$2.50 per 500 mL	6-12 months	Addition of 1% (v/v)	+ Relatively cheap per sample	
HNO₃)	Hg ²⁺ ,	samples at 1 %	sample		acid to a collected	+ Recommended	
	MeHg				water sample,	 Separate samples are usually required for 	
					either at a base-	speciation techniques (i.e. distillation for MeHg)	
					camp or in a	 Needs to be added to samples when at a base- 	
					laboratory after	camp or laboratory, to ensure safety measures	
					shipping	 Potential difficulties and regulations in 	
						transportation of samples	
Thiol-functionalised	Hg ²⁺ ,	Price of cartridges and	\$5 per sample	Not	Water samples are	+ Highly selective for Hg and can be filled with water	
ion exchange	MeHg	approximate price of		investigated	passed through	prior to sampling, reducing the amount of	
cartridges		functionalising reagents		beyond 2 weeks	homemade	hazardous waste in-field.	
					microcolumns or	+ Can be re-used and regenerated several times,	
					cartridges in the	improving cost-effectiveness	
					field, transported to	 Preservation and storage of Hg species has not 	
					a laboratory for	been fully explored	
					elution	 A time-cost must be considered for preparation of 	
						SPE-phases, albeit relatively labour intensive	

Table 2.2. Approximate cost-per-sample of some suggested Hg preservation and solid-phase extraction methods

Commercially	Total Hg,	Initial price of resin	\$10 per sample	Not	Water samples	+	Selective for Hg in water samples, usually applied
available resins	Hg ²⁺			investigated	passed through		for Hg removal in waste-water
					preprepared DGT	+	High analyte capacity relative to other resins and
					cartridges, or		sorbents
					applied as a batch	-	Resins are often expensive (~\$500 for 250g resin)
					sorbent	-	For a column/cartridge, column loading and
							preparation time must be considered
Gold sorbents	Total Hg,	Price of gold metal for	\$5 for sample	Not	A dipstick, which	+	These offer high levels of reusability (>145 cycles),
	Hg ²⁺	synthesising sorbent		investigated	can be dipped into		and Hg desorption can be conducted thermally
					a water sample, or	+	Minimal interference/competition for the sorbent,
					passing water		due to selective amalgamation
					through	-	Synthesis requires controlled sputtering and
					preprepared		vapour deposition technologies, which may not be
					microcolumns or		readily available
					cartridges	-	Gold is an expensive reagent, not readily available
							in most laboratories for preparation of the
							columns/dipsticks, therefore has a high initial cost

*Prices are obtained from online vendors (sigmaaldrich.com, fishersci.co.uk, accessed 21 August 2022) converted from GDP (£) to USD (\$)

2.5. Conclusion

While the mechanisms for dissolved Hg loss have become more well defined over the years, safe methods for preservation, storage and transportation of samples to the laboratory for measurement of both total Hg and individual Hg species still remains a challenge. Different species require separate preservation methods, hazardous or expensive materials, and large sample volumes to improve detection limits for trace and ultra-trace Hg analysis and speciation analysis. This makes routine Hg studies and monitoring impractical in challenging environments such as remote locations or lower- and middle-income countries. Current literature on preserving Hg species in water samples has shown minimal developments on limiting the use of hazardous materials, instead highlighting the need for rapid transportation to a laboratory for preservation. In remote areas and uncontrolled environments, the use of concentrated acids can pose a significant risk to the operator and increase the challenges of transporting samples to laboratories in a timely manner.

Solid-phases methods and sorbents are already used in Hg analysis for preconcentration, removal, and speciation of Hg, immobilising the chemical species without altering the chemical forms. Mercury-specific functionalized sorbents, in particular functionalisation with diethyldithiocarbamate or diphenylthiocarbazone, have shown effective extraction of Hg²⁺ and some organic Hg species from natural water samples and suitable recovery after 1 week of storage. From a literature survey, there is a lack of literature on the concentrations of adsorbed Hg species after 1-week of storage and though the limitations of the search terms may not have fully captured all work on the storage timescales of these developed methodologies, the literature assessed is representative of the wider body of work on preservation and storage of Hg and its species. Therefore research into the long-term storage of Hg-species, particularly MeHg, is necessary for the development of SPE as a preservation method. However, SPE is a relatively inexpensive and safe method for *in-situ* sampling and preserving Hg species from natural water samples for transport from field-to-laboratory and obtaining representative dissolved Hg data.

2.6 References

- ADDIS LOCKWOOD, R. & CHEN, K. Y. 1973. Adsorption of Hg(II) by Hydrous Manganese Oxides. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 7, 1028-1034.
- AYDIN, D. & YILMAZ, I. 2021. Simple synthesis and sensing applications of a new and low cost fluorescent chemosensor for selective recognition and facile removal of Hg²⁺. *J Photochem*, 414.
- BALARAMA KRISHNA, M. V., CHANDRASEKARAN, K. & KARUNASAGAR, D. 2010. On-line speciation of inorganic and methyl mercury in waters and fish tissuesusing polyaniline micro-column and flow injection-chemical vapourgeneration-inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (FI-CVG-ICPMS). *Talanta*, 81, 462-472.
- BALARAMA KRISHNA, M. V., KARUNASAGAR, D., RAO, S. V. & ARUNACHALAM, J. 2005. Preconcentration and speciation of inorganic and methyl mercury in waters using polyaniline and gold trap-CVAAS. *Talanta*, 68, 329-35.
- BASADI, N., GHANEMI, K. & NIKPOUR, Y. 2020. I-Cystine-functionalized graphene oxide nanosheets for effective extraction and preconcentration of mercury ions from environmental waters. *Chemical Papers*, 75, 1083-1093.
- BECKERS, F. & RINKLEBE, J. 2017. Cycling of mercury in the environment: Sources, fate, and human health implications: A review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 47, 693-794.
- BHARDWAJ, S., SONI, R., GUPTA, S. K. & SHUKLA, D. P. 2020. Mercury, arsenic, lead and cadmium in waters of the Singrauli coal mining and power plants industrial zone, Central East India. *Environ Monit Assess*, 192, 251.
- BLACK, F. J., BRULAND, K. W. & FLEGAL, A. R. 2007. Competing ligand exchangesolid phase extraction method for the determination of the complexation of dissolved inorganic mercury (II) in natural waters. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 598, 318-333.
- BLANCO, R. M., VILLANUEVA, M. T., SÁNCHEZ URIA, J. E. & SANZ-MEDEL, A. 2000. Field sampling, preconcentration and determination of mercury species in river waters. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 419, 137-144.
- BLOOM, N. 1994. Influence of analytical conditions on the observed "reactive mercury" concentrations in natural freshwaters. *In:* C. J. WATRAS, J. W. H. (ed.) *Mercury pollution integration and synthesis.* Boca Raton: Lewis Publishers.

- BONZONGO, J. C., OJIAMBO, B. S., LYONS, W. B., WILDER, S. & WELCH, K. 1996. Mercury concentrations in waters of Lake Naivasha Watershed, Kenya. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 23, 1581-1584.
- BOSCH, C., OLIVARES, A., FARIA, M., NAVAS, J. M., DEL OLMO, I., GRIMALT, J.
 O., PINA, B. & BARATA, C. 2009. Identification of water soluble and particle bound compounds causing sublethal toxic effects. A field study on sediments affected by a chlor-alkali industry. *Aquat Toxicol*, 94, 16-27.
- BOTHNER, M. H. & ROBERTSON, D. E. 1975. Mercury contamination of sea water samples stored in polyethylene containers. *Analytical Chemistry*, 47, 592-595.
- CAIRNS, W. R., RANALDO, M., HENNEBELLE, R., TURETTA, C., CAPODAGLIO,
 G., FERRARI, C. F., DOMMERGUE, A., CESCON, P. & BARBANTE, C.
 2008. Speciation analysis of mercury in seawater from the lagoon of Venice
 by on-line pre-concentration HPLC-ICP-MS. *Anal Chim Acta*, 622, 62-9.
- CARR, R. A. & WILKNISS, P. E. 1973. Mercury: Short-term storage of natural waters. Environmental Science and Technology, 7, 62-63.
- CHEN, Y., HE, M., CHEN, B. & HU, B. 2021. Thiol-grafted magnetic polymer for preconcentration of Cd, Hg, Pb from environmental water followed by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry detection. Spectrochimica Acta Part B: Atomic Spectroscopy.
- CHIARLE, S., RATTO, M. & ROVATTI, M. 2000. Mercury removal from water by ion exchange resins adsorption. *Water research,* 43, 2971-2978.
- COLMAN, J. A., BARBER, L. & BLOOM, N. S. 1997. Artifact formation of methyl mercury during aqueous distillation and alternative techniques for the extraction of methyl mercury from environmental samples. *Fresnius Journal* of Analytical Chemistry, 358, 371-377.
- DRISCOLL, C. T., HAN, Y., CHEN, C. Y., EVERS, D. C., FALLON LAMBERT, K., HOLSEN, T. M., KAMMAN, N. C. & MUNSON, R. K. 2007. Mercury contamination in forest and freshwater ecosystems in the Northeastern United States. *Bioscience*, 57, 17-28.
- DUVAL, B., GREDILLA, A., FDEZ-ORTIZ DE VALLEJUELO, S., TESSIER, E., AMOUROUX, D. & DE DIEGO, A. 2020. A simple determination of trace mercury concentrations in natural waters using dispersive Micro-Solid phase extraction preconcentration based on functionalized graphene nanosheets. *Microchemical Journal.*
- FELDMAN, C. 1974. Preservation of Dilute Mercury Solutions. *Analytical Chemistry*, 46, 99-102.

- FONDEUR, F., VAN PELT, W. & FINK, S. 2002. Mercury Removal Performance of Amberlite[™] GT-73A, Purolite[™] S-920, Ionac[™] SR-4 and SIR-200[™] Resins. Westinghouse Savannah Rover Company.
- GAO, Y., DE CANCK, E., LEERMAKERS, M., BAEYENS, W. & VAN DER VOORT,P. 2011. Synthesized mercaptopropyl nanoporous resins in DGT probes for determining dissolved mercury concentrations. *Talanta*, 87, 262-7.
- GAO, Y., DE CRAEMER, S. & BAEYENS, W. 2014. A novel method for the determination of dissolved methylmercury concentrations using diffusive gradients in thin films technique. *Talanta*, 120, 470-4.
- GARDNER, M. & GUNN, A. 1997. Stability of Mercury in Seawater Samples. *Analytical Communications*, 34, 245-246.
- GOMEZ, L. M., COLPAS-CASTILLO, F. & FERNANDEZ-MAESTRE, R. 2014. Cation exchange for mercury and cadmium of xanthated, sulfonated, activated and non-treated subbituminous coal, commercial activated carbon and commercial synthetic resin: effect of pre-oxidation on xanthation of subbituminous coal. *International Journal of Coal Science and Technology*, 1, 235-240.
- GUPTA, R., SINGH, R. & DUBEY, S. 2004. Removal of mercury ions from aqueous solutions by composite of polyaniline with polystyrene. *Separation and Purification Technology*, 38, 225-232.
- GWOREK, B., BEMOWSKA-KALABUN, O., KIJENSKA, M. & WRZOSEK-JAKUBOWSKA, J. 2016. Mercury in Marine and Oceanic Waters-a Review. *Water Air Soil Pollut*, 227, 371.
- HAMMERSCHMIDT, C. R., BOWMAN, K. L., TABATCHNICK, M. D. & LAMBORG,C. H. 2011. Storage bottle material and cleaning for determination of total mercury in seawater. *Limnology and Oceanography: Methods*, 9, 426-431.
- HAMMERSCHMIDT, C. R. & FITZGERALD, W. F. 2001. Formation of Artifact Methylmercury during

Extraction from a Sediment Reference Material. Analytical Chemistry, 73, 5930-5936.
HANHAUSER, E., BONO, M. S., JR., VAISHNAV, C., HART, A. J. & KARNIK, R. 2020. Solid-Phase Extraction, Preservation, Storage, Transport, and Analysis of Trace Contaminants for Water Quality Monitoring of Heavy Metals. *Environ Sci Technol*, 54, 2646-2657.

HINTELMANN, H. 1999. Comparison of different extraction techniques used for methylmercury analysis with respect to accidental formation of methylmercury during sample preparation. *Chemosphere*, 39, 1093-1105.

- HWANG, J. H., FOX, D., STANBERRY, J., ANAGNOSTOPOULOS, V., ZHAI, L. & LEE, W. H. 2021. Direct Mercury Detection in Landfill Leachate Using a Novel AuNP-Biopolymer Carbon Screen-Printed Electrode Sensor. *Micromachines* (*Basel*), 12.
- HYLANDER, L. D., MEILI, M., OLIVEIRA, L. J., DE CASTRO E SILVA, E., GUIMARAES, J. R. D., ARAUJO, D. M., NEVES, R. P., STACHIW, R., BARROS, A. J. P. & SILVA, G. D. 2000. Relationship of mercury with aluminum, iron and manganese oxy-hydroxides in sediments from the Alto Pantanal, Brazil. *Science of the Total Environment*, 260, 97-107.
- IATA 2022. Dangerous Goods Regulations. In: ASSOCIATION, I. A. T. (ed.).
- INOUE, Y. & MUNEMORI, M. 1979. Coprecipitation of Mercury (II) with Iron(III) Hydroxide. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 13, 443-445.
- JIA, X. Y., GONG, D. R., HAN, Y., WEI, C., DUAN, T. C. & CHEN, H. T. 2012. Fast speciation of mercury in seawater by short-column high-performance liquid chromatography hyphenated to inductively coupled plasma spectrometry after on-line cation exchange column preconcentration. *Talanta*, 88, 724-729.
- KAEWNOK, N., SIRIRAK, J., JUNGSUTTIWONG, S., WONGNONGWA, Y., KAMKAEW, A., PETDUM, A., PANCHAN, W., SAHASITHIWAT, S., SOOKSIMUANG, T., CHAROENPANICH, A. & WANICHACHEVA, N. 2021.
 Detection of hazardous mercury ion using [5]helicene-based fluorescence probe with "TurnON" sensing response for practical applications. *J Hazard Mater*, 418, 126242.
- KIM, M. K. & ZOH, K. D. 2012. Fate and transport of mercury in environmental media and human exposure. *J Prev Med Public Health*, 45, 335-43.
- KOTNIK, J., HORVAT, M., TESSIER, E., OGRINC, N., MONPERRUS, M., AMOUROUX, D., FAJON, V., GIBIČAR, D., ŽIŽEK, S., SPROVIERI, F. & PIRRONE, N. 2007. Mercury speciation in surface and deep waters of the Mediterranean Sea. *Marine Chemistry*, 107, 13-30.
- KRATA, A., PYRZYNSKA, K. & BULSKA, E. 2003. Use of solid-phase extraction to eliminate interferences in the determination of mercury by flow-injection CV AAS. Anal Bioanal Chem, 377, 735-9.
- KRIGER, A. A. & TURNER, R. R. 1995. Field Analysis of Mercury in Water, Sediment and Soil Using Static Headspace Analysis. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 80, 1295-1304.
- KRIVAN, V. & HAAS, H. F. 1988. Prevention of loss of mereury(II) during storage of dilute solutions in various containers. *Fresnius Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, 332, 1-6.

- LEERMAKERS, M., LANSENS, P. & BAEYENS, W. 1994. Storage and stability of inorganic and methylmercury solutions. *Fresnius Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, 336, 655-662.
- LEOPOLD, K., FOULKES, M. & WORSFOLD, P. 2009a. Gold-Coated Silica as a Preconcentration Phase for the Determination of Total Dissolved Mercury in Natural Waters Using Atomic Fluorescence Spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry*, 81, 3421-3428.
- LEOPOLD, K., FOULKES, M. & WORSFOLD, P. 2010. Methods for the determination and speciation of mercury in natural waters--a review. *Anal Chim Acta*, 663, 127-38.
- LEOPOLD, K., FOULKES, M. & WORSFOLD, P. J. 2009b. Preconcentration techniques for the determination of mercury species in natural waters. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 28, 426-435.
- LO, J. M. & WAI, C. M. 1975. Mercury loss from waters during storage: mechanisms and prevention. *Analytical Chemistry*, 47.
- LOPRESIDE, A., MONTALI, L., WANG, B., TASSONI, A., FERRI, M., CALABRETTA, M. M. & MICHELINI, E. 2021. Orthogonal paper biosensor for mercury(II) combining bioluminescence and colorimetric smartphone detection. *Biosens Bioelectron*, 194, 113569.
- LOUIE, H., WONG, C., HUANG, Y. J. & FREDRICKSON, S. 2012. A study of techniques for the preservation of mercury and other trace elements in water for analysis by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). *Anal. Methods*, 4, 522-529.
- MAHMOUD, M. E. 1999. Selective solid phase extraction of mercury(II) by silica gelimmobilized-dithiocarbamate derivatives. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 398, 297-304.
- MAHMOUD, M. E., OSMAN, M. M. & AMER, M. E. 2000. Selective pre-concentration and solid phase extraction of mercury(II) from natural water by silica gelloaded dithizone phases. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 415, 33-40.
- MARGETÍNOVÁ, J., HOUSEROVÁ-PELCOVÁ, P. & KUBÁŇ, V. 2008. Speciation analysis of mercury in sediments, zoobenthos and river water samples by high-performance liquid chromatography hyphenated to atomic fluorescence spectrometry following preconcentration by solid phase extraction. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 615, 115-123.
- MLADENOVA, E., DAKOVA, I., TSALEV, D. & KARADJOVA, I. 2012. Mercury determination and speciation analysis in surface waters. *Open Chemistry*, 10, 1175-1182.

- MONTEAGUDO, J. M. & ORTIZ, M. J. 2000. Removal of inorganic mercury from mine waste water by ion exchange. *J Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.*, 75, 767-772.
- NGURE, V., DAVIES, T., KINUTHIA, G., SITATI, N., SHISIA, S. & OYOO-OKOTH, E. 2014. Concentration levels of potentially harmful elements from gold mining in Lake Victoria Region, Kenya: Environmental and health implications. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 144, 511-516.
- PANICHEV, N., KALUMBA, M. M. & MANDIWANA, K. L. 2014. Solid phase extraction of trace amount of mercury from natural waters on silver and gold nanoparticles. *Anal Chim Acta*, 813, 56-62.
- PARKER, J. L. & BLOOM, N. S. 2005. Preservation and storage techniques for lowlevel aqueous mercury speciation. *Sci Total Environ*, 337, 253-63.
- PELCOVA, P., DOCEKALOVA, H. & KLECKEROVA, A. 2014. Development of the diffusive gradient in thin films technique for the measurement of labile mercury species in waters. *Anal Chim Acta*, 819, 42-8.
- PELCOVA, P., DOCEKALOVA, H. & KLECKEROVA, A. 2015. Determination of mercury species by the diffusive gradient in thin film technique and liquid chromatography - atomic fluorescence spectrometry after microwave extraction. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 866, 21-26.
- POHL, P. & PRUISISZ, B. 2004. Preconcentration of mercury using Duolite GT-73 in the analysis of water samples by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry. *Analytical Sciences*, 20, 1367-1370.
- RAJASIMMAN, M. & RAJAMOHAN, N. 2017. Parametric, equilibrium and kinetic studies on the removal of mercury using ion exchange resin. *Water Practice and Technology*, 12, 305-313.
- RISCASSI, A., MILLER, C. L. & BROOKS, S. C. 2014. Impact of collection container material and holding times on sample integrity for mercury and methylmercury in water. *Limnology and Oceanography: Methods*, 12, 407-420.
- RISHER, J. F. 2003. Elemental mercury and inorganic mercury compounds: human health aspects. WHO.
- RITTER, J. A. & BIBLER, J. P. 1992. Removal of mercury from waste water Largescale performance of an ion exchange process. *Water science and technology*, 25, 165-172.
- ROCHA, C. H. B., COSTA, H. F. & AZEVEDO, L. P. 2019. Heavy metals in the São Mateus Stream Basin, Peixe River Basin, Paraiba do Sul River Basin, Brazil. *Revista Ambiente & Água,* 14.
- SÁNCHEZ, D. M., MARTÍN, R., MORANTE, R., MARÍN, J. & MUNUERA, M. L. 2000. Preconcentration speciation method for mercury compounds in water

samples using solid phase extraction followed by reversed phase high performance liquid chromatography. *Talanta*, 52, 617-679.

- SCHLATHAUER, M., FRIEDLAND, J., LINDÉN, M. & LEOPOLD, K. 2019. Sustainable and reagent-free mercury trace determination in natural waters using nanogold dipsticks. *Microchemical Journal*, 147, 253-262.
- SNELL, J. P., BJÖRN, E. & FRECH, W. 1999. Investigation of errors introduced by the species distribution of mercury in organic solutions on total mercury determination by electrothermal vaporisation-inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry. *Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry*, 15, 397-402.
- SONG, X., WU, J., PANG, J., WU, Y. & HUANG, X. 2021a. Task specific monolith for magnetic field-reinforced in-tube solid phase microextraction of mercury species in waters prior to online HPLC quantification. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*.
- SONG, Y., MA, Q., CHENG, H., LIU, J. & WANG, Y. 2021b. Simultaneous enrichment of inorganic and organic species of lead and mercury in pg L-1 levels by solid phase extraction online combined with high performance liquid chromatography and inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 1157.
- STOCK, V., MUTSCHLER, A., LINDÉN, M. & LEOPOLD, K. 2021. Photoactive Titanium Dioxide Films with Embedded Gold Nanoparticles for Quantitative Determination of Mercury Traces in Humic Matter-Containing Freshwaters. *Nanomaterials*, 11, 512.
- USEPA 1996. Method 1669 Sampling ambient water for trace metals at EPA water quality criteria levels. USEPA.
- USEPA 1999. Mercury update: impact on fish advisories [Fact sheet]. USEPA.
- USEPA 2002. Method 1631, Revision E: Mercury in water by oxidation, purge and trap, and cold vapour atomc fluorescence spectrometry. USEPA.
- VAFAEI MOLAMAHMOOD, H., EBADI, T. & ESKANDARI, R. 2018. Adsorption of Mercury by Polyaniline/Polyvinyl Alcohol in an Aqueous Environment. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution,* 229.
- VERMILLION, B. R. & HUDSON, R. J. 2007. Thiourea catalysis of MeHg ligand exchange between natural dissolved organic matter and a thiol-functionalized resin: a novel method of matrix removal and MeHg preconcentration for ultratrace Hg speciation analysis in freshwaters. *Anal Bioanal Chem*, 388, 341-52.

- WANG, J., DENG, B., CHEN, H., WANG, X. & JIANZHONG, Z. 2009. Removal of Aqueous Hg(II) by Polyaniline: Sorption Characteristics and Mechanisms. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 43, 5223-5228.
- WANG, Y., ZHU, A., FANG, Y., FAN, C., GUO, Y., TAN, Z., YIN, Y., CAI, Y. & JIANG,
 G. 2022. Dithizone-functionalized C18 online solid-phase extraction-HPLC-ICP-MS for speciation of ultra-trace organic and inorganic mercury in cereals and environmental samples. *J Environ Sci (China)*, 115, 403-410.
- WHO 2005. Mercury in Drinking-water. WHO.
- WHO 2022. Guidelines for Drinking Water Quality. 4 ed.: WHO.
- YIN, Y.-G., CHEN, M., PENG, J.-F., LIU, J.-F. & JIANG, G.-B. 2010. Dithizonefunctionalized solid phase extraction–displacement elution-high performance liquid chromatography–inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry for mercury speciation in water samples. *Talanta*, 81, 1788-1792.
- YU, L.-P. & YAN, X.-P. 2003. Factors affecting the stability of inorganic and methylmercury during sample storage. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 22, 245-253.
- ZHAI, Y., DUAN, S. E., HE, Q. & YANG, X. 2010. Solid phase extraction and preconcentration of trace mercury(II) from aqueous solution using magnetic nanoparticles doped with 1,5-diphenylcarbazide. *Microchimica Acta*, 169, 353-360.
- ZHANG, J., CHAO, J., TANG, Y., WAN, P., YANG, X. J., WONG, C., BRUCE, M. & HU, Q. 2020. Quantification of Trace Mercury in Water: Solving the Problem of Adsorption, Sample Preservation, and Cross-Contamination. *Glob Chall*, 4, 1900061.
- ZHANG, S., LUO, H., ZHANG, Y., LI, X., LIU, J., XU, Q. & WANG, Z. 2016. In situ rapid magnetic solid-phase extraction coupled with HPLC-ICP-MS for mercury speciation in environmental water. *Microchemical Journal*, 126, 25-31.
- ZHANG, Y., LI, Q., SUN, L., TANG, R. & ZHAI, J. 2010. High efficient removal of mercury from aqueous solution by polyaniline/humic acid nanocomposite. J Hazard Mater, 175, 404-9.
- ZHAO, X., LIU, Y., SHU, B., GUO, Z., SONG, C., HUANG, X. & JIAO, Z. 2020.
 Portable smartphone-based device for on-site detection of Hg2+ in water samples. *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry*, 1-10.
 ZIERHUT, A., LEOPOLD, K., HARWARDT, L. & SCHUSTER, M. 2010.
 Analysis of total dissolved mercury in waters after on-line preconcentration on an active gold column. *Talanta*, 81, 1529-35.

Chapter 3 – Field method for preservation of total mercury in waters, including those associated with Artisanal Scale Gold Mining

This chapter was submitted to the journal *Analytical Methods* and was published in February 2024. The formatting has been changed for uniformity with the rest of the thesis.

This chapter assessed an identified solid-phase extraction method, a dithizone functionalised cartridge, for the in-field sampling and preservation of total Hg in environmental water samples. The work employed a synthetic matrix with similar major ion chemistry to waters found at artisanal gold mining sites and validated by collection of samples at ASGM sites in Western Kenya.

<u>David C.P. King^{1,2}</u>, Michael J. Watts², Elliott M. Hamilton² (Corresponding Author), Robert J.G. Mortimer³, Mike Coffey¹, Odipo Osano⁴, Maureene Auma Ondayo⁴, Marcello Di Bonito^{1,5}

- 1 Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham, UK
- 2 Inorganic Geochemistry Facility, Centre for Environmental Geochemistry, British Geological Survey, Nottingham, UK
- 3 York St John University, York, UK
- 4 University of Eldoret, Eldoret, Kenya
- 5 Unversità di Bologna, Bologna, Italy

CRediT Statement

David C.P. King: Conceptualisation, Writing – Original Draft, Methodology Michael
J. Watts: Conceptualisation, Funding acquisition, Review & Editing Elliott M.
Hamilton: Review & Editing Robert Mortimer: Review & Editing Mike Coffey:
Review & Editing Odipo Osano: Review & Editing Maureene Auma Ondayo:
Review & Editing Marcello Di Bonito: Conceptualisation, Funding acquisition,
Review & Editing

Acknowledgements

Funding for D.C.P.K was provided by Nottingham Trent University and The British Geological Survey University Funding Initiative (contract number: GA/21S/002). This work is published with the permission of the Executive Director, British Geological Survey.

3A. Abstract

Analysis of mercury (Hg) in natural water samples has routinely been impractical in many environments, for example, artisanal and small-scale gold mines (ASGM), where difficult conditions make monitoring of harmful elements and chemicals used in the processes highly challenging. Current sampling methods require the use of hazardous or expensive materials, and so difficulties in sample collection and transport are elevated. To solve this problem, a solid-phase extraction-based method was developed for the sampling and preservation of dissolved Hg in natural water samples, particularly those found around ASGM sites. Recoveries of 85% ± 10% total Hg were obtained during 4-weeks of storage in refrigerated (4°C, dark) and unrefrigerated (16 °C, dark) conditions, and from a representative river water spiked to 1 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺, 94% ± 1% Hg recovery was obtained. Solid-phase extraction loading flow rates were tested at 2, 5, and 10 mL min⁻¹ with no breakthrough of Hg, and sorbent stability showed no breakthrough of Hg up to 2-weeks after functionalisation. The method was deployed across five artisanal gold mines in Kakamega gold belt, Kenya, to assess Hg concentrations in mine shaft water, ore washing ponds, and river and stream water, including drinking water sources. In all waters, Hg concentrations were below the WHO guideline limit value of 6 µg L⁻¹, but drinking water sources contained trace concentrations of up to 0.35 µg L⁻¹ total Hg, which may result in negative health effects from long-term exposure. The SPE method developed and deployed here is a robust sampling method that can therefore be applied in future Hg monitoring, toxicology, and environmental work to provide improved data that is representative of total dissolved Hg in water samples.

Keywords: Mercury, Artisanal gold mining, Sampling, Preservation, Solid-Phase Extraction

3.1. Introduction

3.1.1. Mercury (Hg) as a pollutant

Mercury (Hg) is a highly toxic element that is ubiquitous in the environment, arising from both natural and anthropogenic processes (Risher, 2003). Due to its ability to bioaccumulate in animals and biomagnify up the food chain (Kim and Zoh, 2012), this element can be persistent and problematic for wildlife, where exposure to low concentrations of just 0.03 μ g L⁻¹ Hg in the aquatic environment can result in considerable accumulation up the various trophic levels and top predators in the environment (Morcillo et al., 2017). Consumption of contaminated fish, a key protein source, may subsequently result in severe negative human health effects in the

neurological, renal, cardiovascular, immunological, and reproductive systems (Svobodova et al., 1993, DHHS, 2022). Unpolluted concentrations for environmental water sources, which may affect human exposure routes, are usually 0.01 μ g L⁻¹ Hg but can be as high as 0.1 μ g L⁻¹ Hg (Svobodova et al., 1993). However, guideline values for the protection of aquatic wildlife from chronic Hg exposure are 0.77 μ g L⁻¹ Hg as defined by the US EPA (EPA, 1995). while drinking water guidelines are defined at 6 μ g L⁻¹ Hg by the WHO (WHO, 2022).

To prevent anthropogenic pollution of Hg, the 2013 Minamata Convention limits the use of Hg in all sectors of society, but in most middle- and lower-income countries the metal is relied upon for many industries. The most prevalent use of Hg is in artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM) (Kristensen et al., 2014, Esdaile and Chalker, 2018), where Hg is used to amalgamate gold in mined and pulverised ores and is subsequently released by burning to obtain gold. Through the amalgamation and burning processes, surrounding soil and atmosphere is polluted with Hg (Kristensen et al., 2014). This practice occurs globally and has been routinely investigated over the past 20 years (Hentschel et al., 2002, Li et al., 2009, Ondayo et al., 2023a, Ondayo et al., 2023b). Across over 40 African countries, approximately 10 million people work in ASGM sites (Grynberg et al., 2022) and are potentially exposed to large quantities of potentially harmful elements, including Hg. In a review of ASGM across Africa (Ondayo et al., 2023b) concentrations of Hg in waters (rivers, drinking water sources, and ore washing ponds) ranged from 0.01 to 8040 µg L⁻¹ Hg, with twothirds of studies (18 out of 27) reporting Hg water concentrations above the 0.77 μ g L⁻¹ Hg chronic exposure limit. This underscores the need for monitoring and possible intervention, to limit environmental harm. The most extreme concentrations, up to 8040 µg L⁻¹ Hg, were reported in Kenya (Olgola et al., 2001); however, sample collection and preservation methods are not specified and so may cast doubt on the reported values. In addition, this study reported data from an acid digestion of the sample, which may release Hg bound to particulate matter that would otherwise have been filtered off in standard procedures. This potentially lead to a report of a Hg concentration above what the aquatic environment would be exposed, as this will release strongly bound Hg that may not otherwise be released to the water. Drinking water sources may be treated prior to consumption, i.e. through boiling, chlorination, etc., but may be consumed untreated and thus particulate bound Hg can contribute to human exposure.

Since 2003, it is estimated that up to 100 tonnes of Hg have been imported to Kenya for ASGM activities (Esdaile and Chalker, 2018), but the ultimate fate of this metal is

unknown due to difficulties in sampling and analysis. Workers, communities, and environments near ASGM sites in Migori and Kakamega gold belts, Kenya, are reported to be adversely exposed to Hg (Olgola et al., 2001, Odumo et al., 2011, Ondayo et al., 2023a), with soils and sediments reported to contain up to 150 mg kg⁻¹ Hg (Odumo et al., 2011), residential soils containing 1.07 mg kg⁻¹ Hg and fish pond sediments containing 2.4 mg kg⁻¹ Hg (Ondayo et al., 2023a), all above WHO, USEPA, and European Union standards for Hg in environmental media. Concentrations of Hg in water sources at these sites are not reported and therefore the true extent of Hg exposure of the local populations is not determined due to difficulties with sampling and preservation of the metal in the field.

3.1.2. Sampling methods and their challenges

Instability of Hg dissolved in water samples is a well-known challenge when monitoring the metal; sorption to container walls and loss through volatilisation are the main mechanisms of loss from a water sample (Yu and Yan, 2003, Parker and Bloom, 2005). Conventional sampling processes for dissolved Hg often have attributes of risk and difficulty, exacerbated by the need for use in challenging environments such as ASGM sites. It is recommended to send samples overnight to a laboratory for preservation (USEPA, 1996), however, when sampling waters at ASGM sites, samples often must be shipped internationally, which increases the time between sampling and analysis and thus potentially results in considerable Hg losses. Acidification of samples with hydrochloric acid stabilises the metal but can result in spillage and acid burn accidents if not carefully handled, and increased restrictions on international transportation of acids limits the shipping of samples (IATA, 2022), Collection of >500 mL sample volume can mitigate loss of Hg by wall sorption due to a decreased volume-to-surface area ratio and allows for preconcentration methods except, where multiple samples must be collected, as transportation and storage may become impractical due to the large total sample volumes. This also increases the cost of collection due to bottle material costs. Glass and PTFE containers are recommended to minimize sorption of Hg to the container walls, but glass is fragile while PTFE is expensive (\$100 per 500 mL PTFE bottle (Camlab, 2023)). If unpreserved or inadequately preserved, considerable losses of Hg are noted within few days of sampling and 90% of total Hg can be lost after just 1 week (Yu and Yan, 2003, Parker and Bloom, 2005, Louie et al., 2012). In-field monitoring of Hg in water sources is particularly challenging, due to analysis requiring sensitive detectors, which currently do not achieve adequate detection limits (King et al., 2023). Some emerging technologies demonstrate appropriate sensitivity but are not currently widespread or commercially available (Zhao et al., 2020, Karuk Elmas et al., 2021, Lopreside et al., 2021).

Solid-phase extraction offers a method to stabilise dissolved Hg in water for a substantial amount of time (Kim and Zoh, 2012). Through immobilisation to a solidphase, the risk of analyte loss is minimised and representative data can be collected, particularly in challenging environments where there is difficulty in transporting materials and samples. Previous work for the preservation of other metals (arsenic, As and vanadium, V) has shown the usefulness of SPE techniques in sampling and stabilisation of metals in water samples (Watts et al., 2008, Watts et al., 2010, Al Rawahi and Ward, 2017). In water samples, significant losses of V data are reported over less than 1 week of storage, which can limit sample collection for many studies. An optimised SPE-based sampling method was developed, improving sample storage to up to 2 weeks with recoveries of 95-101% V(IV) and V(V) from river water samples (AI Rawahi and Ward, 2017). For As concentrations, there is a known instability of the metal species in a 1 mg L⁻¹ Fe water matrix, often found in rivers and lakes (Stetson et al., 2021). To avoid this issue, an SPE-based sampling method was developed by Watts et al. (2008) and O'Reilly et al. (2010) to preserve As(III), As(V), monomethylarsonic acid, and dimethylarsinic acid. This method uses anionic and cationic SPE cartridges to allow in-field separation and preservation of As for up to 4weeks with 100% recovery of each species. Parameters were optimised based upon field conditions. For example, the flow rate for sample loading was determined by the physical ability of the operator to push water through the cartridges. A 4-week storage time was chosen as a typical time from field to laboratory analysis, accounting for a field sampling campaign and potential international travel. Previous research into the SPE method for Hg sampling and preservation methods have shown >90% recovery of total Hg from river and lake water samples over a 1-week period (Al Rawahi and Ward, 2017, Stetson et al., 2021), but extending this preservative timeframe is essential for an effective field method that can be used in all environments.

3.1.3. Considerations for a field-method

For SPE to be used as a field-based sampling method, it is crucial to consider practical characteristics that affect the immobilisation of dissolved Hg and stability of the metal once retained (Figure 3.1). Initially, the cartridges must be stable from the point of functionalisation to sampling in the field. Degradation of the functionalised phase may result in a decrease in immobilised Hg during the loading process and therefore underrepresent the dissolved Hg concentration in the environmental

samples. This is a characteristic not often explored in the literature, as typical speciation and preconcentration methods apply the cartridge immediately after functionalisation (King et al., 2023), thus not requiring a storage time for the solid phase. However, to ensure representative data collection, the functionalised solidphase must be stable during transfer from laboratory to sampling location, approximately 2-weeks between functionalisation and application in the field. Flow rates for loading samples onto the cartridges must be appropriate for field-use, to ensure feasible sampling times and thus overall cost-effectiveness. If flow rates are too slow, the time required to load a sample onto a cartridge will not be appropriate for field studies. This is generally not explored in the literature, as SPE methods are often developed for on-line laboratory speciation or preconcentration, and so flow rate is controlled by optimised chromatographic flow rates. The quantity of functionalising agent immobilised on the solid-phase is also important, as quantities below the optimum will fail to retain sufficient Hg concentrations, while quantities above the optimum may impede elution processes and result in partial elution of Hg. Once immobilised, Hg must be retained to the phase with adequate time for transportation to a laboratory. This may range from hours to weeks depending on the sampling environment and location, so Hg must be eluted with good recovery after at least a 4week period. Similar characteristics were used in previous literature related to SPE as a sampling technique (Watts et al., 2008, Watts et al., 2010, Al Rawahi and Ward, 2017), which is representative of necessary parameters for a functional sampling and





preservation method for dissolved Hg. The development of an SPE field method for sampling and preserving Hg from water samples will allow for the determination and monitoring of Hg in waters that affect some of the most vulnerable populations.

3.1.4. Aim and Objectives

There is an identified gap in the literature to safely and reliably sample total dissolved Hg from water matrices in challenging environments (King et al., 2023). Therefore, the aim of this study was to develop a robust method for the sampling and accurate measurement of Hg in water matrices based on SPE techniques. To achieve this aim, the objectives were to: (1) develop a practical functionalised SPE method to retain and preserve Hg from water matrices and for elution on return of samples to a controlled laboratory environment; (2) optimise parameters of sorption and desorption of Hg to the stationary phase for subsequent measurement; (3) demonstrate robustness of method in water matrices.

3.2. Method

Based on literature methods (Yin et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2022), a dithizonefunctionalised C18 cartridge was assessed for the extraction and recovery of Hg from 30 mL of water, eluted using a 2-mercaptoethanol solution.

The effect of flow rate of the sample through the cartridge was assessed, as well as the stability of the functionalised cartridge prior to use in the field, approximately 2-weeks from functionalisation to use. The stability of Hg immobilised on the cartridge was assessed over a 4-week period. This is an expected time from sampling to analysis for projects conducted in challenging environments such as ASGM sites, including time needed for international shipping of samples, and ensures preservation over shorter time periods, i.e., hours or days.

The workflow of functionalisation and field-use of SPE cartridges are illustrated in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2. The functionalisation of SPE cartridges using 50 μ g dithizone, loading of water samples in the field at 10 mL min⁻¹ to immobilise Hg, and elution of Hg using 30 mL of a 1% 2-mercaptoethanol solution

The functionalisation of the cartridges was conducted following methods reported by Yin et al. (2010), Wang et al. (2022). Briefly, C18 cartridges (Bond Elut Jr, Agilent, UK) were flushed with 5 mL of methanol followed by 5 mL of sodium formate-formic acid (0.5 mol L⁻¹, pH 4; SigmaAldrich, UK) to condition the resin bed. A dithizone solution (1 mL, 0.5 mg L⁻¹ dithizone; AlfaAesar, UK) was immobilised on the cartridge. The resin bed was then conditioned by passing through a 3 mL sodium formate-formic acid solution (0.5 mol L⁻¹, pH 4; SigmaAldrich, UK) and 3 mL of sodium formate-formic acid solution (0.05 mol L⁻¹, pH 4; SigmaAldrich, UK) and 3 mL of sodium formate-formic acid solution (0.05 mol L⁻¹, pH 4; SigmaAldrich, UK).

Parameters and conditions for ICP-MS analysis are given in Appendix 3 Supplementary Table A3.2. A method detection limit was calculated as 3σ from measurements of a blank solution (n = 10) (Appendix 3 Supplementary Table A3.3.). Other water chemistry of real samples was analysed by ion chromatography, pH and alkalinity analysis, and conductivity probe at the British Geological Survey, Nottingham, UK (Appendix 3 Supplementary Table A3.4.).

3.2.1. Quality control

Due to the instability of dissolved Hg in water samples, certified reference materials for Hg in environmental waters are not readily available. Commercially available certified reference materials are often preserved using BrCl solutions, (ORMS-5, NRCC, Canada) (Willie et al., 2011). During analysis, a 0.25 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ quality control sample was periodically analysed (every 15 samples) to ensure accuracy and precision between experiments. To ensure the quality and performance of the cartridge would not be impacted by major anion and cation chemistry commonly found at ASGM sites (Ondayo et al., 2023a) (Appendix 3 Supplementary Table A3.1.), a synthetic hard water was used as a matrix in experimental work. The matrix was made following a method described by Smith et al. (2002). To represent total dissolved Hg, it was spiked to 1 μ g L⁻¹ inorganic Hg²⁺, which is the most common form of Hg in water. The use of a standard hard water matrix across all experimental work demonstrates the robustness of the method under expected matrix conditions and the effects of common major ionic constituents.

3.2.2. Quantity of dithizone immobilised onto the cartridge

An important factor for ensuring the sorption and stability of Hg on the solid phase is the quantity of dithizone immobilised on the cartridges. To assess this, dithizone was loaded onto C18 cartridges in quantities of 25, 50, 100, and 200 μ g dithizone. A 1 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ synthetic freshwater solution (30 mL) was passed through the functionalised cartridges. The effluent was collected and acidified to 1% HNO₃ and 0.5% HCl. A 2-

mercaptoethanol eluent solution (1% v/v, 30 mL) was then passed through the cartridges and collected for analysis.

3.2.3. Sample flow rate and sorbent stability

It is necessary to establish an optimum sample flow rate for immobilisation of Hg that is achievable in field conditions. To ensure adequate flow rates could be achieved, a 1 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ synthetic freshwater solution (30 mL) was passed through the functionalised cartridges at a flow rate of 2, 5, or 10 mL min⁻¹ using a vacuum box. Prior to use, cartridges were functionalised with a 50 μ g dose of dithizone (1 mL, 0.05 mg L⁻¹ dithizone solution). The cartridge effluents were collected and acidified to 1% HNO₃ and 0.5% HCl for analysis.

The stability of the functionalised cartridge was investigated over 2-weeks. Cartridges were functionalised and stored for 0, 7 and 14 days (16 °C, in the dark and 4 °C, in the dark), to simulate potential storage conditions for transfer from the laboratory to the field. A 1 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ solution (30 mL) was loaded onto functionalised cartridges at a flow rate of 10 mL min⁻¹, and the effluent was collected and acidified to 1% HNO₃ + 0.5% HCl.

3.2.4. Recovery of immobilised Hg over time

The stability of Hg on the solid-phase must be established to determine the efficacy of SPE as an in-field sampling method. A 1 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ spiked synthetic freshwater matrix (30 mL) was passed through functionalised C18 cartridges. These cartridges were stored in the dark at either 4 °C or 16 °C, temperatures of cooled and non-cooled storage respectively, for up to 4-weeks, a typical timescale between sampling in challenging environments and analysis in a laboratory. Retained Hg was eluted following the previously described method at 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 weeks after extraction of Hg.

3.2.5. Sampling sites

3.2.5.1 River Trent

Once the SPE sampling method was developed, application with natural water samples was conducted using the River Trent, Nottingham, UK (52°56'08.4"N 1°08'19.1"W) to reproduce the matrix of a complex water system. Thus, a bulk water sample was collected from the River Trent. This major river is known to have hard water with elevated cationic concentrations and significant pollution due to industry along its length (DEFRA, 2019). This matrix is more complex than distilled water and
comparable to water bodies found around mine sites (Appendix 3 Supplementary Table A3.1.), and therefore is more representative of a natural water sample than deionised water. The bulk water was collected using a 1 L Nalgene container and 500 mL was spiked with Hg to 1 μ g L⁻¹ to represent significant Hg pollution.

3.2.5.2 ASGM mines

Within the Kakamega gold belt fwhich spans Kakamega and Vihiga Counties, ASGM sites are present and active, polluting local rivers and streams with mine waste such as Hg, which confers health risks to the miners and surrounding community (Ondayo et al., 2023a, Ondayo et al., 2023b). The river and stream water is relied upon by the local population for watering livestock, drinking water, irrigation for agriculture, aquaculture, and domestic uses such as cleaning and laundry. Therefore, mine sites in this area were considered to be good test sites for this study to assess the deployment of the developed method under field conditions. Five mines were selected for testing: Lunyerere (0°06'06.1"N 34°42'52.1"E) and Viyalo (0°06'21.4"N 34°42'01.0"E) in Vihiga county, Kenya, Bushiangala (0°11'42.9"N 34°41'06.4"E), Malinya (0°11'22.4"N 34°44'10.3"E) and Rosterman (0°15'35.6"N 34°43'12.0"E) in Kakamega county, Kenya, as typical ASGM sites and based on environmental chemistry obtained from a public health study (Ondayo et al., 2023a) (Figure 3.3.). Samples were collected from local river and stream systems, as well as mine waters, ore washing ponds, and drinking water sources.



b) Kakamega and Vihiga counties, Kenya

Location boundary
 Mine sites
 Mine shaft water
 River water
 Spring water
 Ore washing pond



c) Viyalo



f) Rosterman

Figure 3.3. Map of b) Kakamega and Vihiga counties, a) Kenya, the ASGM sites sampled: c) Viyalo, d) Bushiangala, e) Malinya, f) Rosterman, and g) Lunyerere mine sites, and sampling locations

3.3. Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Dithizone load quantity

Concentrations of Hg measured in the effluent were below the 0.008 ug L⁻¹ detection limit across 50-200 μ g dithizone, indicating total immobilisation of Hg to the resin bed. At 25 μ g dithizone, breakthrough of the metal at 0.01 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ was observed. This is a potential issue for polluted water sources (>1 μ g L⁻¹ Hg), such as those found by Olgola et al. (2001) and Ngure et al. (2017) where Hg concentrations were found up to 8 and 19 μ g L⁻¹ Hg respectively and thus are likely to exceed the capacity of the functionalised cartridge at 25 μ g dithizone. Complex matrices which contain increased quantities of particulate matter and mine-related elements, may also compete for active sites on the solid-phase, and therefore may decrease the sorption of Hg thus requiring a dithizone quantity greater than 25 μ g.

Elution from all assessed dithizone quantities showed Hg recoveries above 85%, with the most optimal recovery of 92% at 50 μ g dithizone, indicating suitable recovery for representative data collection (Figure 3.4). Using a cartridge functionalised with a lower quantity of dithizone, 12.5 μ g dithizone, Wang et al. (2022) reported high recoveries (95% ± 8% Hg), however, this study focused on trace unpolluted concentrations of Hg, <0.2 μ g L⁻¹ Hg. The lower quantity of dithizone may not appropriately immobilise higher concentrations of Hg such as those reported by Ngure et al. (2014) in the Migori gold belt, Kenya, 0.36 – 52 μ g L⁻¹ Hg. The comparable recoveries achieved by this work, 92% (± 3 %) Hg, demonstrate the suitability of a 50 μ g dithizone quantity for the extraction and recovery of Hg, and can fully immobilise Hg from polluted water sources up to 1 μ g L⁻¹. A 50 μ g dithizone load was used for all other experiments.





3.3.2 Sample flow rate and sorbent stability

Two key factors of a viable field sampling SPE method are the maximum flow rate of sample loading and the stability of the cartridge prior to use. A moderate sample flow rate is necessary to ensure sampling does not require unreasonable lengths of time to conduct when in the field. At loading speeds of 2, 5, and 10 mL min⁻¹, all effluent samples had Hg concentrations below the detection limit (0.008 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺), showing total sorption of Hg to the solid-phase. This is approximately the speed that can be achieved when manually pushing solution through a filter and cartridge using a Luerlock syringe, and so typically, this is what may be achieved by operators in the field with minimal equipment requirements.

The stability of the cartridges prior to use was also investigated. Cartridges were stored for up to 14 days after functionalisation, and an extraction was conducted. Across the 14-day period, Hg in the effluent samples was consistently below the detection limit of 0.008 μ g L⁻¹ Hg. This means that a 30 mL sample of 1 μ g L⁻¹ Hg completely absorbed into the stationary phase after being stored in the dark for up to two weeks at a temperature of 4 or 16 °C. Prepared cartridges can therefore be stored prior to use with no breakthrough of Hg, even at significant concentrations of Hg pollution.

3.3.3 Four-week preservation

Stability of the sorbed Hg was investigated over 0–4 weeks in the dark in either refrigerated (4 °C) or unrefrigerated (16 °C) conditions. As illustrated in Figure 3.5, recovery of Hg²⁺ was consistently high at both 4 °C and 16 °C in the dark across 4 weeks. At either 4°C or 16°C in the dark, average recoveries of Hg were 88% \pm 8% and 85% \pm 10%, respectively, showing good reproducibility and demonstrating adequate Hg preservation for typical transportation and storage times from field to laboratory. The lowest recorded recovery was 68% after 3-weeks of storage at 16 °C in the dark, which is still considered an acceptable recovery for SPE techniques (EPA, 2007). Blanco *et al.* (2000) used a diethyldithiocarbamate functionalised microcolumn for dissolved Hg preservation but noted a significant decrease in recovery from 102% to just 40% after just 1 week of storage (Blanco *et al.*, 2000). A similar dithizone-based microcolumn (Wang *et al.*, 2022) was reported to stabilise dissolved Hg from waters over 10 days of storage, which may not be an adequate timeframe in many environments.



Figure 3.5. Recovery (%) and standard deviation (n=5) of Hg (30 mL, $1 \mu g L-1 Hg2+$ solution) immobilised on a functionalised cartridge over 4-weeks storage and eluted with a 2-mercaptoethanol solution (1% v/v, 30 mL).

The recorded improvement using the dithizone functionalised cartridges allows for representative data to be collected and analysed with a reasonable time limit from field to laboratory with minimal losses over time. A comparison of the performance of the developed cartridge and literature methods is shown in Table 3.1.

Study	Functional	Hg spike	Sample	Eluent	Recovery	Effective	Replicates
	agent	concentrati	volume	volume	(%)	storage	
		on assessed	(mL)	(mL)		time	
		(µg L ⁻¹ Hg ²⁺)					
This	Dithizone (50	1	30	30	92 ± 3	4-weeks	5
work	μg)						
(Blanco	Diethyldithio-	0.05-0.15	50	0.5	70 ± 3	1-week	3
et al.,	carbamate						
2000)							
(Yin et	Dithizone (200	0.2	100	3	83 ± 4	4-days	3
al.,	μg)						
2010)							
(Wang	Dithizone (12.5	0.005	1.5	N/A	95 ± 8	1-week	7
et al.,	μg)			(online			
2022)				elution)			

Table 3.1. Performance, as %recovery, of functionalised cartridges loaded with 50 μ g dithizone in comparison to previous literature using 12.5 μ g dithizone load

3.3.4 Natural water samples water

3.3.4.1 River Trent, Nottingham, UK

To validate the developed method for use on real water samples, the procedure was applied to natural water samples collected from freshwater streams and rivers. Reference materials for these matrices are not available due to the instability of Hg (King et al., 2023), so spiked waters are a common substitute for test waters in the literature (Margetínová et al., 2008, Yin et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2022). A bulk water sample was collected from the River Trent, Nottingham, using a 1 L Nalgene bottle and transported back to the laboratory. The water was filtered and a portion (500 mL) was spiked to 1 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺, to represent a water source with polluted levels of dissolved Hg. Both the spiked and unspiked samples (30 mL) were passed through functionalised cartridges at a flow rate of 5 mL min⁻¹, and the effluent was collected and acidified (1% v/v HNO₃ + 0.5% v/v HCI). A 2-mercaptoethanol eluent (1% v/v in deionised water, 30 mL) was passed through the cartridges and collected. The effluent and eluent samples were analysed by ICP-MS analysis.

Mercury was not detected in the effluent samples, indicating total sorption of Hg to the solid-phase from the river water matrix. Recoveries from the spiked water samples were >90%, which is comparable to literature recoveries of typical preservation methods such as acidification of the samples (Table 3.2.) (Parker and Bloom, 2005, Louie et al., 2012).

Reference	Sample	Hg	Sample	Elution	Spike	Recovery	Relative
		concentration	volume	volume	(µg L⁻¹)	(%)	Standard
		(µg L⁻¹)	(mL)	(mL)			deviation
This work	River	N.d.	30	30	1.004 Hg	94	1%
	water						
	(River						
	Trent)						
(Blanco et	River	N.d.	50	0.5	0.05-0.15	90	6.7%
al., 2000)	water				Hg ²⁺		
(Yin et al.,	River	0.025	100	3	-	86	Not
2010)	water						reported

Table 3.2. Comparison of recovery (%) of Hg from river waters between those reported in literature and this work.

3.3.4.2 ASGM sites in Kakamega and Vihiga counties, Kenya

Mercury concentrations were measured across 5 ASGM sites in the Kakamega gold belt, Kenya, for different water matrices (Table 3.3). The concentrations found in waters across all 5 sites were below the limit for chronic exposure to aquatic wildlife, <0.77 μ g L⁻¹ Hg (EPA, 1995), between 0.010 – 0.348 μ g L⁻¹ Hg, with the most contaminated samples collected from mine shaft water at the Bushiangala mine site. Samples collected from drinking water sources were below the WHO guideline maximum value of 6 μ g L⁻¹ (WHO, 2022), containing Hg concentrations of 0.023 – 0.166 µg L⁻¹ in spring and river drinking water sources. Water from mine shafts is also used as a drinking water source by miners and these samples were typically higher in concentration than spring- and river-based drinking water sources, varying between 0.041 – 0.348 μ g L⁻¹ Hg. While this implies no significant immediate hazard to the environment, it is important to note that samples were collected before alluvial mining and gold amalgamation occurred, so they are representative of ambient Hg concentrations in waters and does not capture Hg concentrations immediately after release to the water bodies. Exposure from these waters is below the tolerable weekly intake of 0.7 µg (Hg) kg⁻¹ (body weight) week⁻¹ (Kuras et al., 2017), assuming a 3L water intake per day and an approximate 60 kg average Kenyan bodyweight (WHO,

2022), but the mine shaft water consumed by the mine workers makes up 17% of the tolerable weekly intake and so may pose a health hazard in conjunction with dietary and other external exposure routes, for example inhalation during burning.

The measured Hg concentrations are lower than previously reported values from ASGM sites in Kenya by Olgola et al. (2001), 8040 μ g L⁻¹ Hg, however, methods of sampling, filtration, or preservation were not reported for waters, so the data should be considered with this in mind. The analysis method from this literature study also included a HNO₃ digestion step, which may digest particulate matter-bound Hg from unfiltered samples and therefore increase the measured concentration of Hg. A study by Ngure et al. (2017) reported Hg concentrations of 0.06 – 19 μ g L⁻¹ Hg in drinking water in the Migori gold belt, Kenya, where the most elevated concentrations were found at sampling points closer to the mouth of the river system and indicating potential pollution from ASGM activities along the rivers length. The lower concentration samples, 0.06 and 0.92 μ g L⁻¹ Hg, are comparable to those found in this study. In both the literature study and this work, the sample locations are similarly positioned in the Kenyan gold belts with respect to potential nearby ASGM sites.

For a more accurate assessment of associated health risks, Hg speciation should be taken into consideration due to differing bioavailability and toxicity. Future work on SPE-based sampling methods should examine the potential for species sampling and preservation to better understand Hg speciation and transformations in the environment.

Sample	Water type	Location	Hg concentration (μg L ⁻¹)	Weekly exposure (µg(Hg) kg ⁻¹ (body weight) week ⁻¹
M1	Mine shaft water	Lunyerere	0.179	0.063
M2	Mine shaft water	Malinya	0.255	0.089
M3	Mine shaft water	Bushiangala	0.348	0.122
М4	Mine shaft water	Bushiangala	0.041	0.014
1414		0.1		

Table 3.3. Hg concentrations determined from water samples at ASGM sites across the Kakamega gold belt, Kenya.

M5	Mine shaft water	Rosterman	0.045	0.016
R1	River water (near mine shaft)	Lunyerere	0.166	0.058
R2	River water (near mine shaft)	Lunyerere	0.148	0.052
R3	River water (drinking water)	Malinya	0.023	0.008
R4	River water (mineshaft water released to river)	Bushiangala	0.084	0.029
R5	River water (upstream of new alluvial mining operation)	Rosterman	0.02	0.007
R6	River water (downstream of new alluvial mining operation)	Rosterman	0.032	0.011
R7	River water (new alluvial mining operation)	Rosterman	0.058	0.02
R8	River water (from a separate mining village)	Rosterman	0.141	0.049
R9	River water (downstream of ASGM site)	Rosterman	0.028	0.01
S1	Spring water (drinking water)	Lunyerere	0.132	0.046
S2	Spring water (drinking water)	Viyalo	0.043	0.015
\$3	Spring water (drinking water)	Bushiangala	0.036	0.013
S4	Spring water (drinking water)	Rosterman	0.055	0.019
S5	Spring water (upstream of ore washing ponds)	Rosterman	0.01	0.004
S6	Spring water (downstream of ore washing ponds)	Rosterman	0.043	0.015
01	Ore washing pond	Lunyerere	0.151	0.053
02	Ore washing pond	Viyalo	0.079	0.028

03	Ore washing pond	Malinya	0.03	0.011
04	Ore washing pond	Malinya	0.046	0.016
05	Ore washing pond	Bushiangala	0.162	0.057
06	Ore washing pond	Bushiangala	0.102	0.036
07	Hg amalgamation pan for	Posterman	0 277	0 007
07	ore washing	Nosterman	0.277	0.097
08	Ore washing pond	Rosterman	0.162	0.057
09	Ore washing pond	Rosterman	0.032	0.011
	(WHO Guideline value)		1.000	
	(US EPA no effect guideline –		0.770	
	aquatic wildlife)			

3.4. Conclusion

Due to poor stability of Hg in water samples, previous literature assessing Hg concentrations in waters in challenging environments may not accurately report representative values, likely as a result of inherent difficulties in the sampling, preservation, and subsequent analysis methods. This study successfully assessed an SPE-based method for the sampling and preservation of Hg in water samples, providing a robust method applicable in a wide variety of environments. Total dissolved Hg can be completely extracted from a natural water sample and preserved over a 4-week period with a >75% recovery, an improvement over previous literature preservation of just 1-week. The method was applied at Kenyan ASGM sites, finding Hg concentrations between 0.020 and 0.348 μ g L⁻¹ Hg, with water sources used as drinking waters found to not pose a significant health risk individually but do contribute up to 17% of the total weekly intake limit. The improved sampling method presented in this work will allow the collection of representative data at concentrations below the guidance limit for drinking water and thus improve future Hg monitoring schemes and toxicological studies, notably in vulnerable areas which currently cannot be assessed effectively. The assignment of such guidance limits is often constrained by the analytical chemistry detection limit capability and availability of equipment to reliably measure potentially toxic elements in environmental matrices at low concentrations that may better inform chronic exposure.

3.5 References

AL RAWAHI, W. A. & WARD, N. I. 2017. Field-based application of developed solid phase extraction with inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry for vanadium speciation analysis of groundwaters from Argentina. *Talanta*, 165, 391-397.

- BLANCO, R. M., VILLANUEVA, M. T., SÁNCHEZ URIA, J. E. & SANZ-MEDEL, A. 2000. Field sampling, preconcentration and determination of mercury species in river waters. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 419, 137-144.
- CAMLAB. 2023. *PTFE bottle with screw cap 500 mL* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.camlab.co.uk/ptfe-bottle-with-screw-cap-500ml</u> [Accessed 26/10/2023 2023].
- DEFRA. 2019. Classifications data for Trent River Operational Catchment: 2019 Cycle 3 [Online]. DEFRA UK. [Accessed 13/06/2023].
- DHHS, U. 2022. Toxicological Profile for Mercury. US DHHS.
- EPA, U. 1995. 1995 Water Quality Criteria. Washington, DC, USA: US EPA.
- EPA, U. 2007. Method 3535A Solid-Phase Extraction (SPE). US EPA.
- ESDAILE, L. J. & CHALKER, J. M. 2018. The Mercury Problem in Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining. *Chem. Eur. J.*, 24, 6905-6916.
- GRYNBERG, R., KANDASWAMY, V. & SINGOGO, F. 2022. The ASGM sector in Africa–A child of misery anddesperation? *Development Southern Africa*, 39, 151-164.
- HENTSCHEL, T., HRUSCHKA, F. & PRIESTER, M. 2002. Global Report on Artisanal & Small-scale Mining. International Institute for Environmental Development.
- IATA 2022. Dangerous Goods Regulations. In: ASSOCIATION, I. A. T. (ed.).
- KARUK ELMAS, S. N., DINCKAN, S., ARSLAN, F. N., AYDIN, D., SAVRAN, T. & YILMAZ, I. 2021. A rhodamine based nanosensor platform for Hg2+ sensing in near–perfect aqueous medium: Smartphone, test strip and real sample applications. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 421.
- KIM, M. K. & ZOH, K. D. 2012. Fate and transport of mercury in environmental media and human exposure. *J Prev Med Public Health*, 45, 335-43.
- KING, D. C. P., WATTS, M. J., HAMILTON, E. M., MORTIMER, R., KILGOUR, D. P.A. & DI BONITO, M. 2023. The present and potential future of aqueous mercury preservation: a review. *Environ Sci: Processes Impacts*. 25, 351-363
- KRISTENSEN, A. K., THOMSEN, J. F. & MIKKELSEN, S. 2014. A review of mercury exposure among artisanal small-scale gold
- miners in developing countries. Int Arch Occup Environ Health, 87, 579-590.
- KURAS, R., JANASIK, B., STANISLAWSKA, M., KOZLOWSKA, L. & WASOWICZ, W. 2017. Assessment of Mercury Intake from Fish Meals Based on

Intervention Research in the Polish Subpopulation. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 179, 23-31.

- LI, P., FENG, X. B., QIU, G. L. & LI, Z. G. 2009. Mercury pollution in Asia: A review of the contaminated sites. *J Hazard Mater*, 168, 591-601.
- LOPRESIDE, A., MONTALI, L., WANG, B., TASSONI, A., FERRI, M., CALABRETTA,
 M. M. & MICHELINI, E. 2021. Orthogonal paper biosensor for mercury(II) combining bioluminescence and colorimetric smartphone detection. *Biosens Bioelectron*, 194, 113569.
- LOUIE, H., WONG, C., HUANG, Y. J. & FREDRICKSON, S. 2012. A study of techniques for the preservation of mercury and other trace elements in water for analysis by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). *Anal. Methods*, 4, 522-529.
- MARGETÍNOVÁ, J., HOUSEROVÁ-PELCOVÁ, P. & KUBÁŇ, V. 2008. Speciation analysis of mercury in sediments, zoobenthos and river water samples by high-performance liquid chromatography hyphenated to atomic fluorescence spectrometry following preconcentration by solid phase extraction. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 615, 115-123.
- MORCILLO, P., ESTEBAN, M. A. & CUESTA, A. 2017. Mercury and its toxic effects on fish. *AIMS Environ Sci*, 4.
- NGURE, V., DAVIES, T., KINUTHIA, G., SITATI, N., SHISIA, S. & OYOO-OKOTH,
 E. 2014. Concentration levels of potentially harmful elements from gold mining in Lake Victoria Region, Kenya: Environmental and health implications. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 144, 511-516.
- NGURE, V., LELO, F. & OBWANGA, B. 2017. Heavy Metal Pollution from Migori Gold Mining Area, Kenya: Health Implications for Consumers of Fish and Water. *Journal of Natural Sciences Research*, 7, 46-53.
- O'REILLY, J., WATTS, M. J., SHAW, R., MARCILLA, A. L. & WARD, N. I. 2010. Arsenic contamination of natural waters in San Juan and La Pampa, Argentina. *Environ Geochem Health*, 32, 491-515.
- ODUMO, O. B., MUSTAPHA, A. O., PATEL, J. P. & ANGEYO, H. K. 2011. Multielemental Analysis of Migori (Southwest, Kenya) Artisanal Gold Mine Ores and Sediments by EDX-ray Fluorescence Technique: Implications of Occupational Exposure and Environmental Impact. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol,* 86, 484-489.
- OLGOLA, J. S., MITULLAH, W. V. & OMULO, M. A. 2001. Impact of Gold Mining on the Environment and Human Health: A Case Study in the Migori Gold Belt, Kenya. *Environ Geochem Health*, 24, 141-158.

- ONDAYO, M. A., WATTS, M. J., HAMILTON, E. M., MITCHELL, C., MANKELOW, J.
 & OSANO, O. 2023a. Artisanal gold mining in Kakamega and Vihiga counties, Kenya: potential human exposure and health risk. *Environ Geochem Health*, 45, 6543-6565.
- ONDAYO, M. A., WATTS, M. J., MITCHELL, C., KING, D. C. P. & OSANO, O. 2023b. Review: Artisanal Gold Mining in Africa—Environmental Pollution and Human Health Implications. *Expo Health*.
- PARKER, J. L. & BLOOM, N. S. 2005. Preservation and storage techniques for lowlevel aqueous mercury speciation. *Sci Total Environ*, 337, 253-63.
- RISHER, J. F. 2003. Elemental mercury and inorganic mercury compounds: human health aspects. WHO.
- STETSON, S. J., ERICKSON, M. L., BRENNER, J., BERQUIST, E. C., KANAGY, C., WHITCOMB, S. & LAWRENCE, C. 2021. Stability of inorganic and methylated arsenic species in laboratory standards, surface water and groundwater under three different preservation regimes. *Applied Geochemisry*, 125.
- SVOBODOVA, Z., LLOYD, R., MACHOVA, J. & VYKUSOVA, B. 1993. Water Quality and Fish Health. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- USEPA 1996. Method 1669 Sampling ambient water for trace metals at EPA water quality criteria levels. USEPA.
- WANG, Y., ZHU, A., FANG, Y., FAN, C., GUO, Y., TAN, Z., YIN, Y., CAI, Y. & JIANG,
 G. 2022. Dithizone-functionalized C18 online solid-phase extraction-HPLC-ICP-MS for speciation of ultra-trace organic and inorganic mercury in cereals and environmental samples. *J Environ Sci (China)*, 115, 403-410.
- WATTS, M. J., BUTTON, M., BREWER, T. S., JENKIN, G. R. T. & HARRINGTON,C. F. 2008. Quantitative arsenic speciation in two species of earthworms from a former mine site. *J. Environ. Monit.*, 10, 753-759.
- WATTS, M. J., O'REILLY, J., MARCILLA, A. L., SHAW, R. & WARD, N. I. 2010. Field based speciation of arsenic in UK and Argentinean water samples. *Environ Geochem Health*.
- WHO 2022. Guidelines for Drinking Water Quality. 4 ed.: WHO
- WILLIE, S., GRINDBERG, P., MESTER, Z. & YANG, L. 2011. ORMS-5. NRCC.
- YIN, Y.-G., CHEN, M., PENG, J.-F., LIU, J.-F. & JIANG, G.-B. 2010. Dithizonefunctionalized solid phase extraction–displacement elution-high performance liquid chromatography–inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry for mercury speciation in water samples. *Talanta*, 81, 1788-1792.

- YU, L.-P. & YAN, X.-P. 2003. Factors affecting the stability of inorganic and methylmercury during sample storage. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 22, 245-253.
- ZHAO, X., LIU, Y., SHU, B., GUO, Z., SONG, C., HUANG, X. & JIAO, Z. 2020. Portable smartphone-based device for on-site detection of Hg2+ in water samples. *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry*, 1-10.

Chapter 4 – Mercury speciation of environmental samples associated with artisanal small-scale gold mines using a novel solid-phase extraction approach to sample collection and preservation

This chapter was submitted to the journal *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, and was published October 2024. The formatting has been changed for uniformity with the rest of the thesis, and a clarifying statement is added to Figure 4.2.

In this chapter, the sampling and preservation method developed in Chapter 3 is further assessed for extraction of Hg species (Hg²⁺ and MeHg). Experimental work used a synthetic river water to assess the performance in samples with chemistry similar to waters at ASGM sites, with suitable recoveries of >94% for both species with storage up to 4-weeks. Environmental samples were collected at two ASGM sites in western Kenya to demonstrate the performance of the developed method in challenging environments, and to consider the environmental and human health implications of Hg pollution at these sites.

D. C.P. King^{1, 2}, M. J. Watts², E. M. Hamilton², R. J.G., Mortimer³, M. Coffey¹, O. Osano⁴ M. Di Bonito^{1, 5}

- 1 Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham, UK
- 2 British Geological Survey, Nottingham, UK
- 3 York St John University, York, UK
- 4 University of Eldoret, Eldoret, Kenya
- 5 Università di Bologna, Bologna, Italy

CRediT Statement:

David C.P. King: Conceptualisation, Writing – Original Draft, Methodology Michael
J. Watts: Conceptualisation, Funding acquisition, Review & Editing Elliott M.
Hamilton: Review & Editing Robert Mortimer: Review & Editing Mike Coffey:
Review & Editing Odipo Osano: Review & Editing Marcello Di Bonito:
Conceptualisation, Funding acquisition, Review & Editing

Acknowledgements

Funding for D.C.P.K was provided by Nottingham Trent University and The British Geological Survey University Funding Initiative (contract number: GA/21S/002); BGS-NERC grant NE/R000069/1 ("Geoscience for Sustainable Futures"); NERC National

Capability International Geoscience programme (NE/X006255/1); The Royal Society International Collaboration Awards 2019 grant ICA/R1/191077 ("Dynamics of Environmental Geochemistry and Health in a Lake-wide Basin"). This work is published with the permission of the Executive Director, British Geological Survey.

4A. Abstract

In artisanal small-scale gold mines (ASGM), mercury (Hg) is known to pollute nearby river waters and sediments where it can be methylated to the highly bioavailable methylmercury (MeHg). The assessment of Hg speciation in water samples has been challenging for many years, with recommended procedures often not adequately allowing for analysis of samples in a suitable timeframe. Using a novel solid-phase extraction (SPE) method for sampling and preservation of Hg species, representative speciation data can be safely and easily collected and retained for up to 4-weeks (MeHg = $115 \pm 8\%$ refrigerated and $109 \pm 13\%$ unrefrigerated storage; Hg²⁺ = $100 \pm$ 14% refrigerated and 94 ± 12% unrefrigerated storage). Concentrations of MeHg in environmental water samples and drinking water were below detection limit across two ASGM sites in western Kenya and concentrations of Hg²⁺ were below drinking water guidelines; however, drinking water sources contribute 20 - 30% of the tolerable weekly intake of Hg, indicating a need to minimise exposure of Hg from dietary sources to prevent Hg poisoning. Sediments from receiving rivers at ASGM sites showed total Hg concentrations above guideline limits (0.08 – 1.84 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg) along the length of the river; however, MeHg concentrations fluctuated dependent on the stagnation of the river due to dams and ponds (5.9 \pm 14.3 μ g kg⁻¹ MeHg). The findings show that SPE can be used as a robust sample collection and preservation approach for Hg speciation, which can better inform mitigation measures, understand ecological and human health implications, and improve environmental monitoring.

4.1 Introduction

Mercury (Hg) is one of the most toxic metals present in the environment and is of great concern to human and environmental health (WHO, 2005). Assessment of Hg pollution typically concerns total Hg concentrations in environmental matrices, but neglecting speciation may lead to an underestimate of hazards associated with Hg pollution. The two main species of interest in the aquatic environment are inorganic mercury (Hg²⁺), the most prevalent species, and methylmercury (MeHg), a highly bioavailable species known to be neurotoxic and long-lasting in the human body (Kim & Zoh, 2012). Inter-species conversion of Hg occurs in sediments when bacteria convert Hg²⁺ to MeHg under anaerobic conditions (Driscoll et al., 2013; Kim & Zoh, 2012). The MeHg introduced to the sediment can be displaced by bioturbation and sediment transport into rivers, where it dissolves into the water column. Thus, the methylated species is distributed through the aquatic environment and can bioaccumulate and biomagnify up trophic levels, leading to pollution of the

environment and potential toxicity to biota and human populations from low initial concentrations. This is especially problematic in vulnerable areas such as artisanal small scale gold mines (ASGM) where Hg is used to extract gold from crushed gold ore, resulting in sediment, water, soil and air pollution with Hg and increasing exposure of the local populations to the toxic metal (Ondayo, et al., 2023a,b). In these areas, nearby rivers are used for ASGM activities and waste disposal, as a domestic water source e.g. for laundry and cleaning, for drinking water, agricultural irrigation, aquaculture, and others. Figure 4.1. demonstrates typical points of pollution at ASGM sites and Figure 4.2. shows Hg used for amalgamation of the crushed ore to extract gold, typically conducted at rivers at or nearby mine sites that may also be used by the local population. Monitoring Hg and its species in ASGM sites is vital to ensure Hg exposure routes are minimised and human and environmental health is maintained.



Figure 4.1 An ore washing pond at Rosterman, Kenya (left) and its runoff, which enter the nearby river (right) used for domestic waters (laundry, cleaning, etc.) and crop irrigation.

Previous literature investigated concentrations of Hg species in river water at which no negative effects were estimated for the environment or human health, and reported this to be 0.0065 μ g L⁻¹ MeHg (Du et al., 2015). In contrast, this estimated concentration for Hg²⁺ was reported as 0.39 μ g L⁻¹, because the species is less bioavailable than MeHg. These estimated concentrations are significantly lower than the environmental guideline limit for total Hg in waters (0.77 μ g L⁻¹ Hg), suggesting environmental harm may occur at concentrations much lower than current guideline values, and there is limited guidance on species specific threshold limits in river and lake water (EPA, 1995). To measure Hg pollution in the environment, sediment and tissue samples are preferred as the species are more stable when bound to a solid matrix (Richard et al., 2016). However, without representative data from water samples, many direct exposure routes to both human health and the environment are not assessed.



Figure 4.2 Mercury (Hg) used for amalgamation of gold from crushed ore, usually handled with limited or no protective equipment.

The poor stability of Hg species in water samples is well known (King et al., 2023; Louie et al., 2012; Parker & Bloom, 2005; Yu & Yan, 2003), with near complete loss of total Hg within 1 week. Individual species require different methods of preservation (USEPA, 1996, 2002) which increases the difficulty of sample collection, particularly in challenging environments such as ASGM sites. It is recommended to ship samples to a lab within 48 hours of collection in polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) or glass containers for preservation, with acidification of separate samples using hydrochloric acid for Hg²⁺ or sulphuric acid for preventing ethylation of MeHg (USEPA, 2002). However, glass may be prone to breaking, PTFE containers are expensive, and handling acids in uncontrolled environments can result in accidental acid burns (King et al., 2023). In addition, it is recommended to collect larger sample volumes to minimise analyte losses and individual analysis of species. Literature into sampling and analysis of mixed species samples has focused on the use of solid-phase extraction (SPE) techniques (Blanco et al., 2000; King et al., 2023; Wang et al., 2022; Yin et al., 2010), but storage times are rarely assessed beyond 1 week.

Blanco *et al.* (2000) reported the development of an SPE-cartridge functionalised using diethydithiocarbamide to achieve total sorption and recovery of Hg²⁺ and MeHg from river waters over 1-week, but after a further 7 days recovery dropped to 70%

Hg²⁺ and 65% MeHg in refrigerated conditions (4 °C), and 40% Hg²⁺ and 35% MeHg in unrefrigerated (15 °C) conditions. Unpolluted and Hg-polluted river waters from Spain were used to validate the developed method by spiking with up to 0.15 μ g L⁻¹ Hg species, recovering 90% Hg²⁺ and 89% MeHg (Blanco et al., 2000).

A dithizone-functionalised SPE method by Yin et al. (2010) and Wang et al. (2022) demonstrated total sorption of both Hg²⁺ and MeHg with recoveries of >85% after 10 days, but no recoveries beyond this timescale were reported (Wang et al., 2022; Yin et al., 2010). These studies assessed speciation of Hg in river, lake and seawater as a preparation method for HPLC-ICP-MS analysis. Yin et al. (2010) reported recoveries of >85% MeHg in tap, river, sea and coal-washing waste water from 0.05 μ g L⁻¹ MeHg spiked samples and >85% Hg²⁺from tap, river and sea water from 0.2 µg L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ spiked samples. Meanwhile, Wang et al. (2022) reported similar recoveries of 95% Hg²⁺ and 100% MeHg waters from 0.001 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ and 0.001 μ g L⁻¹ MeHg spiked sea, river and lake water, concentrations expected of unpolluted waters. Previous work using a dithizone-functionalised SPE cartridge for total Hg preservation reported representative recoveries of >75% up to 4-weeks from collection from river waters associated with ASGM activities (King et al., 2024). This is summarised in Table 4.1. Further optimisation for Hg species preservation allows for improvements in Hg monitoring by ensuring representative concentrations of MeHg can be determined after moderate storage times.

Study	Storage time reported	Recovery from
		environmental water
		samples
Blanco et al. (2000)	1 week	90% Hg ²⁺ , 85% MeHg
Yin et al. (2010)	10 days	85% Hg ²⁺ , 85% MeHg
Wang et al. (2022)	10 days	95% Hg²+, 100% MeHg
King et al. (2024)	4 weeks	85% total Hg

Table 4.1 Storage times and recovery of Hg from environmental water samples from relevant literature

The analysis of Hg species is conducted using online-separation techniques, either chromatographic techniques such as HPLC-ICP-MS (Blanco et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2022; Yin et al., 2010) or cold vapour methods such as CV-AAS (USEPA, 1996, 2002; Yu & Yan, 2003). These detection methods are suitable for water samples and extractant solutions from solid matrices such as sediments, with detection limits as low as 1 μ g L⁻¹ Hg for CV-AAS and 0.005 μ g L⁻¹ for HPLC-ICP-MS. Recent literature

has focused on the development of HPLC-ICP-MS analysis methods, using a functionalised solid-phase to immobilise and separate individual Hg species (Balarama Krishna et al., 2010; Favilli et al., 2022; Wang et al., 2022; Yin et al., 2010), due to the robustness of the technique and detection limits suitable for unpolluted environmental samples, usually around 0.002 to 0.1 μ g L⁻² Hg²⁺ and 0.001 to 0.005 μ g L⁻¹ MeHg. These concentrations are below the estimated concentrations reported by Du *et al.* (2015), and thus enable the assessment of potential hazard posed by MeHg and Hg²⁺ in environmental water samples.

These established methods using HPLC-ICP-MS to measure Hg species in sediments along with new development in field preservation techniques using SPE for Hg species in water samples associated with ASGM practices enable a robust assessment of environmental pathways for Hg used at ASGM sites incorporating both water and sediment matrices to better understand the source-pathway of Hg. Therefore, the aim of this study was to undertake the characterisation of Hg speciation in environmental samples associated with ASGM sites using novel methodologies. To achieve this, the objectives were:

1) optimisation of a functionalised cartridge for the field preservation of Hg²⁺ and MeHg in water samples, to enable field application in remote locations and robustness to complex water matrices associated with ASGM.

2) measurement of Hg species in waters and sediments at ASGM sites in the Kakamega and Vihiga gold belt, western Kenya, including full elemental characterisation for a broader context and understanding of the chemistry of these matrices.

4.2. Methodology

4.2.1. Cartridge Functionalisation

Functionalisation of cartridges was previously described in King *et al.* (2024). Briefly, 5 mL methanol (SigmaAldrich, UK) was put through a C18 cartridge (Bond Elut Jr, Agilent, UK), followed by 5mL 0.5M sodium formate-formic acid buffer (pH 4, SigmaAldrich, UK), 1 mL 0.002 M dithizone solution (AlfaAesar, UK), followed by 3mL of 0.5 M sodium formate-formic acid buffer (pH 4, SigmaAldrich, UK).

4.2.2. HPLC-ICP-MS

An aqueous-C18 column (Poroshell aqueous C18, 5 µm, 4.6 mm i.d. × 50 mm length, Agilent, UK) was selected for HPLC separation, using a mobile-phase of 2mercaptoethanol solution (0.5% v/v, SigmaAldrich, UK). The pump unit was an Agilent 1290II infinity (Agilent, UK). The HPLC unit was coupled to an Agilent 8900 ICP-MS (Agilent, UK). Conditions for ICP-MS analysis are described in Appendix 4 Supplementary Table A4.1. All samples were analysed by HPLC-ICP-MS for Hg speciation using masses of ²⁰¹Hg for analysis of Hg species in water samples using the SPE method, and using masses of ¹⁹⁹Hg and ²⁰¹Hg for isotope dilution analysis of MeHg in sediment samples. An example chromatogram is shown in Figure 4.3. Analysis method detection limits for ¹⁹⁹Hg and ²⁰¹Hg were determined as 3 times the standard deviation of 9 blank replicates as summarised in Appendix 4 Supplementary Table A4.2, and an example chromatogram of Me(¹⁹⁹Hg), Me(²⁰¹Hg), ¹⁹⁹Hg and ²⁰¹Hg is shown in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.3 (a) An example chromatogram of MeHg (190-210 s) and Hg^{2+} (240-280 s) and (b) a magnification of the MeHg peak

4.2.3. Quality control

Due to the known instability of Hg species, certified reference materials for aqueous matrices are not readily available. During HPLC-ICP-MS analysis, a 0.25 μ g L⁻¹ Hg quality control solution and a 0.04 μ g L⁻¹ MeHg quality control solution were periodically analysed (every 10 samples) to determine accuracy and precision. A synthetic river water was used as a matrix in experimental work, to ensure the performance of the cartridge would not be impacted by major anion and cation chemistry found at ASGM study sites, such as those reported by Ondayo *et al.* (2023a) (Appendix 4 Supplementary Table A4.3) (Ondayo et al., 2023b). A method for manufacturing the matrix is described in previous work (King et al., 2023; Smith et al., 2002). The matrix was spiked to 0.5 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ and 0.05 μ g L⁻¹ MeHg to represent Hg species concentrations. The use of a standard hard water matrix across all experimental work demonstrates the robustness of the method under expected matrix conditions and the effects of common major ionic constituents.

4.2.4. Matrix conditions

River and lake water matrices are complex and vary in geochemical characteristics, such as pH, salinity and organic matter. These different matrix conditions may affect the sorption and recovery of Hg species from the functionalised cartridge. To determine the effect of matrix components, pH (pH 5 and 8 (adjusted using 1 M ammonium hydroxide, SigmaAldrich, UK and concentrated nitric acid, Romil, UK), salinity (0.1 and 1.9% w/v chloride (using sodium chloride, SigmaAldrich, UK), and humic acid content (5 and 20 mg L⁻¹ humic acid (SigmaAldrich, UK)) were assessed. A 30 mL aliquot of each spiked matrix was passed through a functionalised cartridge and was eluted with 30 mL 2-mercaptoethanol solution (1% v/v, SigmaAldrich, UK). The eluent was collected for analysis.

4.2.5. 4-week preservation

It is vital to determine the stability of Hg species on the functionalised cartridge, to ensure its usefulness as a sampling method. To assess this, 30 mL aliquots of the Hg^{2+} and MeHg spiked solution was passed through functionalised cartridges, and were subsequently stored for 0, 1, 2, 3 and 4 weeks in either refrigerated (4°C, dark) and unrefrigerated (16°C, dark) conditions. After the specified storage period, the cartridges were eluted with 30 mL 2-mercaptoethanol (1% v/v) which was collected for analysis.

4.2.6. Case study of artisanal gold mines, Kenya

Maps of Case study sites are shown in Figure 4.4.



Figure 4.4 Sampling points (26) for Hg, water and sediment samples at ASGM sites in (a) Kakamega gold belt, (b) Kenya: (c) Malinya mine and (d) Rosterman mine. Rivers and contour lines are included for topography

Water and sediment samples were collected from ASGM sites in the Kakamega gold belt, Kenya; Rosterman mine site (0°15'35.6"N 34°43'12.0"E) and Malinya mine site (0°11'22.4"N 34°44'10.3"E). Activities at these sites are well known (King et al., 2023; Ondayo, et al., 2023a,b) and are representative of ASGM sites with river systems used by the miners and the local community. The rivers are small tributaries of the River Yala and Nzoia which ultimately drain into Lake Victoria, Kenya. Twenty-five water samples including preserved Hg samples, and twenty-one sediment samples were collected at intervals along the river passing through the mine site, ore washing ponds, and drinking water sources. Water samples were collected in HDPE containers (15 mL and 8 mL) and were filtered (0.45 µm hydrophilic HDPE filters) and stored at 4 °C until they could be acidified in a laboratory setting (1% $HNO_3 + 0.5\%$ HCI). A 30 mL aliquot of river water was filtered and passed through functionalised cartridges at a rate of approximately 10 mL min⁻¹, and the cartridges were stored at 4 °C in the dark until elution and analysis. Sediment samples were collected with a stainless-steel scoop and stored in LDPE zip-lock bags, and transported to a laboratory within 48 hours of collection where the samples were then freeze-dried (-70 °C) until constant weight. Sediment samples were then hand-milled and sieved to <250 µm particle size. Flow charts showing relationships between sampling points and run off are shown in Appendix 4 Supplementary Figures A4.1a and A4.1b.

4.2.7. Water analysis for Hg species

Functionalised cartridges for Hg species were stored at 4 °C in the dark until in a laboratory setting for elution and analysis. An aliquot of 2-mercaptoethanol solution (30 mL, 1% v/v) was passed through each cartridge and collected for immediate analysis by HPLC-ICP-MS, as per the matrix and 4-week preservation experiments.

4.2.8. Total Hg analysis in sediment samples

Total Hg concentrations were determined in all sediment samples using a DMA-80 total Hg analyser (Milestone, UK). Sediment samples (0.05 g) were weighed into metal sample boats (Milestone, UK), which were then subjected to thermal decomposition and quantification using DMA-80 for direct Hg analysis. Certified reference materials (HR-1, NRCC, TH-2, NRCC, and PACS-2, NRCC, Canada) were analysed periodically (every 10 samples) to determine accuracy and precision of data (Appendix 4 Supplementary Table A4.4).

4.2.9. Isotope dilution and microwave extraction in sediment samples

To determine Hg speciation in sediments, samples underwent isotope dilution and microwave extraction. By using an isotopic spike, more accurate Hg concentrations can be determined from sediment extractions by comparison of the ratio of the isotopically enriched spike isotope (¹⁹⁹Hg) and a reference isotope (²⁰¹Hg). The concentration of MeHg in sediment samples (C_x) is calculated following Equation 1 (Hamilton et al, 2020):

Equation 1: $C_{\chi} = C_s \frac{M_x}{M_s} \frac{W_s}{W_x} \frac{(A_s | -RB_s)}{(RB_x - A_x)}$

Where C_s is the concentration of MeHg (¹⁹⁹Hg) in the spike solution, M_x represents the relative atomic mass of Hg in the sample, M_s represents the relative atomic mass of Hg in the spike solution, W_s represents the mass of the spike solution added, W_x represents the mass of the sample, R represents the ratio of reference isotope to spike isotope in the spiked sample as determined through measurement of isotopic abundance by ICP-MS analysis. A_s represents the abundance of the reference isotope in the spike solution, B_s represented the abundance of the spike isotope in the spike solution, A_x represents the abundance of the spike isotope in the sample, and B_x represents the abundance of the spike isotope in the sample, and B_x represents the abundance of the spike isotope in the sample, and B_x represents the abundance of a spike isotope in the sample, and B_x represents the abundance of the spike isotope in the sample, and B_x represents the abundance of the spike isotope in the sample, and B_x represents the abundance of the spike isotope in the sample ratios were corrected for instrument mass bias by comparison of the expected ratio of reference isotope and the natural isotope to an unspiked reference material.

4.2.9.1. Reverse isotope dilution

To determine the concentration of the MeHg (¹⁹⁹Hg) spike solution, a reverse isotope dilution method was employed. Briefly, 0.0994 g of a naturally isotopically distributed MeHg standard (1000 μ g L⁻¹ MeHg, Alfa Aesar, US) was added to 0.303 g of the isotopically enriched MeHg (¹⁹⁹Hg) solution (reported as 52 μ g L⁻¹ MeHg, ISC Science, Spain). The mixture was analysed by HPLC-ICP-MS and the concentration of the isotopic spike was calculated using Equation 1.

4.2.9.2. Microwave assisted extraction and HPLC-ICP-MS analysis

An extractant solution was made to 3 M HCl (Romil, UK) and 0.2 M citric acid (SigmaAldrich, UK) with deionised water. 0.5 g of sediment sample was spiked with 0.5 mL MeHg isotopically enriched solution (75 μ g L⁻¹ MeHg, ¹⁹⁹Hg, ISC Science, Spain) and left to equilibrate. 10 mL of the extractant solution was added to each sediment sample, which were subsequently microwaved for 5 minutes at 500W (temperature regulated to 45 °C). The solution was filtered and analysed by HPLC-

ICP-MS for Hg²⁺ and MeHg. An estuarine reference material, EU ERM®-CC58, was extracted and analysed alongside the sediment samples, to ensure adequate extraction (Appendix 4 Supplementary Table A4.4).

4.2.10. Characterisation of water and sediment for multielemental analysis

Both sediment and water samples were analysed at the British Geological Survey for total elemental concentration by ICP-MS (Agilent 8900, Agilent, UK). Water samples were preserved by acidification with HCI (0.5%) and HNO₃ (1%) upon delivery to the laboratory. Sediment samples were dissolved for analysis using a mixed acid digestion approach (HF/HNO₃/HClO₄) with a programmable hot-block, as described in previous literature (Watts et al., 2008; 2013; 2019). Briefly, sediment samples were weighed (0.25g) into PFA vials, acids added and heated on a temperature programmable graphite hot-block (80 °C for 8 h, 100 °C for 2 h, 120 °C for 1 h, 140 °C for 3 h, 160 °C for 4 h). Once digested and evaporated, the sample was taken up in 2.5 ml of concentrated nitric acid, heated at 50 °C for 30 min and then treated with 30% (v/v) hydrogen peroxide, before being made up to volume (25 ml) with deionised water to give a final solution of 5% nitric acid for analysis by ICP-MS. Certified reference materials (CRM), USGS BCR-2, NRCC LKSD-1, NRCC LKSD-3, and NRCC MESS-4, were digested and analysed alongside the sediment samples, with acceptable CRM recoveries of >85% and standard deviation of <10% (Appendix 4 Supplementary Table A4.6). Duplicate sample analysis demonstrated percentage differences of <25% for all assessed elements.

4.3. Results and Discussion

4.3.1. Matrix conditions

To determine the efficiency of the functionalised cartridge in varied water matrices, the effect of three major matrix components on retention and recovery of spiked Hg species from the functionalised cartridge were assessed: pH, chloride concentration and humic acid concentration. A synthetic river water was used through the experiment, spiked with $0.5 \ \mu g \ L^{-1} \ Hg^{2+}$ and $0.05 \ \mu g \ L^{-1} \ MeHg$ (n=5). The pH of the matrix was adjusted to pH 5 and 8, typical of water found near ASGM sites. Chloride concentrations were adjusted to 0.1% and 1.9% (w/v) chloride, typical of non-saline and saline water sources. Humic acid concentrations were adjusted to 5 and 25 mg L^{-1} , typical of varying amounts of organic matter entering the water body. Under all assessed conditions, recoveries of Hg^{2+} and MeHg were >84% with a standard deviation of <8% (Table 4.2).

Characteristic assessed	Percentage recovery of Hg ²⁺ (%)	Percentage recovery of MeHg (%)
рН 5	100 ± 1%	90 ± 1%
рН 8	98 ± 7%	84 ± 7%
0.1% Cl ⁻	101 ± 3%	98 ± 4%
1.9% Cl ⁻	99 ± 1%	96 ± 4%
5 mg L ⁻¹ Humic acid	100 ± 1%	92 ± 6%
25 mg L ⁻¹ Humic acid	105 ± 3%	91 ± 5%

Table 4.2 Percentage recovery (%) of Hg2+ and MeHg from varied environmental characteristics (pH, chloride concentration and humic acid concentration) (n=5).

The recoveries of both Hg²⁺ and MeHg, summarised in Table 1 for all matrices, demonstrated collection of representative concentrations is possible from waters with varied chemical characteristics, with a standard deviation of <8% shows robustness of the cartridge method performance from the assessed conditions. This aligns with previous literature and similarly functionalised cartridges. Blanco et al. (2000) reported negligible effects on recovery from sample pH between pH 3 to 8 using a diethyldithiocarbamate functionalised cartridge, while Wang et al. (2022) noted an influence on species specific recovery of Hg²⁺ but maintained a >70% recovery for all species using a similar dithizone functionalised phase to this study. This work demonstrates negligible effects of pH (5 and 8) on both Hg²⁺ and MeHg sorption and recovery. Chloride concentrations were also demonstrated in this study to have no effect on recovery, with >96% MeHg and >99% Hg²⁺ found at salinities representative of both river water and seawater. This is supported by Yin et al. (2010) and Wang et al. (2022), who both reported >80% recovery of both Hg²⁺ and MeHg using a similar dithizone functionalised phase to this study when in the presence of up to 3% (v/v) Cl⁻, (Wang et al., 2022; Yin et al., 2010) and thus demonstrates usability of the functionalised cartridge for sampling in highly saline environments. Yin et al. (2010) found significant decrease in recovery of Hg²⁺ in solutions containing greater than 5 mg L^{-1} humic acid from the use of a 12.5 µg dithizone functionalised cartridge, potentially due to disruption of Hg sorption to the dithizone functionalised solid phase from thiol-containing humic acid molecules. In this study, functionalisation using 50 µg dithizone provided good performance for more complex matrices associated with ASGM of 100% recovery of Hg²⁺and >91% recovery of MeHg, suggesting the functionalised cartridge is suitable for a wide concentration of organic matter (King et al., 2024). These results indicate a dithizone functionalised SPE cartridge is a suitable method for adsorption and recovery of Hg species from a variety of river and lake

water samples, and is not affected by major ion concentrations, pH, salinity or humic acid concentrations expected in environmental river waters. It is important to note while dithizone is insoluble in water, it can dissolve at a pH >10 and mobilise through the cartridge. Thus, assessment of the water for sampling should be undertaken prior to sample loading to ensure an adequate pH of <8, to minimise risk of re-mobilising the solid-phase and subsequent inability to suitably retain Hg concentrations.

4.3.2. 4-week preservation

The stability of both Hg²⁺ and MeHg on the functionalised column is vital to ensure data are representative after transport from the field. The recommended procedure of shipping samples to laboratories within 48 hours of collection (USEPA, 1996, 2002) is impractical in remote and challenging environments. Therefore, Hg recovery data from a synthetic river water (n=5) for both Hg²⁺ (0.5 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺) and MeHg (0.05 μ g L⁻¹ MeHg) across 4-weeks of storage in the absence of light, in both unrefrigerated (16°C) and refrigerated (4°C) conditions is shown in Figure 4.5. The mean recovered concentrations of MeHg over 4-weeks of storage was 109 ± 13% in unrefrigerated and 115 ± 8% in refrigerated conditions. Similarly, recovery of Hg²⁺ was between 93 ± 12% in unrefrigerated conditions and 100 ± 14% in refrigerated conditions. Recoveries of >100% are likely due to the methyl- group enhancing signal in the ICP-MS detection.



Figure 4.5 Percentage recovery (%) of Hg^{2+} and MeHg after 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 weeks of storage in refrigerated (4 °C, absence of light) and unrefrigerated (16 °C, absence of light) conditions, demonstrating suitable recoveries for a field sampling method (recovery 130%> x >75%) across all assessed time periods (n=5).

In both refrigerated (4 °C, absence of light) and unrefrigerated (16 °C, absence of light) conditions, both Hg²⁺ and MeHg were found in high recoveries (96 \pm 5% Hg² and 112 ± 11% MeHg) after 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 weeks of storage with acceptable deviation (Figure 5). The recoveries are improved from previous literature, where Hg species were suggested to be eluted just 1-week from collection using a diethyldithiocarbamate functionalised cartridge with reported recoveries beyond this decreasing to just 65% MeHg and 70% Hg²⁺ in refrigerated conditions (Blanco et al., 2000). Wang et al. (2022) reported recoveries of 97% Hg²⁺ and 86% MeHg after 10days storage using a dithizone functionalised cartridge but did not explore the usefulness of the cartridge beyond this timescale. In this study, Hg²⁺ recovery was 95 \pm 10% and MeHg recovery was 109 \pm 12% after 1 weeks of storage, and 96 \pm 13% Hg^{2+} and 108 ± 8% MeHg recovery after 2 weeks of storage, vastly improving on the preservation reported by previous literature. At 4 weeks of storage, recoveries were $96 \pm 14\%$ Hg²⁺ and $110 \pm 12\%$ MeHg, remaining representative of the original sample. A 4-week preservation of both Hg²⁺ and MeHg allows for improved speciation studies in challenging environments, such as ASGM sites, where adequate storage conditions are difficult to maintain and transportation to appropriate laboratories may be difficult.

At 3 weeks of storage, a recovery of 77 \pm 12% Hg²⁺ was obtained from refrigerated storage conditions. This is likely decreased compared to the other results due to residual moisture in the cartridge due to inadequate drying. This can affect sorption of Hg²⁺ to the functionalised phase and thus cartridges should have air passed through after water samples are passed through the cartridge, minimising residual moisture and ensuring full sorption of Hg species to the cartridge.

4.3.3. Hg speciation in ASGM waters

Water samples from two ASGM sites in Kenya (Rosterman and Malinya mine sites, Kakamega gold belt) were collected and analysed for Hg²⁺and MeHg (Table 4.3). General water chemistry is shown in Appendix 4 Supplementary Table A4.5. Across both Rosterman and Malinya mine sites, MeHg concentrations were below the detection limit of 0.007 μ g L⁻¹ MeHg. For Hg²⁺, concentrations ranged from 0.06 – 0.67 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ at Rosterman mine, with the highest concentration of 0.67 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ found in water from an ore washing pond (Hg-021). At a disused alluvial mining points (Hg-011, Hg-016 and Hg-017), Hg²⁺ concentrations were 0.06 - 0.31 μ g L⁻¹, greater concentrations than river water samples away from direct Hg inputs (Hg-001 to Hg-003) between 0.06 – 0.1 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺. At Malinya mine, Hg²⁺concentrations were 0.115

– 0.606 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ (Hg-022 to Hg-026), with the highest concentrations (0.41 – 0.61 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺) being found in water from a drinking water source originating from a pump buried downhill from sites of mining activities (Hg-024 and Hg-025). Water passing through mine tailings was found to contain 0.57 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ (Hg-026), and water leaving the site was found to contain 0.12 – 0.26 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ (Hg-022 and Hg-023).

Table 4.3 Speciation of MeHg and Hg²⁺ in river water samples at ASGM sites in the Kakamega Gold Belt, western Kenya (Rosterman mine and Malinya mine)

Sample	Sampling point	MeHg	Hg ²⁺	Cr	As	Ni	Cd	Pb
point	description	µg L⁻¹	µg L ⁻¹	µg L⁻¹	µg L⁻¹	µg L-1	µg L-1	µg L-1
	Rosterman							
Hg-001	River water leaving	<0.007	0.070	0.40	0.64	1.39	0.006	0.06
	mine site							
Hg-002	River water leaving	<0.007	0.106	0.29	0.61	1.41	<0.005	<0.02
	mine site							
Hg-003	River water leaving	<0.007	0.059	0.20	2.23	4.34	<0.005	<0.02
	mine site							
Hg-004	River water leaving	<0.007	0.229	0.31	0.51	1.39	<0.005	<0.02
	mine site, point of use							
	for domestic activities							
Hg-005	River water after	<0.007	0.272	0.35	0.55	1.46	<0.005	<0.02
	mixing point							
Hg-006	Mixing point of river	<0.007	0.405	0.37	0.21	1.24	<0.005	0.02
	from Rosterman mine							
	and minor tributary							
	from nearby villages							
Hg-007	Minor tributary from	<0.007	0.165	0.37	0.14	1.09	<0.005	0.02
	nearby villages	0.007	0.050	0.44	0.40	0.00	0.005	0.00
Hg-008	Rosterman mine river	<0.007	0.058	0.41	2.13	2.69	<0.005	<0.02
	water prior to mixing							
		.0.007	0.440	0.44	4.04	0.04	0.005	.0.00
Hg-009	River water upstream	<0.007	0.119	0.41	1.34	3.31	<0.005	<0.02
Ha-010	River water	~0.007	0 090	0.39	2 0/	2 98	~0.005	0.03
rig-oro	downstream of mining	<0.007	0.030	0.00	2.04	2.30	<0.000	0.00
	activities							
Ha-011	River water	<0.007	0.105	0.46	1.10	3.70	<0.005	<0.02
	downstream of		01100	0110		0.1.0		
	drinking water							
	reservoir							
Hg-012	Small pond formed	<0.007	0.059	0.39	0.76	2.73	<0.005	0.10
-	from drinking water							
	reservoir outlet							

Hg-013	Drinking water reservoir	<0.007	0.055	2.07	0.86	3.26	<0.005	0.21
Hg-014	River water downstream of nearby disused ore washing pond	<0.007	0.103	0.50	1.08	3.40	<0.005	<0.02
Hg-015	River water immediately after disused alluvial mining pond	<0.007	0.062	0.53	0.80	3.52	<0.005	<0.02
Hg-016	Disused alluvial mining pond	<0.007	0.095	0.56	0.49	3.39	<0.005	<0.02
Hg-017	River prior to disused alluvial mining pond, drinking/domestic water collection point	<0.007	0.315	0.75	0.32	3.15	0.006	0.02
Hg-018	River water prior to entering mine site	<0.007	0.293	0.43	0.37	2.94	<0.005	<0.02
Hg-019	Ore washing pond	<0.007	0.075	0.09	10.4	17.0	0.090	0.09
Hg-020	Mine water, used as	<0.007	0.144	1.54	1.51	2.77	0.012	0.04
	drinking water							
Hg-021	Ore washing pond	<0.007	0.671	0.56	11.2	7.65	0.011	0.04
	Malinya							
Hg-022	River water exiting mine site, nearby alluvial working point	<0.007	0.216	0.19	3.38	1.57	<0.005	<0.02
Hg-023	River water exiting mine site	<0.007	0.115	0.22	5.42	10.6	0.007	0.05
Hg-024	Drinking water from underground pump	<0.007	0.413	0.87	0.59	17.6	0.032	0.05
Hg-025	Pond formed from drinking water pump	<0.007	0.606	0.12	1.98	15.9	0.016	0.03
Hg-026	River water flowing through mine tailings	<0.007	0.574	0.40	1.98	1.45	<0.005	0.06
WHO	Guideline limits (WHO, 2003, 2005, 2006, 2017, 2021)	-	0.77	50	70	10	3	10

While there is no safe exposure to Hg, the Hg²⁺ concentration found at each sampling point was below the WHO drinking water guideline of 1 μ g L⁻¹ total Hg (WHO, 2005) and the USEPA environmental chronic exposure guideline of 0.77 μ g L⁻¹ total Hg (EPA, 1995). It should be noted that the aquatic Hg concentrations may fluctuate with increasing alluvial Hg work throughout a day and with changes to the seasonal

conditions throughout the year, thereby suggesting that environmental and human exposure may increase or decrease with external factors. The concentrations of Hg²⁺ in drinking water sources (Hg-004 Hg-012, Hg-013, Hg-20, Hg-024 and Hg-025) were assessed against a tolerable weekly intake of 0.7 μ g kg⁻¹ (body weight) week⁻¹ Hg (Table 4.4), to determine the contribution to weekly exposure, assuming water consumption of 3 L per day to consider the water consumption of the workers in the mines and thus worst-case exposure to Hg, and 2 L per day for an average consumption of water, and the average Kenyan bodyweight to be 60 kg. At the drinking water pump in Malinya (Hg-024), the exposure was found to be 0.15 μ g (Hg) kg⁻¹ (body weight) week⁻¹ at 3 L water consumption per day. This contributes 20% to the tolerable weekly intake and thus minimising exposure from all sources, including waters, is vital to mitigate human exposure to the Hg species and reduce the risk of Hg toxicity.

Sample point	Sampling point description	2 L water per day Hg ²⁺ consumption (μg kg(bw) ⁻¹	3 L water per day Hg ²⁺ consumption (μg kg(bw) ⁻¹	Percentage of tolerable weekly intake
		week ⁻¹)	week ⁻¹)	(%)
	Rosterman			
	River water leaving mine site, point	0.05	0.08	17
Hg-004	of use for domestic activities			
Ua 012	Small pond formed from drinking	0.09	0.02	4
Hg-012	water reservoir outlet			
Hg-013	Drinking water reservoir	0.04	0.02	4
Hg-020	Mine water, used as drinking water	0.01	0.05	11
	Malinya	0.06		
	Drinking water from underground	0.02	0.15	31
⊓g-024	pump			
Ha 025	Pond formed from drinking water	0.02	0.21	45
⊓y-uzo	pump			

Table 4.4 Assessment of Hg consumption from drinking water sources compared to the tolerable weekly intake of 0.7 μ g(Hg) kg(body weight)⁻¹ week⁻¹

While Hg and its species are of great concern, activities at ASGM sites pollute other potentially toxic elements to the water systems and thus should be considered when

assessing environmental and human exposure. Elevated chromium (Cr), arsenic (As), nickel (Ni), cadmium (Cd), and lead (Pb) were previously reported in waters at ASGM sites (Ondayo, et al., 2023a), and so the concentrations of these elements were determined alongside Hg to examine environmental exposure to these potentially toxic elements from ASGM activities. The Cr concentrations in water at Rosterman and Malinya were between $0.12 - 2.07 \mu g L^{-1}$ Cr, with the highest concentrations, 2.04 and 1.54 µg L⁻¹ Cr, found in the Rosterman drinking water reservoir (Hg-012) and Rosterman mine shaft water (Hg-020) respectively. The As and Ni concentrations at Rosterman and Malinya were $0.14 - 11.2 \mu g L^{-1}$ As and 1.09 - 17.6 μ g L⁻¹ Ni respectively, with the highest As concentrations found in the Rosterman ore washing ponds (Hg-019) (10.4 – 11.2 μ g L⁻¹ As), and highest Ni concentrations found in the Rosterman ore washing ponds (17.0 µg L⁻¹ Ni) and the Malinya drinking water from an underground pump (15.6 – 17.6 μ g L⁻¹ Ni). Both Cd and Pb were mostly below detection limit (<0.006 μ g L⁻¹ Cd and <0.02 μ g L⁻¹ Pb) at Rosterman; however, sample from Malinya contained detectable Cd (0.007 – 0.032 μ g L⁻¹ Cd) and Pb (0.03 – 0.06 μ g L⁻¹ Pb) with the highest concentrations of both elements in the drinking pump water and subsequent pond. Concentrations of Cr, Ni, and As were reported in similar concentrations to this study (Ondayo, et al., 2023a), and are below the WHO drinking water guideline values of 50 μ g L⁻¹ Cr, 70 μ g L⁻¹ Ni, and 10 µg L⁻¹ As (WHO, 2022). The concentrations of Pb and Cd are lower than in previous work (0.18 μ g L⁻¹ Pb and 0.05 μ g L⁻¹ Cd) (Ondayo, et al., 2023a) which may be due to seasonal environmental changes, such as rainfall, or reduction in pollution of these elements by anthropogenic means.

4.3.4. Total Hg and MeHg in ASGM Sediments

Sedimentary total Hg concentrations (Table 4.5) were found between <0.05 - 1.72 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg at Rosterman mine and <0.05 - 1.84 mg kg⁻¹ at Malinya mine. The highest total Hg concentrations were found near disused alluvial mining ponds in Rosterman (Hg-015, 1.72 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg and Hg-017 1.01 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg) and near mine tailings in Malinya (0.377 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg). Concentrations of MeHg were found between $<0.1 - 8.2 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1}$ MeHg at Rosterman mine, with the highest concentration found downstream of the drinking water reservoir (Hg-011). The pond formed by the drinking water reservoir (Hg-012) showed 3.3 $\mu g \ kg^{-1}$ MeHg. At Malinya mine, sediment MeHg concentrations were between $1.0 - 36.8 \ kg^{-1}$ MeHg, with the highest concentration found in sediment from a pond formed by an underground drinking water pump. The river at Malinya mine passes through mine tailings and waste material (Hg-022), thus total sediment Hg was 0.377 mg kg⁻¹ but sediment

MeHg was just 1.0 μ g kg⁻¹. Similar findings are reported in sediments at Kenyan ASGM sites by Odumo et al. (2014), where total Hg was found to be 0.43 mg kg⁻¹. Ondayo, et al. (2023a) reported higher sediment concentrations of 2.4 – 6.1 mg kg⁻¹ Hg at Rosterman mine, which may indicate a decrease in ASGM and alluvial activities since publication. Eleven out of twenty-one sediment samples exceeded the US EPA guideline limit for sediment Hg concentration of 0.18 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg (EPA, 2006) highlighting significant environmental harm may occur within the river system. General chemistry of the sediments is in Appendix 4 Supplementary Table A4.6.

Table 4.5 Total Hg and MeHg concentration river sediment samples at ASGM sites in the Kakamega Gold Belt, western Kenya (Rosterman mine and Malinya mine)

Sample	Sampling point	MeHg	Total Hg	Total Cr	Total Ni	Total As	Total Cd	Total Pb
Point	description	µg kg⁻¹	mg kg⁻¹	mg kg⁻¹	mg kg⁻¹	mg kg⁻¹	mg kg⁻¹	mg kg ⁻¹
	Rosterman							
Hg-001	River water	<0.1	0.086	1370	196	10.7	0.07	15.9
	leaving mine site							
Hg-002	River water	<0.1	0.107	747	216	13.6	0.12	21.8
	leaving mine site							
Hg-003	River water	<0.1	0.076	945	204	18.1	0.10	22.1
	leaving mine site							
Hg-004	River water	<0.1	0.257	657	146	16.1	0.08	16.4
	leaving mine site,							
	point of use for							
	domestic							
	activities							
Hg-005	River water after	<0.1	0.090	1710	203	17.2	0.09	20.2
	mixing point							
Hg-006	Mixing point of	<0.1	0.107	1830	237	12.0	0.10	22.4
	river from							
	Rosterman mine							
	and minor							
	tributary from							
	nearby villages							
Hg-007	Minor tributary	<0.1	0.112	1940	230	7.94	0.11	17.7
	from nearby							
	villages							
Hg-008	Rosterman mine	<0.1	0.249	1270	209	51.2	0.07	31.4
	river water prior							
	to mixing point							
Hg-009	River water	2.8	1.06	781	250	33.0	0.11	43.4
	upstream of							
	drinking water							
	reservoir							

Hg-010	River water downstream of mining activities	<0.1	0.325	798	202	52.1	0.12	41.5
Hg-011	River water downstream of drinking water reservoir	8.2	0.138	1200	300	21.5	0.09	24.0
Hg-012	Small pond formed from drinking water reservoir outlet	3.3	0.379	482	162	10.4	0.17	29.5
Hg-014	River water downstream of nearby disused ore washing pond	4.9	0.517	865	272	40.0	0.10	21.2
Hg-015	River water immediately after disused alluvial mining pond	0.9	1.72	681	187	77.4	0.08	24.8
Hg-017	Disused alluvial mining pond	4.8	0.721	588	151	69.4	0.08	33.7
Hg-016	River prior to disused alluvial mining pond, drinking/domestic water collection point	3.8	1.01	1010	345	16.0	0.09	18.7
Hg-018	River water prior to entering mine site	<0.1	0.082	942	358	8.18	0.12	16.9
Hg-022	River water exiting mine site, nearby alluvial working point	2.2	0.170	295	98.7	66.9	0.10	18.5
Hg-023	River water exiting mine site	6.1	0.170	316	113	52.2	0.13	31.1
Hg-025	Pond formed from drinking water pump	36.8	1.84	275	64.2	345	0.32	38.2
Hg-026	River water flowing through mine tailings	1.0	0.377	301	73.8	28.5	0.04	18.3
USEPA	Guideline limits	-	0.18	43.4	22.7	9.8	0.99	35.8
-------	------------------	---	------	------	------	-----	------	------
	(EPA, 2006)							

Prior to entering Rosterman mine site (Hg-018), the river sediment concentration was found to be just 0.08 mg kg⁻¹ Hg total with MeHg below the detection limit of <0.1 μ g L^{-1} MeHg, indicating minimal Hg transfer from potential upstream sources. This is similar to concentrations in river water determined in Ghana, where the total Hg concentration was significantly lower upstream of ASGM work (0.2 mg L¹ total Hg) than during and after ASGM activities (2.3 mg L⁻¹ total Hg) (Samuel et al., 2018). It should be noted that no sampling procedure for water samples is reported. The most elevated Hg concentrations at Rosterman mine, 0.72 – 1.72 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg, were found at a recently disused alluvial mining pond (Hg-015, Hg-016 and Hg-017), which acts as a dam for sediment material and thus retains much of the Hg-particulate matter. These ponds are frequently used for direct alluvial work, where metallic Hg is directly dispersed to the river by amalgamation activities with crushed gold ore to extract the precious metal, and use run off from other mining activities uphill, which also introduces Hg from other ASGM-related processes. The MeHg concentration at these sampling points is $0.9 - 4.8 \mu g kg^{-1}$, decreasing as the river flows through the pond. Nearby vegetation and biotic matter in combination with the lower mobility of Hg-bound sediments provide an adequate environment for methylation of Hg to occur, thus introducing MeHg to the aquatic environment. The total Hg concentration decreased to 0.52 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg (Hg-014) with MeHg concentration at 4.9 µg kg⁻¹ MeHg, indicating the transfer of sedimentary materials with the river flow. As the river continues, total Hg concentrations remain consistent; however, MeHg concentrations fall below detection limit (<0.1 µg kg MeHg) as the river flows past natural vegetation (Hg-004, Hg-006, Hg-008 to Hg-010, approximately 100m), which take up Hg compounds such as MeHg (Schwesig & Krebs, 2003). At Malinya, the concentrations of total Hg at the point of the river leaving the site (Hg-022 and Hg-023) are just 0.17 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg, similar to concentrations found at Rosterman mine site from samples at distance from mining activities $(0.09 - 0.25 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$, with MeHg concentrations at $2.2 - 6.1 \mu g kg^{-1}$. As the river passes through mine tailings at Malinya (Hg-026), the concentration was found to be 0.377 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg, potentially caused by the residual Hg in artisanal mine waste material. The MeHg concentration at Hg-026 was just 1.0 µg kg⁻¹ MeHg, likely due to the more mobile flow of the river and constant supply of new sediment matter reducing the likelihood of Hg methylation. At a pond formed by an underground drinking water pump, total Hg concentration was 1.84 mg

kg⁻¹ total Hg and MeHg was the highest concentration found at 36.8 μ g kg⁻¹ MeHg. Due to the non-mobile nature of the sediment matter in the pond, the conditions are likely ideal for bacterial methylation of Hg. Concentrations of iron (Fe) in the water samples collected from this pump are much higher than the other samples collected (1250-1900 μ g L⁻¹ Fe at the pump, 0.7 – 1150 μ g L⁻¹ Fe at the other sampling points) which supports bacterial methylation of Hg, as Fe is a key component in the methylation process (Flemming et al., 2006; Kerin et al., 2006).

Despite concentrations of Hg being lower than guideline limits, other elements must be considered for their potentially toxic nature; Cr, As, Ni, Cd, and Pb are potentially toxic elements commonly measured in sediments taken from ASGM sites to assess pollution from mining activities and subsequently environmental health. Concentration of Cr at Rosterman ranged between 482 – 1940 mg kg⁻¹ Cr, far exceeding the US EPA guideline limit of 43.4 mg kg⁻¹ Cr (EPA, 2006), with the highest concentration in the minor tributary originating from other nearby villages (Hg-007) and the point at which the rivers mix (Hg-006). At Malinya, Cr concentrations were typically lower than Rosterman, at 275-316 mg kg⁻¹ Cr, but still above guidance limits. Concentrations of As showed an inverse trend to Cr with more elevated concentrations at Malinya (28.5 - 349 mg kg⁻¹ As) than Rosterman (7.94 - 77.4 mg kg⁻¹ As). Nineteen out of twentyone sediment samples were above the US EPA guideline limit of 9.8 mg kg⁻¹ As (EPA, 2006), one of which was prior to the river entering the mine site (Hg-018). This implies the mining activities introduce an environmentally significant amount of Cr to the river, which is transported downstream and further pollutes the aquatic environment. Concentration of Ni, Cd and Pb were consistent across both mine sites, at 64.2-358 mg kg⁻¹ Ni, 0.04 - 0.32 mg kg⁻¹ Cd and 15.5 - 41.5 mg kg⁻¹ Pb. All samples exceeded the US EPA guideline limit for Ni of 22.7 mg kg⁻¹ (EPA, 2006), three samples (Hg-010, Hg-001 and Hg-025) exceeded the guideline limit of 35.8 mg kg⁻¹ Pb including the pond formed by the drinking water pump at Malinya mine, but no samples exceeded the 0.99 mg kg⁻¹ Cd guideline limit. The concentrations of Cr, As, and Ni highlight the need to monitor toxic elements in addition to the focus on Hg around ASGM sites, to mitigate pollution to the environment.

4.4. Conclusion

The monitoring of Hg species in water samples has been a challenge to many environmental studies, often limiting the collection and use of Hg speciation data from some of the most vulnerable areas. The development of a novel SPE-based method for sampling and preservation of MeHg and Hg²⁺, achieving recoveries of 96 ± 5%

 Hg^{2+} and 112 ± 11% MeHg, will allow for representative concentrations to be determined from a variety of water matrices, with representative data obtainable up to 4-weeks after collection. Previous literature surrounding water pollution in ASGM has either not included Hg speciation, or often does not report sampling and preservation methods used, thus the optimised SPE-based method demonstrates robust Hg speciation sampling and preservation capability for use in complex water matrices. Salinity, humic matter and pH between pH 5 – 8 show negligible impact on the sorption and recovery of Hg species from the functionalised cartridge. It is important to note that high pH (pH >8) may remobilise the dithizone phase, thus significantly impacting retention of Hg species. This method was applied to a challenging environment (ASGM sites in western Kenya), for the assessment of Hg species in environmental samples. Waters at both Rosterman and Malinya mine site were below chronic environmental guideline limits, and thus ambient water concentrations do not pose an immediate environmental risk. Drinking water sources may pose a risk to human health when consumed as part of a diet with other Hgcontaminated substances, as waters make up 20% - 30% of the tolerable weekly intake of Hg. This outcome is important to guide future monitoring of ASGM activities to ensure they are assessed using representative data - often due to the use of inappropriate sample preservation, the problem of Hg exposure from drinking water associated with ASGM is underestimated. Sediment concentrations demonstrate a less time-dependent method of assessing Hg pollution due to being less mobile than waters, and the majority of collected samples exceeded safety thresholds for Hg, As, Cr, Ni and Pb, highlighting the need for to consider potentially toxic elements besides Hg. The cartridge method applied in this study demonstrates a novel, robust approach to preservation of Hg species, to provide a better understanding of ecological health, monitoring of aquaculture for food safety (Marriott et al. 2023; Aura et al. 2024), and human and environmental exposure routes (Ondayo et al. 2024) in the challenging environments of ASGM sites. Thus, regulatory authorities can obtain representative Hg pollution data to construct appropriate policies and take informed approaches to implementing Hg-free alternative to protect human and environmental health.

4.5. References

- AURA, CM, HUMPHREY, OS, MARRIOTT, AL, WATTS, MJ, ONGORE, CA, MWAMBURI, JM, OSANO, O, COFFEY, TJ (2024) Assessing the spatial distribution of elemental concentrations in surface sediments of Lake Victoria Kenya: implications for ecological health and management, *Environ Geochem Health*, 46:137 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-024-01930-7
- BALARAMA KRISHNA, M. V., CHANDRASEKARAN, K. & KARUNASAGAR, D. 2010. On-line speciation of inorganic and methyl mercury in waters and fish

tissuesusing polyaniline micro-column and flow injection-chemical vapourgeneration-inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (FI-CVG-ICPMS). *Talanta*, 81, 462-472.

- BLANCO, R. M., VILLANUEVA, M. T., SÁNCHEZ URIA, J. E. & SANZ-MEDEL, A. 2000. Field sampling, preconcentration and determination of mercury species in river waters. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 419, 137-144.
- DRISCOLL, C. T., MASON, P. R., CHAN, H. M., JACOB, D. J. & PIRRONE, N. 2013. Mercury as a Global Pollutant: Sources, Pathways, and Effects. *Environ Sci Technol,* 47, 4967-4983.
- DU, M., WEI, D., TAN, Z., LIN, A. & DU, Y. 2015. Predicted no-effect concentrations for mercury species and ecological risk assessment for mercury pollution in aquatic environment. *J Environ Sci (China)*, 28, 74-80.
- EPA, U. 1995. 1995 Water Quality Criteria. Washington, DC, USA: US EPA.
- EPA, U. 2006. Freshwater Sediment Screening Benchmarks. Washington DC, USA: US EPA.
- FAVILLI, L., GIACOMO, A., MALANDRINO, M., INAUDI, P., DIANA, A. & ABOLLINO, O. 2022. Strategies for mercury speciation with single and multi-element approaches by HPLC-ICP-MS. *Front. Chem*, 10.
- FLEMMING, E. J., MACK, E. E., GREEN, P. G. & NELSON, D. C. 2006. Mercury Methylation from Unexpected Sources: Molybdate-Inhibited Freshwater Sediments and an Iron-Reducing Bacterium. *Applied Environ. Microbiol.*, 72.
- HAMILTON, E. M., LARK, R. M., YOUNG, S. D., BAILEY, E. H., SAKALA, G. M., MASEKA, K. K., WATTS, M. J. 2020. Reconnaissance sampling and determination of hexavalent chromium in potentially-contaminated agricultural soils in Copperbelt Province, Zambia, *Chemosphere*, 247, 125984.
- KERIN, E. J., GILMOUR, C. C., RODEN, E., SUZUKI, M. T., COATES, J. D. & MASON, R. P. 2006. Mercury Methylation by Dissimilatory Iron-Reducing Bacteria. Applied Environ. Microbiol., 72.
- KIM, M. K. & ZOH, K. D. 2012. Fate and transport of mercury in environmental media and human exposure. *J Prev Med Public Health*, 45, 335-43.
- KING, D. C. P., WATTS, M. J., HAMILTON, E. M., MORTIMER, R., KILGOUR, D. P.
 A. & DI BONITO, M. 2023. The present and potential future of aqueous mercury preservation: a review. *Environ Sci: Processes Impacts*.
- KING, D. C. P., WATTS, M. J., HAMILTON, E. M., MORTIMER, R. J. G., COFFEY, M., OSANO, O., ONDAYO, M. A. & DI BONITO, M. 2024. Field method for total mercury in waters, including those associated with artisanal scale gold mining. *Anal. Methods*.
- LOUIE, H., WONG, C., HUANG, Y. J. & FREDRICKSON, S. 2012. A study of techniques for the preservation of mercury and other trace elements in water for analysis by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). *Anal. Methods*, 4, 522-529.
- MARRIOTT, A.L, OSANO, O.F., COFFEY, T.J., HUMPHREY, O.S., ONGORE, C.O., WATTS, M.J., AURA, C.M. (2023) Considerations for environmental biogeochemistry and food security for aquaculture around Lake Victoria, Kenya, Env. Geochem. Health https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-023-01585-w
- ODUMO, O. B., CARBONELL, G., ANGEYO, H. K., PATEL, J. P., TORRIJOS, M. & MARTÍN, J. A. R. 2014. Impact of gold mining associated with mercury contamination in soil, biota sediments and tailings in Kenya. *Environ Sci Pollut Res*, 21.
- ONDAYO, M. A., WATTS, M. J., HAMILTON, E. M., MITCHELL, C., MANKELOW, J. & OSANO, O. 2023a. Artisanal gold mining in Kakamega and Vihiga counties, Kenya: potential human exposure and health risk. *Environ Geochem Health*, 45, 6543-6565.

- ONDAYO, M. A., WATTS, M. J., MITCHELL, C., KING, D. C. P. & OSANO, O. 2023b. Review: Artisanal Gold Mining in Africa—Environmental Pollution and Human Health Implications. *Expo Health*.
- ONDAYO, M.A., WATTS, M.J., HUMPHREY, O.S., & OSANO, O. (2024). Public health assessment of Kenyan ASGM communities using multi-element biomonitoring, dietary and environmental evaluation. *Ecotoxicology and environmental safety*, 277, 116323.
- PARKER, J. L. & BLOOM, N. S. 2005. Preservation and storage techniques for lowlevel aqueous mercury speciation. *Sci Total Environ*, 337, 253-63.
- RICHARD, J. H., BISCHOFF, C., AHRENS, C. G. M. & BIESTER, H. 2016. Mercury (II) reduction and co-precipitation of metallic mercury on hydrous ferric oxide in contaminated groundwater. *Sci Total Environ*, 539, 36-44.
- SAMUEL, W., BUAMAH, R., ESSANDOH, H. & DARKWAH, L. 2018. Mapping, Characterization and Dispersion of Metallic Pollutants within a Catchment of Illegal Gold Mining Activities in Ghana. *Amercia. J. Engineer. Applied Sci.*, 11.
- SCHWESIG, D. & KREBS, O. 2003. The role of ground vegetation in the uptake of mercury and methylmercury in a forest ecosystem. *Plant and Soil,* 253.
- SMITH, E. J., DAVIDSON, W. & HAMILTON-TAYLOR, J. 2002. Methods for preparing synthetic freshwater. *Water Research*, 36, 1286-1296.
- USEPA 1996. Method 1669 Sampling ambient water for trace metals at EPA water quality criteria levels. USEPA.
- USEPA 2002. Method 1631, Revision E: Mercury in water by oxidation, purge and trap, and cold vapour atomc fluorescence spectrometry. USEPA.
- WANG, Y., ZHU, A., FANG, Y., FAN, C., GUO, Y., TAN, Z., YIN, Y., CAI, Y. & JIANG, G. 2022. Dithizone-functionalized C18 online solid-phase extraction-HPLC-ICP-MS for speciation of ultra-trace organic and inorganic mercury in cereals and environmental samples. J Environ Sci (China), 115, 403-410.
- WATTS, M. J., BARLOW, T. S., BUTTON, M., SAKAR, S. K., BHATTACHARYA, B. D., AFTAB ALAM, M. & GOMES, A. 2013. Arsenic speciation in polychaetes (Annelida) and sediments from the intertidal mudflat of Sundarban mangrove wetland, India. *Environ Geochem Health*, 35.
- WATTS, M. J., BUTTON, M., BREWER, T. S., JENKIN, G. R. T. & HARRINGTON, C. F. 2008. Quantitative arsenic speciation in two species of earthworms from a former mine site. *J. Environ. Monit.*, 10, 753-759.
- WATTS, M. J., MIDDLETON, D. R. S., MARRIOTT, A. L., HUMPHREY, O. S., HAMILTON, E. M., GARDNER, A., SMITH, M., MCCORMACK, V. A., MENYA, D., MUNISHI, M. O., MMBAGA, B. T., & OSANO, O. (2019), Source apportionment of micronutrients in the diets of Kilimanjaro, Tanzania and Counties of Western Kenya, *Sci. Reports*, 9.
- WHO 2003. Guidelines for safe recreational water environments: coastal and fresh waters (Vol. 1). WHO.
- WHO 2005. Mercury in Drinking-water. WHO.
- WHO 2006. Guidelines for safe recreational water environments. (Vol. 2). WHO.
- WHO 2017. Guidelines for drinking-water quality: First addendum to the fourth edition. WHO.
- WHO 2021. Guidelines for safe recreational water environments: Coastal and fresh waters (Vol. 1). WHO.
- WHO 2022. Guidelines for Drinking Water Quality. 4 ed.: WHO.
- YIN, Y.-G., CHEN, M., PENG, J.-F., LIU, J.-F. & JIANG, G.-B. 2010. Dithizonefunctionalized solid phase extraction–displacement elution-high performance liquid chromatography–inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry for mercury speciation in water samples. *Talanta*, 81, 1788-1792.
- YU, L.-P. & YAN, X.-P. 2003. Factors affecting the stability of inorganic and methylmercury during sample storage. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 22, 245-253.

Chapter 5 – General discussion and conclusion

5.1. Overview

The aim of this project was to develop a sampling method for total Hg and species in water samples, that can be used in challenging environments and preserve Hg for an adequate amount of time from field to laboratory. Hg is considered one of the most toxic elements posing a threat to humans and needs monitoring to mitigate pollution of the metal to the environment. The known instability of Hg species in waters has prevented adequate assessment of Hg concentrations in many studies, particularly in challenging environments such as artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM) sites. The recommended sampling procedure for Hg in water was to collect at least 500 mL water in glass or polytetrafluorine (PTFE) containers, and to ship them within 24 hours to a laboratory for acidification or immediate analysis (USEPA, 1996). This was not possible in many locations or challenging environments, such as remote locations and ASGM sites, due to accessibility issues, lack of appropriate laboratories and facilities, and increased difficulty for international sample transportation. Thus, literature relating to pollution, and environmental and human health is limited regarding Hg concentrations in waters. This work aimed to address this issue by developing a water sampling method using solid-phase extraction (SPE) techniques that is readily applicable in the field.

The outcome of this project provides a novel, robust methodology for collecting representative Hg species data in environments where this has not previously been possible, such as ASGM sites or remote locations with potential Hg pollution, and other water sources where Hg is of interest. For the first time, reliable measurements of in-situ Hg exposure to poorly protected ASGM communities were obtained. This will facilitate toxicology and Hg monitoring studies, providing representative data on Hg species in waters with human and environmental exposure routes and inform policies and mitigation measures for Hg exposure. Historic and current guidelines for Hg in waters have been determined based on instrumental limitations and the challenges faced during in-field sampling (WHO, 2022). The developed sampling methodology has improved the collection of Hg from water samples by overcoming the instability of Hg species, cost of sample collection from material requirements, storage space and transport requirements due to the portable nature of the developed SPE methodology, and minimising hazards to the operator and environment, and thus research into Hg in the aquatic environment. This can improve our understanding of environmental pathways of Hg, the effect of toxic metal in nature, assist with our understanding of both human and ecological health, and inform guidelines for Hg pollution and monitoring globally.

In addition, as sample collection times are quicker than other methods, such as collecting and filtering 0.5 - 1 L water in PTFE containers, a greater number of samples can be collected over a defined time period and thus larger scale collection is possible. This is also supported by the portable nature of the SPE cartridges, requiring significantly less storage space than traditional methods and pose minimal challenges when transporting samples both domestically and internationally.

To achieve this, the following objectives were met: 1) identifying a suitable method for sampling Hg from water samples, including assessing SPE methods for their potential as a sampling method; 2) Optimising the identified method as a sampling method for total Hg in water samples, including from challenging environments; 3) Further optimising the method for sampling and preservation of Hg speciation in water samples; and 4) Assessing the developed method for Hg speciation by deployment in ASGM sites in western Kenya, collecting water and sediment samples to examine pollutants. The results of the work are considered in context with their potential impacts and recommendations for further work.

5.2. Review of literature on Hg preservation and SPE

A review of literature surrounding Hg preservation methods highlighted a gap in knowledge of adequate in-field sampling methods that stabilise Hg and its species beyond 1-week of storage without the use of hazardous chemicals or expensive materials (King et al., 2023). Current preservation methods include acidification with nitric or hydrochloric acid, storage in glass or PTFE containers, and collecting in excess of 500 mL of water sample (USEPA, 1996, Yu and Yan, 2003). This comes with difficulties if used in-field, such as acid burns from spills, breakage of fragile containers, increased cost requirements for PTFE containers, and difficulties in transport of chemicals and storage of large sample volumes.

Previous work on SPE methods for preconcentration and separation of Hg often reported the useability of these methods for storage of Hg after extraction (Blanco et al., 2000, Margetínová et al., 2008, Wang et al., 2022, Yin et al., 2010). These methods require minimal training to use, pose minimal risk to the operator when used in the field, and were reported to produce representative data after at least 1 week of storage. The previous use of SPE methods in species separation of Hg indicated suitability for extracting and preserving Hg species from water samples, and thus make SPE ideal for further optimisation as an in-field sampling and preservation

method, particularly in challenging environments. A dithizone-functionalised C18 cartridge was identified as a stabilising approach for online-ICP-MS Hg speciation that can preserve Hg species from water samples (Wang et al., 2022, Yin et al., 2010).

5.3. Total Hg preservation

The second objective was met by assessing a dithizone-functionalised SPE cartridge for total Hg extraction from water samples and determining the ability of the cartridge for storage of Hg for a practical time period, treated as 4-weeks in this work. The development of a preservation method for total Hg in water samples was necessary to ensure representative data from environmental waters, especially from challenging environments where concentrations of Hg in waters have not previously been effectively assessed (Olgola et al., 2001, Ondayo et al., 2023b). Total Hg informs guideline limits for human and environmental Hg exposure, and so a method to ensure representative total Hg concentrations from water samples was necessary. The use of SPE methods for preservation of metals, such as Hg, As and V, from water samples has shown promise in the literature, but exploration for use as a sampling method for Hg has failed due to less practical storage times (Blanco et al., 2000) or use of expensive reagents (Leopold et al., 2010, Schlathauer et al., 2019, Zierhut et al., 2010). In challenging environments, such as ASGM sites, suitable laboratories for preservation and analysis may not be readily available and so samples may require transportation within country and international shipment. Thus, ensuring total Hg data are representative after 4-weeks of storage and ensuring the sampling methods is cost-effective is essential for application of the method in challenging environments.

To achieve the objective, the work conducted in Chapter 3 reports a 50 μ g quantity of dithizone immobilised to a C18 cartridges (Bond Elut Jr – Agilent, UK) provided suitable extraction and preservation of total Hg from a synthetic river water sample. A synthetic matrix, representative of water sources at ASGM sites such as rivers, allowed for control over the major chemistry of the sample and thus could more accurately represent environmental waters to efficiently assess the performance of the functionalised cartridges. Hg is immobilised onto the functionalised phase, thus volatilisation is mitigated and the likelihood of interspecies conversion to less stable species reduced. Recoveries of total Hg using the cartridge were reported at 85 \pm 10% (n=5) total Hg during 4-weeks of storage in both refrigerated (4°C, in the absence of light) and unrefrigerated (16°C, in the absence of light) conditions. The recoveries were similar to previous literature, but demonstrated stability of Hg over a greater time-period, of 4-weeks versus just 1-week, and so effective as a sampling method

with preservation capability. Essential factors for field methods, such as flow rate of loading sample to the functionalised phase and sorbent stability prior to use, were investigated, with no breakthrough of Hg, demonstrating the applicability as a field method. While flow rate is often investigated when developing a speciation, separation, and sample preparation method, stability of the sorbent is often overlooked as it is typically used immediately after functionalisation. This factor is key for sampling methods as the cartridges must be functionalised in a laboratory prior to use in the field, which may take weeks due to transportation time. The cartridges were stable for at least 2-weeks prior to use in the field and showed no breakthrough at a flow rate achievable by an operator pushing the sample through a syringe, a filter, and the cartridge, thus demonstrating the potential as a field method. This was validated by use in five ASGM sites in western Kenya, where water samples were collected and the total Hg determined to be between 0.02 and 0.38 µg L⁻¹. The sampling required minimal training and presenting little-to-no hazard to the operator. This is especially vital for environments such as ASGM sites, where there is inherent risk in conducting research.

Samples were collected from water sources throughout the day, with no aim to avoid any particular times or ASGM activities. Work involving Hg occurs throughout the day at ASGM sites, with an increase in Hg burning and alluvial activities later in the afternoon as more prepared ore is produced. Thus, Hg concentrations may fluctuate in the surrounding environment with changes to the types of work. Changes in Hg concentrations in rivers throughout the day with work and river-use has not been thoroughly assessed, and thus would be a good basis for future work to better understand human exposure from domestic activities and collected drinking water, and environmental health.

The ASGM sites used in this work have characteristics similar to other sub-Saharan ASGM sites, such as quantity and type of work conducted, socioeconomic backgrounds, and geochemical characteristics (Ondayo et al. 2023b). However, they may not be fully representative of global ASGM sites or sites of interest, which will differ in climate, scale, geology, socioeconomic status, and other factors that may affect Hg pollution to the environment. Assessment of the developed SPE cartridge in other environments may be necessary for widespread use of the methodology.

5.4. Hg species preservation

While total Hg concentrations are used for guideline limits of human and environmental Hg exposure (DHHS, 2022, WHO, 2022, EPA, 1995), assessment of

Hg species provides a more holistic understanding of the risk posed from Hg in waters. In order to determine Hg speciation, recommended procedures suggest collecting individual samples for each required species (US EPA 1996). Different species require different preservation methods, for example Hg²⁺ acidification with nitric or hydrochloric acid to stabilise the metal, whereas MeHg requires acidification with sulphuric acid due to the analysis methods required (Yu and Yan, 2003). This greatly increased the volume of sample required and necessary storage space, as well as the difficulty in transportation and overall analysis time. This limited the ability to monitor harmful Hg species that pose a greater risk, such as MeHg.

By assessing the SPE sampling technique, previously developed in Chapter 3, for Hg species, these issues can be greatly reduced as the cartridges are more portable than previously required >500 mL sample volumes, and thus more manageable for transportation and storage. By using chromatographic techniques for analysis, such as HPLC-ICP-MS, species can be analysed simultaneously and thus reduce overall analysis time. This was used to meet objective 3, to further optimise the method for sampling and preservation of Hg speciation in water samples.

The developed SPE method was assessed for performance using a synthetic river water matrix spiked with both Hg²⁺ and MeHg, to determine the potential recovery of both species from waters similar to those found in ASGM sites. The cartridges demonstrated recovery of $115 \pm 8\%$ (4°C, absence of light) and $109 \pm 13\%$ % (16°C, absence of light) MeHg and $100 \pm 14\%$ % (4°C, absence of light) and $94 \pm 12\%$ % (16°C, absence of light) Hg²⁺ over 4 weeks of storage. These recoveries and errors are similar to previously reported recoveries in the literature (Blanco et al., 2000, Wang et al., 2022, Yin et al., 2010). Overestimation of the MeHg recovery may be a result of the organic nature of the species, but recoveries are still within the range of previous work (Chen et al., 2005). As with the total Hg analysis, the synthetic river water provided a matrix that resembled the chemistry of environmental waters from ASGM sites, which are a key target environment for this work.

5.5. A case study of ASGM sites

The performance of the developed SPE speciation sampling method was validated by use in the field at two ASGM sites in western Kenya, which was reported in Chapter 4 forming part of the objective 4. The useability of the cartridges at these sites demonstrated the ability to quickly and safely collect Hg speciation samples at ASGM sites. These sites represent some of the most vulnerable communities in the world and areas of the highest anthropogenic Hg pollution (UNEP, 2008, UNEP, 2018, Ondayo et al., 2023a, Ondayo et al., 2023b), while being some of the most challenging areas to study for Hg pollution to waters. Thus, the need for a robust sampling and preservation method for Hg in waters is vital to ensure exposure to environmental and human health is minimised. The rivers and water sources around these sites are fully integrated in the everyday lives of the local communities, with uses as drinking water, domestic use, for irrigation, agriculture, and aquaculture (Grynberg et al., 2022, Ondayo et al., 2023b). Local communities are often concerned of the impact on the environment from ASGM activities, but are unable to determine the effects with limited data and resources available. In addition to assessing the performance of the SPE sampling method, environmental samples were collected from rivers flowing through ASGM sites.

In waters, no MeHg was detected above the detection limit of 0.007 μ g L⁻¹ MeHg while Hg²⁺ ranged from 0.06 – 0.67 μ g L⁻¹ Hg²⁺. This shows the risk posed to human and environmental health minimal from MeHg exposure. However, the potential harm from Hg²⁺ exposure should not be ignored, as chronic exposure can result in significant negative health effects and thus should be carefully monitored. A drinking water pump installed by the local community showed Hg concentrations elevated above the river waters, resulting in approximately 45% of the tolerable weekly intake of Hg which demonstrates a real risk to the workers and communities. This also indicates potential contamination of the groundwater from the uphill mining activities which should be further investigated. This is supported by sediment Hg concentrations, as areas of elevated Hg²⁺ in water showed elevated total Hg in sediment samples. Sediment Hg concentrations ranged from <0.05 – 1.84 mg kg⁻¹ total Hg and <0.1 – 36.8 µg kg⁻¹ MeHg, implying notable bacterial activity in stagnant sections of the water bodies or those with limited water flow. where conversion of sediment-bound Hg to the methylated species can occur.

In these mine sites, routine monitoring of Hg is not currently undertaken. This is predominantly due to the difficulties surrounding sampling of waters for Hg and subsequent analysis (Ondayo et al., 2023b). Discussions with the workers and leaders of the mines revealed an interest from both regulatory authorities and the local population to understand the impact of the mining activities and Hg pollution to the environment. The cost of implementing Hg-free alternative methods, such as cyanidation and thiosulphate leaching, is not feasible and often poses other toxicological hazards, such as the release of cyanide (Manzilla, 2022). As the developed sampling methodology requires minimal training, the local officials/extension officers with minimal training would be able to assist with sample

collection which may improve representativeness of samples for human exposure studies. For example, samples could be collected when drinking or domestic water is collected, or after use of any treatment methods. Currently, subsequent analysis of the eluted Hg does not incorporate any preconcentration of the sample, however future work aims to address this to ensure the method is viable for a wide variety of analytical techniques and laboratory capabilities – lower concentration measurements will be possible with analytical instrumentation less sophisticated than ICP-MS and will better inform hazard-toxicological assessments.

5.6. Summary and impact

The outcome of this thesis demonstrates the unique ability of SPE methods to preserve Hg and its species from the field to analysis in some of the most challenging environments to collect samples. This has been an issue plaguing Hg pollution and health studies for decades, and the importance of a suitable, robust method for determining representative data cannot be understated. This can improve monitoring of Hg and its species, thus better informing and empowering policy makers and affected communities for public and environmental health outcomes. Previously, these parties have relied on data from solid matrices such as sediments or fish tissues as an indicator of Hg pollution, while neglecting the direct pollution to water due to difficulty in sampling and preservation. Analysis of waters provides a "snapshot" of concentrations at the time of sampling and so can be applied repeatedly to assess polluting inputs to rivers over short-term timescales. By assessing both the long-term pollution using solid matrices and the short-term, direct pollution using water samples in tandem will provide a more holistic approach to Hg pollution assessment, and better describe the human and environmental risks associated with Hg-containing activities, such as ASGM.

While there is still substantiative work that can be undertaken to further develop the sampling method, this thesis has drawn some important conclusions:

- Solid-Phase Extraction methods demonstrate significant potential as in-field sampling methods for both total Hg and its species, with relatively costeffective equipment, minimal training requirements, and virtually no risk to the operator;
- A dithizone-functionalised cartridge can successfully extract and preserve Hg species for at least 4 weeks, allowing representative total Hg data to be collected from waters in challenging environments;

- 3) The same cartridge can be used for the collection of Hg speciation data for the most environmentally and human health relevant species, Hg²⁺, due to it being the most abundant species, and MeHg, due to the high bioaccessibility and significant heath risks associated with organomercurial compounds;
- 4) Both total Hg and species data can be successfully determined in areas with some of the most vulnerable populations in the world, such as ASGM communities, to better inform regulatory authorities, who currently do not have adequate data to effectively regulate Hg use and pollution to mitigate health and environmental risks. This will also help advise ASGM communities about the impacts of the use of Hg, to empower the development and transition to Hg-free alternatives. The results collected represent the first use of an SPE as a sampling method for Hg species in ASGM sites in Kenya.

5.7. Future developments

While the developed Hg sampling technique provides a novel, robust method for collecting representative data, further investigation and optimisation can make the method more attractive for widespread deployment in pollution and health studies.

1) The assessment of ASGM sites in western Kenya demonstrate the usefulness of the developed method and potential for monitoring studies in challenging environments globally. Further studies at other Hg-affected environments will prove the applicability of the method in differing environments and conditions; ASGM sites in western Kenya are representative of sub-Saharan ASGM sites, but may not fully represent South American and Asian ASGM sites due to differences in climate, socioeconomic status, geography, geology, hydrogeochemistry, etc. The application across these environments can demonstrate the full effectiveness and limitations of the sampling method, while also informing local communities and policy makers of the risk posed by ongoing Hg use.

2) Additionally, preconcentration of Hg may be necessary in some environments and remote locations, to achieve detectable quantities of the metal and its species. This may be achievable through modification of the elution process, which currently employs a 1% 2-mercaptoethanol solution to preferentially bond to, and thereby remobilise, the extracted Hg. Modifications to this step may include changing the concentration of 2-mercaptoethanol to reduce the volume required for elution, using solvents such as methanol or alkaline solutions to remobilise and elute the dithizone-Hg complex, or other chelating compounds such as sodium diethyldithiocarbamate. Investigation into alternative eluents may provide both a preconcentration of the

extracted Hg species and a "greener" waste for a more environmentally friendly method. This may also be developed for use on less sensitive analytical methods. Techniques such as Flame Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy, which are more readily available in lower income countries, may not be suited to eluents with organic concentrations, and therefore the optimisation of an alternative eluent may prove beneficial to improve scientific capacity in such laboratories and promote local monitoring of Hg and its species.

3) Previous work with S-functionalised columns for SPE techniques have shown promise for the extraction of other toxic elements, including Pb and Cd, which are also considered some of the most important elements to monitor in the environment (Chen et al., 2021, Song et al., 2021). Both Pb and Cd exhibit similar preferential binding to thiol-containing molecules and thus may warrant further investigation into the usefulness of the developed method for multi-element sampling and preservation. This will diversify the usability of the cartridge and to improve cost-effectiveness of the sampling method for toxic element, pollution, and health studies. Thus, the developed method will be more attractive for widespread application in pollution monitoring studies, including in the most vulnerable areas with the greatest need for human and environmental health assessment.

5.8 References

- BLANCO, R. M., VILLANUEVA, M. T., SÁNCHEZ URIA, J. E. & SANZ-MEDEL, A. 2000. Field sampling, preconcentration and determination of mercury species in river waters. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 419, 137-144.
- CHEN, D., JING, M. & WANG, X. 2005. Determination of Methylymercury in Water and Soil by HPLC-ICP-MS. USA: Agilent.
- CHEN, Y., HE, M., CHEN, B. & HU, B. 2021. Thiol-grafted magnetic polymer for preconcentration of Cd, Hg, Pb from environmental water followed by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry detection. *Spectrochimica Acta Part B: Atomic Spectroscopy*.
- DHHS, U. 2022. Toxicological Profile for Mercury. US DHHS.

EPA, U. 1995. 1995 Water Quality Criteria. Washington, DC, USA: US EPA.

GRYNBERG, R., KANDASWAMY, V. & SINGOGO, F. 2022. The ASGM sector in Africa–A child of misery anddesperation? *Development Southern Africa*, 39, 151-164.

- KING, D. C. P., WATTS, M. J., HAMILTON, E. M., MORTIMER, R., KILGOUR, D. P.
 A. & DI BONITO, M. 2023. The present and potential future of aqueous mercury preservation: a review. *Environ Sci: Processes Impacts.*, 25, 351-363
- LEOPOLD, K., FOULKES, M. & WORSFOLD, P. 2010. Methods for the determination and speciation of mercury in natural waters--a review. *Anal Chim Acta*, 663, 127-38.
- MARGETÍNOVÁ, J., HOUSEROVÁ-PELCOVÁ, P. & KUBÁŇ, V. 2008. Speciation analysis of mercury in sediments, zoobenthos and river water samples by high-performance liquid chromatography hyphenated to atomic fluorescence spectrometry following preconcentration by solid phase extraction. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 615, 115-123.
- MANZILLA, A. N., A study of alternative techniques to mercury amalgamation for gold extraction in artisanal and small-scale gold mining, 2022, Thesis (Masters), University of Cape Town, South Africa.
- OLGOLA, J. S., MITULLAH, W. V. & OMULO, M. A. 2001. Impact of Gold Mining on the Environment and Human Health: A Case Study in the Migori Gold Belt, Kenya. *Environ Geochem Health*, 24, 141-158.
- ONDAYO, M. A., WATTS, M. J., HAMILTON, E. M., MITCHELL, C., MANKELOW, J.
 & OSANO, O. 2023a. Artisanal gold mining in Kakamega and Vihiga counties, Kenya: potential human exposure and health risk. *Environ Geochem Health*, 45, 6543-6565.
- ONDAYO, M. A., WATTS, M. J., MITCHELL, C., KING, D. C. P. & OSANO, O. 2023b. Review: Artisanal Gold Mining in Africa—Environmental Pollution and Human Health Implications. *Expo Health*.
- SCHLATHAUER, M., FRIEDLAND, J., LINDÉN, M. & LEOPOLD, K. 2019. Sustainable and reagent-free mercury trace determination in natural waters using nanogold dipsticks. *Microchemical Journal*, 147, 253-262.
- SONG, Y., MA, Q., CHENG, H., LIU, J. & WANG, Y. 2021. Simultaneous enrichment of inorganic and organic species of lead and mercury in pg L-1 levels by solid phase extraction online combined with high performance liquid chromatography and inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 1157.
- UNEP 2008. The Global Atmospheric Mercury Assessment: Sources, Emissions nad Transport. Geneva, Switzerland: United Nations Environment Programme.
- UNEP 2018. Technical Background Report to the Global Mercury Assessment 2018. Geneva, Switzerland: United Nations Environment Programme.

- USEPA 1996. Method 1669 Sampling ambient water for trace metals at EPA water quality criteria levels. USEPA.
- WANG, Y., ZHU, A., FANG, Y., FAN, C., GUO, Y., TAN, Z., YIN, Y., CAI, Y. & JIANG,
 G. 2022. Dithizone-functionalized C18 online solid-phase extraction-HPLC-ICP-MS for speciation of ultra-trace organic and inorganic mercury in cereals and environmental samples. *J Environ Sci (China)*, 115, 403-410.
- WHO 2022. Guidelines for Drinking Water Quality. 4 ed.: WHO.
- YIN, Y.-G., CHEN, M., PENG, J.-F., LIU, J.-F. & JIANG, G.-B. 2010. Dithizonefunctionalized solid phase extraction–displacement elution-high performance liquid chromatography–inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry for mercury speciation in water samples. *Talanta*, 81, 1788-1792.
- YU, L.-P. & YAN, X.-P. 2003. Factors affecting the stability of inorganic and methylmercury during sample storage. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 22, 245-253.
- ZIERHUT, A., LEOPOLD, K., HARWARDT, L. & SCHUSTER, M. 2010. Analysis of total dissolved mercury in waters after on-line preconcentration on an active gold column. *Talanta*, 81, 1529-35.

Appendices

Appendix 1



Figure A1.1 Gold mine shafts, active (left) and dis-used (right) in Rosterman, Kenya



Figure A1.2. Gold ore, mined at Rosterman, Kenva



Figure A1.3. Gold ore being sifted manually from mined rock, at Lunyerere, Kenya



Figure A1.4. An ore crusher in operation, typically used at ASGM sites for crushing the mined ore to a fine powder. Taken at Rosterman, Kenya



Figure A1.5. Sluicing of the crushed ore using cloth and water, often along riverbanks (left, at Rosterman, Kenya) or in purpose built ponds (right, at Lunyerere, Kenya)



Figure A1.6. ASGM workers sluicing crushed ore into concrete ore washing ponds, in Bushiangala, Kenya



Figure A1.7. An ore washing pond after a few weeks drying for disposal of waste tailings, at Rosterman, Kenya



Figure A1.8 Hg is manually mixed with the gold-containing fine particles, to form an amalgam



Figure A1.9. Simplistic huts are set up for both amalgam burning to obtain sponge-gold and for the sale of the produced aold



Figure A1.10. Amalgam burning is conducted with little-to-no safety, directly exposing workers to Hg via inhalation and releasing the vapours to the envrironment. This stage is often conducted by women and children



Figure A1.11. ARABIC 22 Sponge-gold produced by burning the Hg-Au amalgam. This is sold for further processing to purer gold products



Figure A1.12. An example of food crops grown nearby ASGM activities, often withing 5-10m from activities, or nearby polluted water sources



Figure A1.13. The author using the developed SPE method for sampling river water at Malinya mine, Kenya.



Figure A1.14. Hg handled by ASGM workers for alluvial mining, conducted with bare hands and in rivers relied upon by many villages and communities for domestic, industrial. advicultural and advacultural activities

Appendix 2

Supplementary information

Supplementary Table A2.1 Reagent-based preservation methods for Hg, reported storage times, analytical merit and challenges

Reagent	Mercury	Storage	Sample volume	Analytic	al merit and challenges	References
	species	time	reported			
Acidification				٠	Recommended for many metals and trace elements	
				•	In an uncontrolled environment, there is a risk of acid burns and skin	
					irritation from spills	
				•	A pH <4 promotes stable chloro-mercury complexes in the presence of	
					chloride ions	
Hydrochloric	Hg ²⁺ in	6-12 months	0.5-1 L in	•	>90 % recovery over long term storage (12 months)	(USEPA, 1996,
acid (0.4-1 %)	freshwate	(>90 %	polytetrafluoroethylen	٠	Recommended container materials are either hazardous (glass, risk of cuts	USEPA, 2002,
	r	recovery)	e (PTFE) or glass		from breakage) or expensive (PTFE, £15-30 per bottle)	Parker and
			containers			Bloom, 2005,
						Louie et al.,
						2012)
Nitric (1 %) and	Hg ²⁺ in	53 days (>90	500 mL in high-density	•	Recoveries of >90 % $\rm Hg^{2+}$ can be obtained with small quantities of acid	(USEPA, 1996,
hydrochloric	deionised	% recovery)	polyethylene (HDPE)	•	A nitric and hydrochloric acid mixture is a common matrix for ICP-MS	USEPA, 2002,
acid (0.005 %)	water		containers		analysis, which is sensitive enough for Hg analysis	Louie et al.,
						2012)
Sulphuric acid	MeHg in	6 months	Not specified as a series	•	Mitigates formation of artificial MeHg during speciation by distillation and	(Parker and
(0.2 %)	seawater		of different		ethylation	Bloom, 2005)
			experiments – PE	•	This speciation method is less prevalent nowadays, due to the	
			container material		development of HPLC speciation	

Oxidising				٠	Oxidises species to inorganic Hg^{2+} (comparatively more stable than Hg^{0})	
agent				٠	Risk of oxidising atmospheric Hg ⁰ and artificially increasing Hg	
					concentration (particularly for trace Hg concentrations of relatively high	
					atmospheric Hg ⁰ concentrations)	
				٠	Oxidising chemicals are often harmful, risk of spillage and harm to the	
					operator	
Potassium	Hg ²⁺ in	560 days	50 mL in polypropylene	•	Negligible losses by adsorption for 0.2 – 1 $\mu g \ L^{\text{-}1} \ H g^{\text{2+}}$	(Zhang et al.,
permanganate	deionised	(negligible	(PP) containers	•	Improves cost-effectiveness by allowing use of polypropylene containers	2020)
-persulphate	water	losses)		•	Increased risk of spills and harm to the operator in an uncontrolled	
digestive					environment	
solution						
Potassium	Hg ²⁺ in	21 days (>95	100 mL in borosilicate	٠	Effectively preserves Hg for up to 21 days, further investigation has not	(Lo and Wai,
dichromate	deionised	% recovery)	glass and PE containers		been conducted	1975, Feldman,
solution (0.05	water			٠	As a strong oxidising agent, there is a risk to the operator, especially in an	1974)
% w/v					uncontrolled environment	
acidified)						
Increased ionic				•	Mitigates wall sorption by reducing the number of active sites in container	
strength					walls	
				•	Formation of $Hg(OH)_{x}^{2 \cdot x}$ can be limited with the introduction of different	
					complexing agents	
Sodium nitrate	Hg ²⁺ in	90 days (95	50 mL in PP or glass	•	An initial loss of 5 % Hg is seen over 7 days (likely stabilisation and losses	(Zhang et al.,
(3 %)	deionised	% recovery	containers		to with container walls)	2020)
	water	in PP, >95 %		٠	Below 3 % sodium nitrate, the recovery of Hg drops to <90 % in PP	
		recovery in			containers	
		glass)				

Sodium	Hg ²⁺ in	180 days	50 mL in PP containers	٠	Chloro-mercury complexes are promoted, improving stability of the metal	(Zhang et al.,
chloride (1-3 g	deionised	(>95 %		•	The initial loss of Hg is decreased to <2 % over 7 days	2020, Louie et
L ⁻¹)	water	recovery)				al., 2012)
Sodium	Hg ²⁺ in	35 days (>98	500 mL in PP containers	•	Low pH and increased chloride concentrations further promotes chloro-	(Louie et al.,
chloride (20	deionised	% recovery)			mercury complexes	2012)
mg L ⁻¹ ,	water			•	Stability was only recorded up to 35 days, but further preservation is likely	
acidified)					possible	

Supplementary Table A2.2 Solid-phase extraction sorbents for Hg, reported recoveries, detection limts, analyical merits and difficulties

Sorbent/Solid-phase	Hg species	Matrix	Eluent/digestion	Detection	Recovery	Mesh/pore/particle	An	alytical merits and difficulties	References
functionalization				limit		size			
Thiol functionalised									
resins									
Dithizone	Hg ²⁺ , MeHg,	DI water, tap	100 mmol L ⁻¹	3 ng L ⁻¹ by	83.4 % Hg ²⁺	Storage capacity:	+	Selective for Hg and its species	(Yin et al., 2010,
functionalised silica	EtHg	water	sodium	HPLC-ICP-MS	93.7 % MeHg	not investigated,	+	Extraction efficiency and elution were not	Wang et al.,
(for preconcentration)		(filtered	thiosulphate or		71.7 % EtHg	dependent on load		affected after 7 days storage at 4 °C	2022)
		waters)	1% 2-			of functional			
			mercaptoethanol			reagent, 20 μg L ⁻¹ Hg tested with a 12.5 μg dithizone load Pore size: 60 Å Particle size: 45 μm	-	Must be functionalised before use, so time between functionalisation and sampling needs to be accounted for Optimised for pH 4 samples, higher and lower pH values may affect performance High chloride concentration lowers Hg adsorption	

2-mercaptophenol-Hg complex on C18 microcolumn (for preconcentration)	Hg²+, MeHg, EtHg, PhHg	Sediments, zoobenthos, river water (filtered and acidified to pH3 with	Solid samples were microwave digested with HCl (3 mol L ⁻¹), citric acid (0.2 mol L ⁻¹), methanol (50%)	Hg ²⁺ =0.9 μg L ⁻ ¹ , MeHg=4.3 μg L ⁻¹ , EtHg=1.4 μg L ⁻ ¹ , PhHg=0.8 μg L ⁻¹ by AMA	>90 %	Storage capacity: up to 155 µg Hg (500 mL sample) with 20 mL 14 mmol L ⁻¹ complexing agent Pore size: 80 Å	+	No functionalisation of resin is required, instead a complexing agent (2- mercaptophenol) is added to the sample ~95 % extraction efficiency was reported with preconcentration factors of up to 1000 using 500 mL sample	(Margetínová et al., 2008)
		HCI)	(10 mL). Elution with methanol	mercury analyser and HPLC/CV-AFS		Particle size: 5 μm	_	2-mercaptoethanol has a strong, unpleasant odour and is harmful in high concentrations and must be diluted before use Any iron may compete with Hg for complexation with the 2-mercaptoethanol and interfere with extraction	
Diethyldithiocarbamate functionalised C18 microcolumn (for preservation and storage)	Hg ²⁺ , MeHg	River water (filtered waters)	5% (v/v) thiosulphate + 0.5% (v/v) HCl	Hg ²⁺ =5.2 ng L ⁻ ¹ , MeHg=5.6 ng L ⁻¹ by LC- ICP-MS	97 %	Storage capacity not investigated, but 30 ng Hg successfully recovered Unspecified pore and particle sizes.	+	The sorbent operates under a wide range of pH values, so suitable for a variety of matrices Spiked river waters showed >80 % Hg ²⁺ recovery reported for up to 30 days storage at 4°C in the dark (80 % MeHg recovery up to 7 days storage) Must be functionalised before use, so time	(Blanco et al., 2000)

- Must be functionalised before use, so time between functionalisation and sampling must be accounted for
- MeHg recovery significantly decreases after 7 days to 50 % recovery at 14 days

available resins									
Duolite GT-73™ as a	Hg ²⁺	DI water, tap	Thermal	0.05 μg L ⁻¹ by	95 %	Storage capacity:	+	The resin has a high sorption capacity and	(Pelcova et al.,
diffusive gradient thin		water, river	decomposition	LC-AFS		2.4 mg per DGT disk		is selective for Hg	2014)
film (for		water	(total Hg)			Particle size: sieved	+	Can be synthesised as a diffusive thin film,	
preconcentration and		(filtered in				to <150 μm		so can be immersed directly into the water	
removal)		the DGT						source	
		apparatus)							
							-	The resin is no longer commercially available, but alternatives are available Desorption of Hg is difficult, so the resin must be digested using a nitric and hydrochloric acid mixture, eliminating the possibility of re-use	
AmberSep GT-74™ as a	Hg ²⁺ , MeHg	DI water, tap	Thermal	Hg ²⁺ =13 ng L ⁻¹ ,	>95 %	Storage capacity:	+	The resin has a high sorption capacity and	(Pelcova et al.,
diffusive gradient thin	EtHg	water, river	decomposition	MeHg=38 ng L		3.8 mg per DGT disk		is selective for Hg	2014, Pelcova et
film (for	PhHg	water	(total Hg),	¹ , EtHg=34 ng		Particle size: sieved	+	Can be synthesised as a diffusive thin film,	al., 2015)
preconcentration and		(filtered in	microwave	L ⁻¹ , PhHg=30		to <150 μm		so can be immersed directly into the water	
removal)		the DGT	extraction with 6	ng L ⁻¹ by				source	
		apparatus)	mol L ⁻¹ HCl	Advanced					
				Mercury Analyser (AMA245) for absorption spectroscopy			-	The resin is no longer commercially available, but alternatives are available The resin is reluctant to release Hg, so other analysis methods are required such as thermal desorption and atomic	

Cationic exchange

Commercially

resins

Dowex 50W X4™ as a microcolumn (for preconcentration and removal)	Hg ²⁺	Mineral, spring and tap-water	0.1% thiourea + 8% HCl	27 ng L ⁻¹ by CV-AAS	>79 %	Storage capacity: Not investigated, but 860 µg Hg was totally adsorbed by 0.5 g sorbent Particle size: 150- 300 µm	+	Recoveries of >79 % were reported for natural water samples spiked to 10 µg L ⁻¹ Hg ²⁺ As a non-specific sorbent, multi-elemental analysis is possible Copper and iron significantly decrease the recovery of Hg by direct determination and selenium (IV) cause signal suppression in CV-AAS analysis A sequential elution is required to remove interfering ions	(Krata et al., 2003)
Polyaniline Polyaniline (PANi) as a microcolumn (for preconcentration and removal)	Hg²⁺, MeHg	Lake water, groundwater, seawater, fish tissue	0.3% HCl (for MeHg) and 0.3% HCl + 0.02% thiourea (for Hg ²⁺)	0.05 ng L ⁻¹ by CV-AAS	>96 %	Storage capacity: 100 mg Hg ²⁺ g ⁻¹ resin, 2.5 mg MeHg g ⁻¹ resin Particle size: 100- 150 μm	+	The resin has a high sorption capacity (100 mg g ⁻¹ Hg ²⁺ and 2.5 mg g ⁻¹ MeHg) A 100 mL sample can be used to achieve preconcentration factors of 120 for Hg ²⁺ and 60 for MeHg from lake water, ground water and seawater Lower pH values (<2) significantly affect the Hg removal ratio to <20 %, higher pH values (<6) also decrease the Hg removal ratio (<80 %)	(Balarama Krishna et al., 2005)

 A pH of 4-5 is preferred to ensure nitrogen atoms are not fully protonated and can bind to Hg from solution

- The sorbent must be synthesised and

homogenised before use

Polyaniline-polyvinyl alcohol (PANi-PVA) as batch sorbent applied to solution (for removal)	Hg ²⁺	DI water	0.1 mol L ⁻¹ HNO₃	FAAS. No detection limit was reported	90 % Hg removal after 30 mins contact time	Storage capacity: 7.5 mg Hg g ⁻¹ resin No specification for particle or pore size	+	The sorbent has a high sorption capacity (>90 % removal from a 35 mg L ⁻¹ Hg ²⁺ solution at pH 6) Desorption of Hg was reported with 0.1 M HNO ₃ , although this required 90 minutes to achieve 90 % recovery	(Vafaei Molamahmood et al., 2018)
							_	Chloride at 30 mmol L ⁻¹ significantly decreases adsorption of Hg to <15 %, likely due to chloro-mercury complexation The sorbent must be synthesised and homogenised before use	
Polyaniline-humic acid (PANi-HA) as batch sorbent applied to solution (for removal)	Hg ²⁺	DI water	No desorption investigated	AFS of supernatant. No detection limit was reported	95 %	Storage capacity: 671 mg Hg g ⁻¹ resin Particle size: 50-60 nm	+ +	The addition of humic acid widens the operable pH range to between 4 – 7, with Hg removal at >90 %. The additional humic acid stabilises PANi by mitigating aggregation of the sorbent The sorption capacity is high (671 mg g ⁻¹ Hg ²⁺) and most other ions in samples do not significantly affect Hg removal	(Zhang et al., 2010)

-	Chloride concentrations of 50 mg L ⁻¹
	significantly decrease removal of Hg from
	samples to <20 %

- Desorption from the composite has not been explored, nor stability of retained Hg species over time
- Humic acid is a broad term to define many naturally occurring organic molecules, so extraction efficiency may vary between batches of synthesised sorbent
- Storage capacity:+The stability of the sorbent is improved, as(Gupta et al.,0.15 mg Hg g⁻¹ resinpolyethylene prevents aggregation of PANi2004)
 - The composite was reported to adsorb 79
 % Hg from a 10 ng L⁻¹ Hg²⁺ solution
 - Mercury is not readily desorbed from the composite. 47 % was desorbed with 0.1 M HNO₃ after 30 minutes
 - Interfering ions and characteristics have not been explored

Magnetic SPE

Polyaniline-polystyrene

(PANi-PE) as batch

sorbent applied to

solution (for removal)

Hg²⁺

DI water

DI water, no

desorption noted

β-activity by

Geiger-Müller

counter. No detection limit

was reported

an end

window

67 %

No particle size

specified

1,2-ethanedithiol as	Hg ²⁺	DI water,	0.1 mol L ⁻¹ HNO ₃	0.82 ng L ⁻¹ by	>90 %	Storage capacity:	+	>95 % adsorption of Hg over pH 2 – 8 and
batch sorbent applied		lake water	+ 2% (w/v)	ICP-MS		254 mg Hg g ⁻¹ resin		>95 % recover using a 4 % thiourea, 0.5 M
to solution (for		(filtered	thiourea			Particle size: 400 nm		HNO ₃ eluent solution
preconcentration)		waters)					+	Common cations and anions do not

river water and lake waters spiked with 50 - 1000 ng $L^{-1}\,\text{Hg}^{2+}$

Recoveries of >93 % were reported for

significantly impact the adsorption or recovery of Hg at 5000 mg L^{-1} Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, Cl⁻ , SO₄²⁻, Na⁺, NO₃⁺, 10 mg L^{-1} Al³⁺, Zn²⁺, Fe^{2+ or}

 The sorbent has a high sorption capacity
 (254 mg g⁻¹ Hg) and can extract lead and cadmium, so is potentially suitable for

³⁺, and 1 mg L⁻¹ Cu²⁺

multi-elemental analysis

+

- The multi-step synthesis has a yield of <50
 % and may not be readily scaled up
- The stability of the sorbent and of Hg retained on the sorbent has not been investigated
- Speciation analysis has not been investigated for this sorbent, so the usefulness for toxicity studies and monitoring is not fully defined

(Chen et al.,

2021)

3-mercaptopropyl- trimethoxysilane as batch sorbent applied to solution (for removal)	Hg²+, MeHg	DI water, lake water, tap water, sea water (unfiltered waters)	0.5 mol L ⁻¹ HCl + 1% thiourea	0.1, 0.3 ng L ⁻¹ by HPLC-ICP- MS	>90 %	Storage capacity: Not investigated, focused on trace Hg (10 ng L ⁻¹ Hg, 500 mL sample) No particle size specified	+ +	A >90 % recovery of Hg ²⁺ and MeHg using 500 mL of a 20 ng L ⁻¹ Hg spiked tap, sea and lake waters The sorbent can be freely added to the sample and removed with a magnet after 10 minutes stabilisation time The sorbent can be reused up to 5 times without significant degradation of performance	(Zhang et al., 2016)
							-	The sorbent requires a multi-step synthesis and characterisation, which may not be readily scaled up Common ions and interferences were not investigated	
1,5-diphenylcarbazide as batch sorbent applied to solution (for preconcentration)	Hg ²⁺	DI water, river water, tap water, (oxidised with H ₂ O ₂ , acidified to pH1 with HCl, filtered) vegetation (microwave digested with HNO3)	Regeneration with 0.5 mol L ⁻¹ HNO ₃ (No elution assessed)	0.16 μg L ⁻¹ by CV-AAS	>95 %	Storage capacity: 44 mg Hg g ⁻¹ resin Particle size: 60-80 nm	+ + +	Common ions in water (Ca ²⁺ , Mg ²⁺ , Cl ⁻) have no significant effect on Hg adsorption up to 4 mg L ⁻¹ interferent Other metals (Cu ²⁺ , Zn ²⁺ , Cd ²⁺) have no significant effect on Hg adsorption up to 50 μ g L ⁻¹ interferent The sorbent can be reused up to 8 times without noticeable degradation in performance The sorbent is stable up to 6 months	(Zhai et al., 2010)
							-	adsorption of Hg decreasing from 95 % at	

pH >6 to <40 % at pH <5 (active sites

become protonated at lower pH values)

 Speciation and MeHg sorption were not investigated

Task-specific monolith	Hg ²⁺ , MeHg,	DI water,	Methanol	102, 22, 28,	>80 %	Storage capacity:	+	>94 % of Hg ²⁺ , MeHg, ethylmercury and	(Song et al.,
with vinylboronic	EtHg, PhHg	seawater,		162 ng L ⁻¹ by		Not investigated,		phenylmercury can be recovered under	2021a)
anhydride pyridine		river water,		HPLC-diode		100 ng Hg per		optimised conditions	
complex as a		lake water		array detector		prepared column	+	Recovery of Hg from river, sea, lake and tap	
microcolumn (for		(filtered and				fully sorbed		water is >80 % Hg	
preconcentration)		acidified to				Pore size: 230 nm			
		pH4 with							
		HCI)					-	A complexing agent is required to promote	
		i i ci j						Hg extraction, which may be a source of	
								contamination and is not readily useable in	

 A pH of 4 is necessary, as lower pH values promote H⁺-complexing agent formation and higher pH values may hydrolyse Hg species

an uncontrolled environment

Gold-based SPE

Gold nanoparticles as a	Total Hg	DI water,	Thermal	180 pg L ⁻¹ by	>90 %	Storage capacity:	+	Highly selective for Hg due to Au-Hg	(Leopold et al.,
microcolumn (AuNP)		river water	desorption	AFS		Not investigated,		amalgamation	2009a)
(for preconcentration)		(filtered and				0.007 ng Hg fully	+	A >99 % Hg recovery can be achieved from	
		acidified with				recovered from 1 g		river waters	
		0.5% v/v HCl)				sorbent	+	No additional reagents are required for	
						Particle size: 100-		extraction of Hg	
						350 µm	+	Extracted Hg is stable for at least 2 days	
						Pore size: 60 Å		with no significant losses	
							+	Speciation analysis is possible, as Hg ²⁺	
								thermally desorbs at approximately 550 °C	
								and MeHg thermally desorbs at	
								approximately 20 °C (columns should be	
								stored at 4 °C in the dark to mitigate loss of	
								MeHg)	
							+	The column can be reused 180 times	
								without loss of precision or sensitivity	
							-	Synthesis of column should be done in Hg	
								vapour-free conditions and reagents	
								require purging before use	
Gold nano-sheets as a	Hg ²⁺ , MeHg	DI water,	Thermal	0.08 ng L ⁻¹ by	>96 %	Storage capacity:	+	The columns are highly selective for Hg	(Zierhut et al.,
column (for		seawater,	desorption	AFS		Not investigated,		with a high tolerance for interfering matrix	2010)
preconcentration)		river water,	·			work focused on		components	·
		lake water				trace Hg, 0.002 ng	+	>95 % recovery Hg can be achieved from	
		(filtered and				Hg adsorbed per		river, sea and lake waters at trace	
		acidified with				column		concentrations (0-3 ng L^{-1} Hg ²⁺)	
		0.5% v/v HCl)				"Mesh size": 1024			
						meshes cm-2			

- The columns were developed for online preconcentration, so may not be suitable for offline extraction and storage
- Reusability of the column was not fully explored

Immobilised gold	Total Hg	DI water,	Thermal	0.06 ng L ⁻¹ by	>94 %	Storage capacity:	+	The dipstick is highly selective for Hg with	(Schlathauer et
nanoparticle dipstick		river water,	desorption	AFS		Not investigated,		little interferences	al., 2019)
(for preservation and		seawater				work focused on	+	Hg is thermally desorbed form the stick, so	
storage)		(unfiltered				trace Hg, 0.0015 ng		limits the opportunity for contamination	
		water,				Hg per dipstick	+	Low variation was reported between	
		acidified with				Particle size: 38 nm		individually prepared dipsticks	
		0.5% v/v HCl)				(14 µg Au cm ⁻²)	+	The dipsticks can be reused 145 times	

 Specialised sputtering technology is required to synthesise the dipsticks, so synthesis may not be readily scaled up
 The dipsticks must be annealed at 600 °C

without significant degradation to Hg

recovery

The dipsticks must be annealed at 600 °C before each use, which may be challenging in the field and so must be stored in Hgfree conditions during transport to and from the field

Appendix 3

Supplementary information

Synthetic matrix recipe

A synthetic matrix was used throughout developmental experiments, to take into consideration the ionic characteristics of natural water samples. This matrix was created following Smith et al. (2002), and ionic concentrations are shown in Supplementary Table A3.1. alongside major ion chemistry from experimental data at ASGM sites in Kenya (Ondayo et al 2023).

Supplementary Table A3.1.: Comparison of major ion chemistry in a synthetic hardwater recipe (Smith et al (2002)), and measured concentrations from ASGM sites in Kakamega gold belt, Kenya (Ondayo et al (2023))

lon	Synthetic matrix (mg/L)	Natural water (mg/L)			
	(Smith <i>et al.</i> (2002)) ³³	(Ondayo <i>et al.</i> (2023)) ¹¹			
Sodium	5.748	7.72			
Magnesium	1.458	6.64			
Calcium	10.621	12.5			
Potassium	0.977	1.87			
Chloride	9.926	2.98			
Carbonate	23.491	73.5			
Sulphate	11.046	9.39			

Supplementary Table A3.2.: ICP-MS parameters and conditions used in experimental analysis

Parameter	Value					
ICP-MS	Agilent 8900					
Nebulizer	MicroMist 100µm					
Isotope	²⁰¹ Hg, ²⁰² Hg					
RF Power	1550W					
Replicates	3					
Plasma gas flow rate	15 L min ⁻¹					
Auxiliary gas flow rate	0.9 L min ⁻¹					
Nebulizer gas flow rate	1.00 L min ⁻¹					
Makeup Gas	0.2 L min ⁻¹					
Dwell time	100 ms					

Number	Measurement				
(n=10)	(µg L⁻¹ Hg)				
1	-0.001				
2	0.004				
3	-0.003				
4	0.002				
5	0.001				
6	0.002				
7	0.000				
8	0.004				
9	0.005				
10	0.006				
LoD (3σ)	0.008				

Supplementary Table A3.3.: Measurements of a blank solution applied to the developed method to calculate a method detection limit (3σ)
Sample	Location	Field	Field	Conductivity	рНа	На	Са	Ма	Na	к	Total Alk	Cl	SO₄²-	NO3 ⁻
		рН	Conductivity	,	P									
			µS cm⁻¹	µS cm⁻¹		µg L⁻¹	mg l ⁻¹ HCO ₃ -	mg l⁻¹	mg l ⁻¹	mg l ⁻¹				
M1	Lunyerere	7.50	370	434	8.01	0.179	28.9	5.79	37.5	5.01	115	11.2	44.0	70.8
M2	Malinya	6.00	160	207	7.77	0.255	17.0	9.09	8.4	2.12	112	5.11	2.51	11.4
M3	Bushiangala	6.20	60	68.7	7.08	0.348	5.2	2.18	2.4	1.70	38.8	1.59	0.786	4.52
M4	Bushiangala	6.20	30	79.2	7.29	0.041	7.4	2.94	2.1	1.39	43.9	0.823	1.09	7.55
M5	Rosterman	6.60	220	280	8.12	0.045	27.4	13.1	7.5	1.17	164	6.97	6.25	4.04
R1	Lunyerere	6.30	80	101	7.35	0.166	7.5	2.90	5.0	1.74	36.2	4.22	2.56	17.7
R2	Lunyerere	6.20	30	101	7.06	0.148	7.8	2.91	5.1	1.68	36.0	4.22	2.85	18.1
R3	Malinya	6.60	110	143	7.72	0.023	10.9	6.20	8.0	1.30	77.6	5.28	1.08	7.44
R4	Bushiangala	5.80	50	70.9	7.08	0.084	7.2	2.12	2.2	0.80	39.7	1.12	1.33	5.51
R5	Rosterman	6.80	160	207	7.98	0.020	14.3	14.0	5.3	1.57	132	3.51	0.725	0.865
R6	Rosterman	6.90	150	211	7.96	0.032	15.4	13.1	5.3	1.72	134	3.60	0.796	0.951
R7	Rosterman	7.00	100	138	7.65	0.141	10.3	4.89	7.8	1.24	69.4	5.13	1.71	7.71
R8	Rosterman	7.00	110	154	7.77	0.028	11.3	6.64	7.4	1.35	83.0	4.78	1.56	6.34
S1	Lunyerere	5.40	70	95.0	6.75	0.132	7.0	2.90	4.4	1.79	28.4	4.64	2.34	19.7
S2	Viyalo	6.70	260	332	7.54	0.079	36.0	6.99	10.0	6.32	31.2	7.66	86.4	11.3
S3	Viyalo	5.40	70	94.3	7.66	0.043	5.4	3.84	4.2	1.55	31.4	3.22	2.12	22.6
S4	Bushiangala	5.50	60	85.9	7.27	0.036	9.5	2.63	2.3	0.69	49.8	0.835	1.07	5.89
S5	Rosterman	6.10	160	209	7.80	0.055	14.4	12.2	7.7	0.84	120	3.70	1.57	9.07
S6	Rosterman	6.60	150	203	7.97	0.010	14.0	13.5	5.1	1.54	129	3.52	0.717	0.861
S7	Rosterman	6.70	150	204	8.03	0.043	14.3	13.4	5.2	1.72	128	3.56	0.874	1.02
01	Lunyerere	7.70	240	299	7.96	0.151	26.6	7.89	15.7	4.06	94.2	9.92	44.8	17.3
02	Malinya	7.00	190	229	7.93	0.030	17.7	8.38	11.6	3.93	109	10.4	12.2	4.35

Supplementary Table A3.4.: Water geochemistry of samples from ASGM sites across Kakamega gold belt (Bushiangala, Lunyerere, Malinya, Rosterman, and Viyalo mine sites)

03	Malinya	6.70	60	86.5	6.52	0.046	4.3	1.95	5.8	2.03	15.8	11.6	6.53	5.80
04	Bushiangala	6.70	140	175	6.99	0.162	14.2	1.68	9.4	7.76	30.3	8.79	27.9	19.1
05	Bushiangala	6.20	70	94.7	7.24	0.102	5.4	2.59	5.4	5.80	53.8	1.21	1.42	5.83
06	Rosterman	6.70	270	349	7.93	0.277	29.4	10.4	15.9	8.88	119	19.6	45.3	1.29
07	Rosterman	6.50	270	351	7.92	0.162	29.0	10.3	15.6	8.58	119	19.6	45.0	1.30
08	Rosterman	6.60	180	232	7.87	0.032	23.6	6.91	6.7	4.84	113	7.47	14.2	2.94
09	Rosterman	7.10	150	209	8.00	0.058	14.6	13.6	5.2	1.61	132	3.57	0.750	0.952

Appendix 4

Supplementary information

Supplementary Table A4.1.: HPLC-ICP-MS parameters and conditions used in experimental analysis

Parameter	Value
HPLC	
HPLC pump	Agilent Infinity 1290II
HPLC column	Poroshell aqueous C18 [dimensions]
Mobile phase	1% (v/v) 2-mercaptoethanol (in deionised water)
Flow rate	1.5 mL min ⁻¹
Injection volume	100 μL
ICP-MS	
ICP-MS	Agilent 8900
Nebulizer	MicroMist 100µm
Isotope	²⁰¹ Hg for water analysis, ¹⁹⁹ Hg, ²⁰¹ Hg, for sediment isotope
	dilution analysis
RF Power	1550W
Replicates	3
Plasma gas flow rate	15 L min ⁻¹
Auxiliary gas flow rate	0.9 L min ⁻¹
Nebulizer gas flow rate	1.00 L min ⁻¹
Makeup Gas	0.2 L min ⁻¹
Dwell time	100 ms

Supplementary Information



Supplementary Figure A4.1a: Flow chart of samples along river at Rosterman mine, Kenya, with arrows depicting the direction of river flow



Supplementary Figure A4.1b: Flow chart of samples along river at Malinya mine, with arrows depicting the direction of river flow

Supplementary Table A4.2.: limits of detection in HPLC-ICP-MS for MeHg and Hg²⁺ defined as three times standard deviation (3σ) of nine replicate blanks

Blank	MeHg199	Hg2+ 199
	μg/L	μg/L
1	0.001	0.001
2	0.006	-0.003
3	0.002	0.002
4	0.004	0.000
5	0.000	0.003
6	0.000	0.013
7	0.005	0.000
8	0.000	0.027
9	0.002	0.011
Standard deviation	0.002	0.009
Detection limit. (3o)	0.007	0.027

Synthetic matrix recipe

A synthetic matrix was used throughout developmental experiments, to take into consideration the ionic characteristics of natural water samples. This matrix was created following Smith et al. (2002), and ionic concentrations are shown in Supplementary Table A4.3 alongside major ion chemistry from experimental data at ASGM sites in Kenya (Ondayo et al 2023a).

Supplementary Table A4.3.: Comparison of major ion chemistry in a synthetic hardwater recipe (Smith et al. (2002)), and measured concentrations from ASGM sites in Kakamega gold belt, Kenya (Ondayo et al. (2023a) and King et al. (2024))

lon	Synthetic matrix (mg/L) (Smith <i>et al.</i> (2002)) ³³	Natural water (mg/L) (Ondayo <i>et al</i> . (2023)) ¹¹
Sodium	5.75	7.72
Magnesium	1.46	6.64
Calcium	10.6	12.5
Potassium	0.98	1.87
Chloride	9.93	2.98
Carbonate	23.5	73.5
Sulphate	11.0	9.39

Supplementary Table A4.4: Total Hg data for certified reference materials HR-1 (NRCC, Canada), TH-2 (NRCC, Canada), and PACS-2 (NRCC, Canada), and Isotope dilution-microwave extraction (ID-ME) of MeHg from a certified reference material (ERM-CC58, ERM)

CRM	HR-1	TH-2	PACS-2	ERM-CC58
	(Total Hg)	(Total Hg)	(Total Hg)	(MeHg by ID-ME)
	mg kg ⁻¹	mg kg⁻¹	mg kg ⁻¹	µg kg⁻¹
n	6	5	3	6
Target value	0.261	0.542	2.62	75
	0.259	0.480	2.64	44
	0.271	0.499	2.48	60
	0.243	0.500	2.45	57
	0.281	0.451		70
	0.217	0.483		63
	0.236			68
Recovery (%)	89%	96%	96%	84%
Relative standard deviation (%)	4%	9%	4%	14%

Sample Code	Date Sampled	Field pH	Field Conductivity	Ca	Mg	Na	К	Cl-	SO4 ²⁻	NO ₃ -	Cat1	Cat2	Br	NO ₂ -	HPO42-	F ⁻	NPOC	Total P	Total S
			µS cm⁻¹	mg I ⁻¹	mg l ⁻¹	mg l ⁻¹	meq I ⁻¹	meq I ⁻¹	mg l ⁻¹										
Hg_001	02/02/2023	7.8	110	12.4	7.18	8.6	1.53	5.10	2.11	6.18	1.62	0.005	0.025	0.019	<0.01	0.091	2.32	0.005	0.84
Hg_002	02/02/2023	7.6	110	12.2	7.36	8.3	1.53	4.91	2.13	6.38	1.61	0.004	0.025	0.021	<0.01	0.161	1.86	<0.005	0.82
Hg_003	02/02/2023	7.2	160	18.3	10.1	8.4	1.96	5.23	0.769	0.077	2.16	0.068	0.045	0.020	<0.01	0.349	3.49	<0.005	0.33
Hg_004	02/02/2023	7.6	120	12.1	7.28	8.2	1.48	4.79	1.98	6.26	1.60	0.004	0.024	0.020	<0.01	0.155	2.62	<0.005	0.80
Hg_005	02/02/2023	7.5	120	12.3	7.44	8.8	1.51	5.07	2.03	6.42	1.65	0.004	0.023	0.023	<0.01	0.144	2.24	<0.005	0.80
Hg_006	02/02/2023	7.5	110	10.8	5.98	8.6	1.38	5.45	2.04	7.86	1.44	0.003	0.023	0.026	<0.01	0.174	2.84	<0.005	0.74
Hg_007	02/02/2023	7.6	110	10.9	5.85	8.8	2.58	7.32	2.20	8.58	1.47	0.004	0.026	0.027	<0.01	0.161	2.58	<0.005	0.78
Hg_008	02/02/2023	7.7	170	18.6	14.6	7.0	2.28	4.22	2.31	0.931	2.49	0.005	0.043	0.018	<0.01	0.296	2.84	<0.005	0.85
Hg_009	02/02/2023	7.3	180	17.9	15.5	6.7	2.65	3.35	1.06	1.16	2.53	0.004	0.036	0.014	<0.01	0.280	2.76	<0.005	0.49
Hg_010	02/02/2023	7.6	180	18.3	14.7	6.8	2.21	3.82	1.98	0.862	2.48	0.005	0.037	0.045	<0.01	0.276	2.82	<0.005	0.78
Hg_011	02/02/2023	7.6	160	19.3	16.3	7.4	1.90	3.50	1.11	1.33	2.67	0.005	0.038	0.015	<0.01	0.279	3.09	<0.005	0.48
Hg_012	02/02/2023	7.2	180	14.0	9.30	7.0	9.71	5.74	5.00	0.129	2.02	0.008	0.036	0.061	<0.01	0.207	5.26	0.106	1.76
Hg_013	02/02/2023	6.9	210	15.6	12.7	8.7	3.10	5.91	1.53	6.53	2.28	0.003	0.025	0.396	<0.01	0.228	10.2	0.076	0.64
Hg_014	02/02/2023	7.6	180	17.9	14.9	6.8	1.54	3.34	1.29	1.34	2.46	0.004	0.037	0.015	<0.01	0.272	4.82	<0.005	0.56
Hg_015	02/02/2023	7.4	170	18.4	15.1	6.7	2.99	3.56	1.62	1.52	2.53	0.004	0.039	0.017	<0.01	0.294	2.84	<0.005	0.62
Hg_016	02/02/2023	7.5	170	18.2	15.2	6.6	1.51	3.37	1.26	1.47	2.48	0.004	0.036	0.014	<0.01	0.276	2.46	<0.005	0.52
Hg_017	02/02/2023	7.0	190	18.4	16.1	7.1	1.56	3.38	1.10	1.29	2.59	0.004	0.037	0.014	<0.01	0.249	2.69	<0.005	0.47
Hg_018	02/02/2023	7.6	180	19.4	16.0	6.9	1.67	3.39	1.21	1.15	2.63	0.005	0.040	0.011	<0.01	0.260	2.54	<0.005	0.51
Hg_019	02/02/2023	7.4	410	45.5	17.9	13.4	4.33	13.4	125	2.75	4.44	0.009	0.103	0.012	<0.01	0.164	8.93	<0.005	42.5
Hg_020	02/02/2023	7.3	300	30.4	13.4	8.4	1.09	9.54	7.83	5.85	3.01	0.006	0.051	0.074	<0.01	0.211	12.4	0.020	2.73
Hg_021	02/02/2023	8.0	1100	136	70.2	48.8	14.5	40.9	535	0.038	15.1	0.029	0.521	0.010	<0.01	0.709	16.8	0.019	194
Hg_022	03/02/2023	7.5	120	11.9	7.08	8.6	2.57	5.72	1.21	7.41	1.62	0.006	0.036	0.041	<0.01	0.154	5.34	<0.005	0.52
Hg_023	03/02/2023	7.0	130	8.6	6.32	11.1	1.38	5.16	2.70	0.051	1.47	0.013	0.050	0.011	<0.01	0.202	7.14	<0.005	1.05
Hg_024	03/02/2023	6.4	130	11.7	6.39	8.8	1.98	5.58	2.84	6.06	1.54	0.107	0.041	0.023	<0.01	0.043	10.3	0.005	1.09
Hg_025	03/02/2023	6.5	120	11.5	6.24	8.8	2.16	5.94	2.90	4.95	1.53	0.072	0.041	0.065	<0.01	0.049	7.30	<0.005	1.04
Hg_026	03/02/2023	7.5	180	12.2	7.17	8.4	2.24	6.34	0.968	7.69	1.62	0.009	0.036	0.017	<0.01	0.144	11.7	0.010	0.42

Supplementary Table A4.5.: General chemistry of water samples from ASGM sites (Rosterman and Malinya sites)

134 | Page

Sample Code	Si	SiO ₂	Ва	Sr	Mn	Fe	Be	В	AI	Ti	V	Cr	Со	Ni	Cu	Zn	Ga	As
	mg l ⁻¹	mg l ⁻¹	µg l⁻¹															
Hg_001	18.8	39.0	48.4	112	97.4	37.4	<0.08	<53	17.1	0.45	1.26	0.40	0.318	1.39	0.85	192	<0.04	0.64
Hg_002	13.5	40.1	47.7	110	94.6	7.3	<0.08	<53	2.9	0.08	1.19	0.29	0.346	1.41	0.81	0.7	<0.04	0.61
Hg_003	18.3	28.9	194	177	5181	1147	<0.08	<53	0.8	<0.06	0.07	0.20	13.7	4.34	0.18	1.2	<0.04	2.23
Hg_004	18.4	39.2	47.9	109	109	7.5	<0.08	<53	8.4	0.07	1.23	0.31	0.381	1.39	0.72	0.6	<0.04	0.51
Hg_005	22.3	39.3	47.6	112	69.3	5.5	<0.08	<53	3.6	0.13	1.14	0.35	0.250	1.46	0.96	0.8	<0.04	0.55
Hg_006	19.2	47.7	42.6	102	49.0	8.5	<0.08	<53	4.3	0.10	1.00	0.37	0.193	1.24	0.81	1.1	<0.04	0.21
Hg_007	15.6	41.2	42.6	103	40.7	10.3	<0.08	<53	6.0	0.14	1.00	0.37	0.159	1.09	0.72	1.7	<0.04	0.14
Hg_008	15.6	33.4	67.4	145	137	16.6	<0.08	<53	8.1	0.32	1.70	0.41	0.403	2.69	1.02	0.7	<0.04	2.13
Hg_009	16.0	33.3	63.7	141	219	6.1	<0.08	<53	2.2	0.08	1.72	0.41	0.613	3.31	0.82	1.1	<0.04	1.34
Hg_010	15.8	34.3	65.8	142	175	15.6	<0.08	<53	5.4	0.28	1.68	0.39	0.505	2.98	1.27	1.8	<0.04	2.04
Hg_011	23.0	33.7	65.4	149	217	5.9	<0.08	<53	3.2	<0.06	1.44	0.46	0.659	3.70	1.11	1.7	<0.04	1.10
Hg_012	34.7	49.3	70.0	111	153	89.9	<0.08	<53	2.3	0.07	5.39	0.39	1.56	2.73	0.37	1.6	<0.04	0.76
Hg_013	15.8	74.2	35.3	123	11.8	2.9	<0.08	<53	0.7	<0.06	11.9	2.07	0.129	3.26	0.12	3.3	<0.04	0.86
Hg_014	15.7	33.8	60.9	140	235	4.4	<0.08	<53	2.1	<0.06	1.48	0.50	0.727	3.40	0.78	0.6	<0.04	1.08
Hg_015	15.5	33.6	61.4	144	260	4.9	<0.08	<53	1.5	<0.06	1.10	0.53	0.770	3.52	0.79	0.7	<0.04	0.80
Hg_016	14.9	33.1	56.3	141	237	6.5	<0.08	<53	1.8	0.07	0.92	0.56	0.632	3.39	0.72	0.8	<0.04	0.49
Hg_017	15.6	31.9	51.6	144	147	7.3	<0.08	<53	2.4	0.06	0.83	0.75	0.403	3.15	0.69	0.5	<0.04	0.32
Hg_018	20.0	33.4	51.8	148	260	7.8	<0.08	<53	2.8	<0.06	1.09	0.43	0.582	2.94	0.69	1.4	<0.04	0.37
Hg_019	27.8	42.7	96.2	307	2975	2.4	<0.08	<53	6.2	<0.06	1.62	0.09	11.0	17.0	0.39	1.6	<0.04	10.4
Hg_020	13.3	59.5	68.4	202	175	3.6	<0.08	<53	2.7	<0.06	5.29	1.54	1.28	2.77	1.61	9.4	<0.04	1.51
Hg_021	21.5	28.5	224	1129	689	0.7	<0.08	<53	8.8	<0.06	4.50	0.56	1.54	7.65	5.50	0.9	<0.04	11.2
Hg_022	12.4	46.1	96.4	125	427	32.7	<0.08	<53	7.7	0.10	2.95	0.19	1.31	1.57	0.44	1.9	<0.04	3.38
Hg_023	22.8	26.6	183	103	1005	144	<0.08	<53	5.8	0.28	0.25	0.22	3.75	10.6	0.68	3.8	<0.04	5.42
Hg_024	22.6	48.8	115	149	771	1900	<0.08	<53	1.6	0.07	0.40	0.87	6.06	17.6	0.23	6.7	<0.04	0.59
Hg_025	23.1	48.4	117	145	841	1251	<0.08	<53	1.1	<0.06	0.34	0.12	7.76	15.9	0.27	8.7	<0.04	1.98
Hg_026	49.4	66.0	129	169	104	<7	<53	18.0	0.54	2.72	0.40	0.713	1.45	0.44	10.9	<0.04	1.98	0.08

Sample	-			_					-		_		_	_		_	
Code	Se	Rb	Y	Zr	Nb	Мо	Ag	Cd	Sn	Sb	Cs	La	Ce	Pr	Nd	Sm	Gd
	µg l-1	µg l-1	µg l-1	µg l⁻¹	µg l⁻¹	µg l ⁻¹	µg l⁻¹	µg l⁻¹	µg l-1	µg l-1	µg l⁻¹	µg l-1	µg l-1	µg l⁻¹	µg l-1	µg l-1	µg l-1
Hg_001	0.08	3.42	0.047	0.065	0.01	0.5	<0.04	0.006	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.075	0.081	0.012	0.053	0.008	0.012
Hg_002	<0.07	3.38	0.034	0.033	<0.01	0.5	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.346	0.054	0.009	0.047	0.005	<0.005
Hg_003	0.08	7.39	0.028	0.031	<0.01	1.6	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.080	0.035	0.004	0.016	<0.005	<0.005
Hg_004	<0.07	3.25	0.028	0.032	<0.01	0.5	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.068	0.045	0.006	0.030	<0.005	<0.005
Hg_005	0.08	3.52	0.028	0.064	<0.01	0.5	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.059	0.033	0.005	0.024	<0.005	<0.005
Hg_006	0.08	3.06	0.025	0.057	<0.01	0.4	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.224	0.034	0.006	0.027	<0.005	<0.005
Hg_007	<0.07	2.89	0.024	0.047	<0.01	0.4	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.686	0.035	0.006	0.023	<0.005	<0.005
Hg_008	0.10	5.17	0.046	0.053	<0.01	0.9	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.049	0.064	0.009	0.038	0.006	<0.005
Hg_009	0.08	5.17	0.057	0.039	<0.01	1.0	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.068	0.095	0.009	0.045	0.005	0.007
Hg_010	0.11	5.26	0.051	0.051	<0.01	0.9	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.084	0.072	0.010	0.043	0.007	0.006
Hg_011	0.08	5.72	0.067	0.046	<0.01	1.0	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.113	0.090	0.012	0.061	0.009	0.008
Hg_012	0.30	12.2	0.034	0.009	<0.01	0.2	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.060	0.029	0.010	0.034	0.006	0.006
Hg_013	<0.07	0.46	0.007	<0.009	<0.01	<0.2	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.090	0.010	<0.003	0.007	<0.005	<0.005
Hg_014	0.08	5.28	0.046	0.036	<0.01	1.0	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.042	0.056	0.007	0.035	0.008	0.005
Hg_015	0.08	5.22	0.063	0.036	<0.01	1.0	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.073	0.064	0.010	0.042	<0.005	0.008
Hg_016	0.08	5.35	0.063	0.035	<0.01	1.0	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.057	0.071	0.011	0.048	0.006	0.008
Hg_017	0.08	5.44	0.061	0.036	<0.01	1.0	<0.04	0.006	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.058	0.060	0.011	0.033	0.008	0.009
Hg_018	0.09	5.81	0.045	0.039	<0.01	1.0	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.041	0.037	0.006	0.038	0.006	0.008
Hg_019	0.14	3.01	0.083	<0.009	<0.01	0.8	<0.04	0.090	<0.08	0.49	<0.04	0.076	0.156	0.011	0.040	0.006	0.010
Hg_020	0.10	0.98	0.029	0.009	<0.01	0.4	<0.04	0.012	<0.08	0.06	0.04	0.033	0.046	0.005	0.019	<0.005	<0.005
Hg_021	0.66	1.57	0.044	0.029	<0.01	7.3	<0.04	0.011	<0.08	1.50	<0.04	0.096	0.033	0.006	0.031	<0.005	<0.005
Hg_022	0.09	3.27	0.044	0.043	<0.01	0.3	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.077	0.133	0.013	0.054	0.012	0.008
Hg_023	<0.07	7.75	0.070	0.039	<0.01	0.2	<0.04	0.007	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.222	0.222	0.023	0.108	0.018	0.016
Hg_024	0.17	3.10	0.098	0.016	<0.01	<0.2	<0.04	0.032	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.724	0.210	0.028	0.109	0.014	0.014
Hg_025	0.15	3.41	0.088	0.016	<0.01	<0.2	<0.04	0.016	<0.08	<0.04	< 0.04	0.304	0.225	0.024	0.085	0.017	0.011
Hg_026	2.11		0.042	0.080	0.01	0.3	<0.04	<0.005	<0.08	<0.04	<0.04	0.206	0.149	0.016	0.060	0.010	0.008

Sample														
Code	Dy	Ho	Er	Tm	Yb	Lu	Hf	Та	W	TI	Pb	Bi	Th	U
	µg l ⁻¹	µg l⁻¹	µg l⁻¹	µg l⁻¹	µg l⁻¹	µg l ⁻¹	µg l ⁻¹	µg l⁻¹	μg l ⁻¹	µg l ⁻¹	μg l ⁻¹	µg l⁻¹	µg l-1	µg l-1
Hg_001	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.004	0.003	0.006	0.006	0.06	0.02	0.02	0.08	0.03	0.009
Hg_002	0.007	<0.003	0.004	<0.003	0.005	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	0.06	<0.08	<0.03	0.053
Hg_003	0.003	<0.003	0.003	<0.003	0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	<0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.054
Hg_004	<0.003	<0.003	<0.003	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	<0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.063
Hg_005	0.005	<0.003	0.004	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	<0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.056
Hg_006	0.003	<0.003	<0.003	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	<0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.058
Hg_007	0.003	<0.003	<0.003	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.034
Hg_008	0.003	<0.003	0.003	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.030
Hg_009	0.005	<0.003	0.004	<0.003	0.005	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	<0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.184
Hg_010	0.006	<0.003	0.005	<0.003	0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	<0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.198
Hg_011	0.006	<0.003	0.005	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	0.03	<0.08	<0.03	0.178
Hg_012	0.005	<0.003	0.007	<0.003	0.006	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	0.02	<0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.196
Hg_013	0.004	<0.003	0.003	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	0.10	<0.08	<0.03	0.017
Hg_014	<0.003	<0.003	<0.003	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	0.14	<0.02	0.21	<0.08	<0.03	0.029
Hg_015	0.004	<0.003	0.004	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	0.02	<0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.191
Hg_016	0.005	<0.003	0.004	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	<0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.185
Hg_017	0.007	<0.003	0.005	<0.003	0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	<0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.187
Hg_018	0.006	<0.003	0.004	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.197
Hg_019	0.004	<0.003	0.005	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	<0.02	<0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.205
Hg_020	0.007	<0.003	0.006	<0.003	0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	0.16	<0.02	0.09	<0.08	<0.03	0.123
Hg_021	<0.003	<0.003	<0.003	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	0.55	<0.02	0.04	<0.08	<0.03	0.101
Hg_022	0.003	<0.003	<0.003	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	0.41	0.02	0.04	<0.08	<0.03	2.17
Hg_023	0.005	<0.003	0.004	<0.003	<0.004	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	0.03	<0.02	<0.08	<0.03	0.090
Hg_024	0.010	<0.003	0.006	<0.003	0.006	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	0.05	0.05	<0.08	<0.03	0.019
Hg_025	0.007	<0.003	0.008	<0.003	0.006	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	0.02	0.05	<0.08	<0.03	<0.009
Hg_026	0.008	<0.003	0.007	<0.003	0.006	<0.003	<0.006	<0.006	<0.06	0.02	0.03	<0.08	<0.03	0.023

Sample Code	Hg mg kg ⁻¹	Li mg kg ⁻¹	Be mg kg ⁻¹	Na mg kg ⁻¹	Mg mg kg ⁻¹	Al mg kg ⁻¹	P mg kg ⁻¹	K mg kg ⁻¹	Ca mg kg ⁻¹	Ti mg kg⁻¹	V mg kg ⁻¹	Cr mg kg ⁻¹	Mn mg kg⁻¹	Fe mg kg ⁻¹	Co mg kg ⁻¹	Ni mg kg⁻¹
Detection limit	0.02	0.3	0.002	17	27	78	0.4	50	596	6	0.3	0.6	3	80	0.05	0.3
Hg_001	0.09	11.9	2.28	4484	13218	57909	502	11929	11443	3768	178	1365	1685	77039	72.6	196
Hg_002	0.11	16.5	1.93	4309	10822	83643	530	12889	8824	4919	173	747	2145	77206	78.2	216
Hg_003	0.08	15.8	2.45	4287	10874	79255	522	12545	8953	4503	193	945	1930	85492	75.1	204
Hg_004	0.26	13.0	2.07	7350	13458	84549	611	13766	15352	5108	191	657	1723	79573	62.1	146
Hg_004 Duplicate	0.29	14.8	2.21	7209	14386	83436	552	12943	15754	5092	197	808	1809	81083	63.4	151
Hg_005	0.09	12.2	2.38	3870	13186	50140	483	10563	10687	2803	197	1710	2321	89425	71.0	203
Hg_006	0.11	14.0	1.83	3078	12429	57665	496	8991	8679	3585	202	1831	3188	90253	81.7	237
Hg_007	0.11	12.0	2.46	2665	10877	52749	442	10153	7621	2851	204	1940	3098	95659	85.5	230
Hg_008	0.25	12.4	1.65	7099	14018	68699	716	11296	13110	4058	194	1272	2080	86965	65.8	209
Hg_009	1.06	16.7	1.94	5725	17529	77752	648	11805	12680	5176	170	781	1762	75395	67.3	250
Hg_010	0.32	12.6	2.27	6754	14892	66102	673	11242	12624	4338	161	798	1534	71221	55.5	202
Hg_011	0.14	13.9	2.36	6887	19367	70131	728	11923	13236	4185	177	1196	1335	79374	68.8	300
Hg_011 Duplicate	0.20	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Hg_012	0.38	16.5	2.94	4347	8121	89331	765	13773	6058	6677	203	482	1066	78243	60.7	162
Hg_012 Duplicate	n.a.	21.1	2.05	4419	8394	92397	768	14099	6347	7102	214	505	1125	81967	62.8	165
Hg_014	0.52	16.2	1.85	7387	21617	72108	575	12600	14160	4665	154	865	1461	65675	60.8	272
Hg_015	1.72	11.5	1.12	9079	19980	62434	545	13068	16431	3978	150	681	1020	59177	49.9	187
Hg_016	0.72	11.6	1.54	9133	15801	61140	572	11808	16709	4268	160	588	1042	59999	44.7	151
Hg_017	1.01	20.0	2.13	3813	16674	89881	636	11703	9153	5580	172	1007	3213	82270	78.4	345
Hg_018	0.08	19.1	1.92	3433	19168	92550	690	11077	9594	5867	168	942	2513	81038	74.2	358
Hg_022	0.17	11.7	1.80	10509	8992	58586	373	16760	5151	2958	101	295	925	43205	43.9	98.7
Hg_023	0.17	15.1	2.53	6887	8359	72194	499	13746	3859	3742	124	316	1066	53355	45.4	113
Hg_023 Duplicate	0.19	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Hg_025	1.84	10.8	1.98	8853	3952	64050	497	12121	5260	3687	127	275	445	48751	27.3	64.2
Hg_025 Duplicate	n.a.	11.9	2.27	9170	4102	66397	508	12156	5004	3699	128	286	456	49016	27.5	66.0

Supplementary Table A4.6.: General chemistry of sediment samples from ASGM sites (Rosterman and Malinya sites)

Hg_026	0.38	11.6	2.12	13949	7833	62471	410	18952	7504	2920	100	301	617	40282	33.1	73.8
Sample Code	Cu ma ka ⁻¹	Zn ma ka ⁻¹	Ga ma ka ⁻¹	As ma ka ⁻¹	Rb ma ka ⁻¹	Sr ma ka ⁻¹	Y ma ka ⁻¹	Mo ma ka ⁻¹	Cd	Sb	Cs ma ka ⁻¹	Ba ma ka ⁻¹	La ma ka ⁻¹	Ce ma ka ⁻¹	Pr ma ka ⁻¹	Nd ma ka ⁻¹
Detection limit	0.2	0.9	0.03	0.07	0.2	0.5	0.03	0.2	0.007	0.02	0.02	0.8	0.05	0.09	0.02	0.05
Hg_001	55.0	80.6	14.5	10.7	52.6	130	15.4	2.7	0.067	0.60	1.89	478	24.5	83.9	5.26	20.4
Hg_002	77.5	99.0	19.0	13.6	67.5	108	23.3	3.1	0.116	0.50	2.65	532	39.9	134	8.32	32.0
Hg_003	71.9	87.6	18.5	18.1	65.4	109	22.5	3.6	0.095	0.55	2.53	570	36.8	118	7.79	31.1
Hg_004	90.8	98.9	17.8	16.1	65.6	165	21.9	2.9	0.077	0.57	2.64	600	34.3	87.9	7.61	29.8
Hg_004 Duplicate	88.1	94.8	18.6	12.9	61.7	163	21.0	2.4	0.097	0.55	2.51	579	33.4	88.4	7.37	29.3
Hg_005	63.5	86.4	12.3	17.2	47.5	120	13.9	3.4	0.094	0.69	1.75	451	21.2	98.4	4.56	17.5
Hg_006	76.4	84.7	13.9	12.0	47.2	91.5	15.8	4.0	0.096	0.42	2.03	499	25.2	112	5.27	20.4
Hg_007	63.8	80.6	14.4	7.94	47.2	88.6	13.9	3.7	0.109	0.39	1.86	543	22.3	91.5	4.77	18.7
Hg_008	76.8	92.4	17.0	51.2	57.1	174	18.1	2.8	0.074	1.05	2.30	498	29.9	96.4	6.43	25.3
Hg_009	94.6	109	16.8	33.0	63.5	149	21.8	2.2	0.112	1.16	2.74	512	34.6	91.3	7.42	29.1
Hg_010	92.0	104	14.7	52.1	54.2	168	17.5	3.0	0.115	3.29	2.32	490	28.7	78.2	6.47	25.5
Hg_011	56.9	84.2	15.8	21.5	58.8	170	19.3	1.9	0.085	4.76	2.67	497	31.4	118	6.61	26.3
Hg_011 Duplicate	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Hg_012	72.9	117	21.2	10.4	79.3	104	24.2	2.7	0.165	0.84	2.83	512	44.9	137	9.06	34.5
Hg_012 Duplicate	75.8	121	20.6	11.6	82.8	105	25.1	2.9	0.126	0.83	2.81	528	46.9	143	9.55	35.9
Hg_014	62.6	87.4	16.6	40.0	59.3	180	19.0	1.8	0.097	5.07	2.73	520	31.2	82.9	6.74	26.0
Hg_015	47.8	73.6	13.8	77.4	54.4	208	16.3	1.3	0.077	0.56	2.09	539	27.9	72.9	6.25	24.7
Hg_016	69.2	71.7	13.0	69.4	49.8	194	16.6	1.4	0.078	0.84	1.98	506	27.1	73.2	5.96	23.6
Hg_017	69.1	94.2	20.7	16.0	62.9	117	29.6	2.9	0.087	0.45	3.38	497	48.2	135	10.1	39.2
Hg_018	75.9	102	20.2	8.18	66.7	106	27.5	2.8	0.120	0.48	3.65	498	44.5	100	9.21	35.7
Hg_022	31.9	87.3	13.2	66.9	62.3	145	14.3	2.3	0.104	0.78	1.65	627	26.0	60.1	5.66	21.9
Hg_023	43.3	102	17.0	52.2	64.1	106	19.5	2.1	0.130	0.79	1.89	560	37.2	86.9	7.80	29.9
Hg_023 Duplicate	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Hg_025	68.1	88.9	14.5	345	55.9	133	20.4	4.2	0.322	2.08	1.58	435	39.9	93.1	8.19	30.9
Hg_025 Duplicate	60.1	93.5	15.3	349	57.1	135	21.0	3.8	0.307	2.36	1.57	444	40.5	95.1	8.40	31.3
Hg_026	29.9	67.3	12.7	28.5	75.4	196	12.7	1.6	0.040	0.56	1.80	668	24.8	59.7	5.33	19.8

Sample Code	Sm	Eu	Gd	Tb	Dy	Но	Tm	Yb	Lu	TI	Pb	Th	U
	mg kg⁻¹												
Detection limit	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.006	0.06	0.02	0.02
Hg_001	3.85	0.84	3.33	0.48	2.80	0.57	0.24	1.67	0.26	0.374	15.9	5.24	1.57
Hg_002	5.69	1.16	4.83	0.71	4.19	0.84	0.34	2.36	0.34	0.446	21.8	7.78	2.08
Hg_003	5.69	1.19	4.78	0.70	4.07	0.82	0.35	2.41	0.34	0.442	22.1	7.16	1.80
Hg_004	5.49	1.20	4.58	0.67	3.92	0.79	0.33	2.22	0.31	0.391	16.4	7.35	1.78
Hg_004 Duplicate	5.50	1.23	4.47	0.64	3.75	0.78	0.32	2.19	0.31	0.401	15.5	6.39	1.75
Hg_005	3.39	0.74	2.91	0.44	2.62	0.52	0.21	1.50	0.22	0.324	20.2	4.29	1.47
Hg_006	3.87	0.83	3.30	0.49	2.92	0.57	0.24	1.71	0.24	0.381	22.4	5.28	1.73
Hg_007	3.60	0.75	2.97	0.44	2.59	0.53	0.23	1.62	0.21	0.383	17.7	4.65	1.56
Hg_008	4.59	1.01	3.90	0.58	3.37	0.66	0.29	1.94	0.28	0.346	31.4	5.83	1.90
Hg_009	5.63	1.16	4.62	0.66	3.89	0.76	0.32	2.28	0.30	0.407	43.4	6.48	1.79
Hg_010	4.80	1.03	3.92	0.57	3.23	0.64	0.26	1.86	0.26	0.365	41.5	43.9	3.99
Hg_011	4.99	1.07	4.06	0.63	3.45	0.71	0.31	2.02	0.29	0.400	24.0	5.86	1.61
Hg_011 Duplicate	n.a.												
Hg_012	6.12	1.21	5.09	0.74	4.36	0.91	0.39	2.60	0.40	0.488	29.5	9.90	2.69
Hg_012 Duplicate	6.49	1.24	5.18	0.75	4.45	0.90	0.39	2.72	0.39	0.486	30.4	10.6	2.78
Hg_014	5.03	1.10	4.21	0.57	3.39	0.67	0.28	1.97	0.28	0.369	21.2	5.86	1.53
Hg_015	4.58	1.05	3.75	0.53	3.01	0.57	0.25	1.64	0.23	0.295	24.8	4.72	1.25
Hg_016	4.47	0.99	3.59	0.52	2.89	0.60	0.24	1.66	0.23	0.280	33.7	4.69	1.26
Hg_017	7.32	1.48	6.14	0.90	5.25	1.05	0.43	2.96	0.42	0.517	18.7	8.38	2.29
Hg_018	6.67	1.41	5.68	0.81	4.84	0.98	0.41	2.83	0.42	0.549	16.9	8.44	2.35
Hg_022	3.91	0.86	3.05	0.44	2.56	0.54	0.22	1.56	0.22	0.432	18.5	6.39	1.90
Hg_023	5.59	1.07	4.22	0.59	3.53	0.70	0.30	1.96	0.28	0.467	31.1	7.86	2.24
Hg_023 Duplicate	n.a.												
Hg_025	5.46	1.03	4.22	0.62	3.63	0.74	0.30	2.04	0.28	0.421	38.2	7.35	2.09
Hg_025 Duplicate	5.52	1.09	4.42	0.63	3.64	0.74	0.31	2.19	0.30	0.440	40.4	7.48	2.19
Hg_026	3.49	0.80	2.75	0.39	2.30	0.47	0.20	1.38	0.20	0.439	18.3	7.07	1.87

Duplicate %					it camptool										
differences	Hg	Li	Ве	Na	Mg	Al	Р	К	Са	Ti	V	Cr	Mn	Fe	Со
Hg_004	12%	12%	7%	2%	6%	1%	11%	6%	3%	0%	3%	19%	5%	2%	2%
Hg_011	30%	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Hg_012	n.a.	12%	7%	2%	6%	1%	11%	6%	3%	0%	3%	19%	5%	2%	2%
Hg_023	13%	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Hg_025	n.a.	9%	13%	3%	4%	4%	2%	0%	5%	0%	1%	4%	2%	1%	1%
Duplicate % differences	Ni	Cu	Zn	Ga	As	Rb	Sr	Y	Mo	Cd	Sb	Cs	Ва	La	Ce
Hg_004	4%	3%	4%	4%	25%	6%	1%	5%	21%	21%	4%	5%	4%	3%	1%
Hg_011	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Hg_012	4%	3%	4%	4%	25%	6%	1%	5%	21%	21%	4%	5%	4%	3%	1%
Hg_023	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Hg_025	3%	13%	5%	5%	1%	2%	1%	3%	11%	5%	12%	1%	2%	1%	2%
Duplicate %															
differences	Pr	Nd	Sm	Eu	Gd	Tb	Dy	Ho	Tm	Yb	Lu	ΤΙ	Pb	Th	U
Hg_004	3%	2%	0%	2%	2%	5%	5%	1%	3%	1%	0%	2%	6%	15%	2%
Hg_011	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Hg_012	3%	2%	0%	2%	2%	5%	5%	1%	3%	1%	0%	2%	6%	15%	2%
Hg_023	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Hg_025	3%	1%	1%	6%	5%	2%	0%	0%	3%	7%	7%	4%	5%	2%	5%

Supplementary Table A4.7.: % difference of analytes from duplicate sediment samples.

		()							()) -			=//			
	Li	Be	Na	Mg	AI	Р	К	Ca	Ti	V	Cr	Mn	Fe	Со	Ni
BCR-2 Recovery (%) BCR-2 Relative	82%	n.a.	99%	93%	92%	97%	95%	96%	99%	102%	89%	98%	98%	101%	n.a.
standard deviation (%) LKSD-1	9%	n.a.	5%	6%	5%	7%	1%	2%	1%	2%	4%	2%	2%	2%	n.a.
Recovery (%)	97%	n.a.	109%	102%	96%	76%	100%	100%	81%	98%	87%	85%	96%	94%	100%
Recovery (%) MESS-4	99%	n.a.	107%	100%	97%	118%	102%	104%	88%	97%	89%	90%	100%	103%	110%
Recovery (%)	89%	111%	101%	92%	92%	97%	101%	102%	79%	99%	99%	97%	100%	101%	96%

Supplementary Table A4.8.: Recovery (%) and Standard deviation (%) of analytes in certified reference materials (BCR-2 (n=3), LKSD-1 (n=1), LKSD-3 (n=1), and MESS-4 (n=	1))
--	-----

	Cu	Zn	Ga	As	Rb	Sr	Y	Мо	Cd	Sb	Cs	Ва	La	Ce	Pr
BCR-2 Recovery (%) BCR-2 Relative	87%	108%	84%	n.a.	95%	85%	92%	103%	n.a.	n.a.	103%	93%	97%	96%	95%
deviation (%) LKSD-1	1%	1%	6%	n.a.	2%	5%	3%	3%	n.a.	n.a.	3%	4%	4%	5%	5%
Recovery (%) LKSD-3	93%	104%	n.a.	82%	96%	98%	100%	103%	n.a.	99%	45%	88%	85%	93%	n.a.
Recovery (%) MESS-4	93%	97%	n.a.	83%	96%	93%	88%	n.a.	n.a.	89%	96%	91%	88%	95%	n.a.
Recovery (%)	99%	104%	98%	91%	n.a.	89%	n.a.	n.a.	103%	103%	78%	96%	89%	84%	n.a.

	Nd	Sm	Eu	Gd	Tb	Dy	Ho	Tm	Yb	Lu	TI	Pb	Th	U
BCR-2 Recovery														
(%)	101%	100%	96%	98%	98%	92%	94%	92%	95%	97%	n.a.	88%	88%	94%
BCR-2 Relative														
standard														
deviation (%)	4%	6%	6%	6%	5%	6%	2%	2%	3%	5%	n.a.	3%	2%	3%
LKSD-1														
Recovery (%)	105%	98%	101%	n.a.	86%	89%	n.a.	n.a.	92%	64%	n.a.	109%	84%	88%
LKSD-3														
Recovery (%)	98%	99%	89%	n.a.	80%	94%	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	89%	n.a.	102%	88%	88%
MESS-4														
Recovery (%)	n.a.	97%	81%	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	82%	n.a.	96%	100%	80%	81%